W Durham
University

AR

Durham E-Theses

The history of John Bowes & Partners up to 1914

Mountford, C. E.

How to cite:

Mountford, C. E. (1967) The history of John Bowes € Partners up to 1914, Durham theses, Durham
University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/9966/

Use policy

The full-text may be used and/or reproduced, and given to third parties in any format or medium, without prior permission or
charge, for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes provided that:

e a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
e a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
e the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE
e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107
http://etheses.dur.ac.uk


http://www.dur.ac.uk
http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/9966/
 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/9966/ 
http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/policies/
http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

The history of John Bowes & Partners

up to 1914

C. E. Mountford, B. A.

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author.
No quotation from it should be published without
his prior written consent and information derived

from it should be acknowledged.



Introduct ign
Chapter 1
Chapter 2
Chapter 3
Chapter 4
Chapter 5
Conclusion
Appendix A
Appendix B
Appendix C
Appendix D
Appendix E

Appendix F

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The early years : 1838 - 1845

The years of rapid expansion : 1846 = 1855
The years of consolidation : 1856 - 1865
The vears of slower expansion : 1866 - 1885

The years of re-organisation : 1886 - 1914

Coal output figures of John Bowes & Partners,
1871 - 1914

Comparison between the coal output figures of
the Partners and other firms in the Durhsm
coalfield with an annual output over 500,000
tons, 1871-191)

The coal output of John Bowes & Partners as
a percentage of the total output of the
Northumberland and Durham coalfield, 1871-
1914

Average net selling price of all types of
Durham coal, as given on the Accountants!
Certificates of the Durham Coal Owners
Association and the Durham Miners Association,
compared with the coal output figures of John
Bowes & Partners, 1871 - 1914

Coke output figures of John Bowes & Partners,
1372 - 1914

Comparison between the cocke output figures of
the Fartners and other firms in the Durham
coalfield with an annual output over 100,000
tons, 1872 - 1914

95
119

164

xi

xxi
xxiv
xxviil

xxxiv



Apperdix @G Mer and boys employed in County Durham
by John Bowes & Partners, 1884 - 1914

(i) underground
(ii) at the surface of collieries,
coke ovens, brickworks and

railways

(iii) aggregate figures

Bibliography

x1liv

1i

lvii



—i-

INTRODUCTION.




-ij=-

INTRODUCTION,

The North-Eastern coal-field was for many hundreds of years
the major coal=-producing area of Britain. Compared with other
parts of the country where coal was worked, it had three great
advantages = that the coal outcropped and was thus easily won,
that the rivers in the valleys where the outcrops were mostly to
be found were navigable, and that the coal could easily be trans-
ported to London, by far Britain's largest market. In the days
when the only means of moving large quantities of goods was by
water, especially by sea,. the coal-owners of Northumberland and
Durham established a dominance of the British coal industry which
was never surpassed and only slowly eroded by other areas.

Although archacological evidence has shown that the Romans
used coal in County Durham (though only on a'very small scale),
and although there are a few references to the use of coal in the
Boldon Book of 1086, the coal outcrops would not seem to have been
worked to any great extent until the thirteenth century, when the
monasteries, especially the Priory of Tynemouth, developed a
considerable trade, During this per.iod and for many years after-~
wards coal was obtained by the "bell-pit" method - shallow pits
in the ground excavated in the shape of a2 bell and anything up to
thirty feet deep. When the excavation had attained such a size
that the sides threatened to collapse it was abandoned and a new

one begun. Most of the bell pits were situated in the Tyne valley,



-iii-

where much of the evidence has heen destroyed by later develop-
ment, though recent aerial photography has provided conclusive
evidence of bell pit workings on the Town Moor at Newcastle.

The demand for coal in the Tyne and Wear valleys was very
much geared to the requirements of the Iondon market. As
these increased the coal-owners were compelled to seek coal
further inland, and eventually to sink shafts to obtain it.

These deeper workings created new problems, not the least of which
was drainage. It would seem that the industry reached a critical
state by the early 1700's, and was only saved from disaster by

the invention of Newcomen's pumping engine. The installation

of the first of these in the North-Bast cannot be dated with
certainty, but it seems likely to have been in 1715 at Tanfield
Lea, ' This provides a striking example of the extent to which the
industry had spread from thé rivers by that time, as this village
liés about eight miles south-west of Gateshead. Other Newcomen
engineg were built in the North, and these enabled large areas
which had previously been considered umworkable to be brought into
production.

One problem which the coal-owners of the eighteenth century
had to face was that of trangport. There was little point in
sinking a pit eight.miles from the Tyne if there were great diffic-
ulties in transporting its coal to the river. Here the geography
of County Durham proved an advantage. The highest area of the

county lies in the west, and the land slopes towards both the sea
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in the east and the Tyne valley in the north. This meant that

to reach the river loads of coal would travel downhill, and so
horse and eart could be employed. The cart was allowed to travel
by gravity where possible, and the horse was used to haul it back
from the river to the pit. From this it was a short step to the
construction of wooden waggomvays, the first of which was the
famous Tanfield waggonway, built in 1727 from the Tanfield area to
the Tyne. Thus waggonways, with iron rails after 1770, were well
established in Durhem long before Brindley designed and built the
Duke of Bridgewater's Canal in 1769, Indeed, the dévelopment of
canals scarcely affected the North-East. The severe grades of
West Durham would have demanded long flights of locks, causing
delays; while. 2 comparison of the cost of building a canal and a
waggonway could have left the coal-owners with only one choice.

By 1800 the transport pattern of Durham was firmly established;

a congiderable net-work of waggonways brought coal down to be trans-
shipped at "staithes™ on the river banks, where small sailing ships,
known as "keels", holding about 21 tons, took the coal downstream
to the colliers moored at Newcastle or Sunderland.

Most of the coal-owners possessed only one pit, very often
leased from the Church; but in 1726 a group of the most powerful
coal-owners in North-Bast England formed themselves into what
became known as "The Grand Alliance", In view of its importance,
both in relation to the industry in general and the early history

of John Bowes & Partners, this deserves more detailed study. The
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agreement was signed on 27th June 1726 between Sidney Wortley,
Edward Wortley and Thomas Ord (all of Newcastle) for the first
part, Sir Henry Liddell and George Liddell (of Ravensworth, near
Gateshead) for the second part, George Bowes (of Gibside, near
Gateshead) for the third part and William Cotesworth (of Newcastle)
for the fourth part. The agreement was dated to run for 99 years
from 11th November 1726, but by this date William Cotesworth had
died, so his share was divided among the others.
It has been thought in the past that the agreement arcse out
of difficulties in obtaining wayleaves (1) for waggonways to the
Tyne (2), but this would seem unlikely. A more authoritative
view was put forward by Sweezy in 1938:
",.e.sThe intent (of the agreement) is clear. The
various signatory parties were Joining hands to prevent
the opening of new collieries by buying up lands,
royalties and wayleaves. Any coal property which
they could not directly get hold of they proposed to
block off from an outlet to the river." (3)

Even more important, Sweezy quotes evidence to show that the

"Allies™ from the first probably intended to regulate both prices

(1) If he wished to build a waggomway, a coal owner came to an
agreement with the owner of the land over which it was to pass

under which the former rented the land and also agreed to a charge

on the amount of coal or other goods which passed over the land
in question. This was known as a "“wayleave" agreement.

(2) ecf. ILEE, C.E. "The World's Oldest Railway." Newcomen Society

Transactions, XXV (1946).

(3) SWEEZY, P.M. Monopoly and Competition in the English Coal Trade.

Harvard: Harvard University Press, 1938, p.24.
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and output. All of the important sea-sale collieries, whether
owned by one of the "Grand Allies" or not, were allocated an out-
put guota, and such was the "Allies" dominance of the industry
that the owners of other collieries were compelled to agree or
face ruthless undercutting of prices, which was employed at least
once with complete success (1). There is no evidence to show
whether the "Allies" were able to continue this regulation after
the 1730's, but it was the fore-runner of the famous agreement
known as "The Limitation of the Vend", signed in 1771, which
continued with a2 few interruptions until 1845. The aim of the
Limitation was quite simply to fix a price which would enable
North Bastern coal to be carried to london and sold at a price

Jjust under that for which coal from other areas could be obtained
there, keeping that price as high as possible. This control of
the price of coal depended on the adhesion to the agreement by all
the major coal-owners, the acceptance of the output quote allocated
to them by the Committee under which the agreement was administered _
(strict output control being an essential concomitant of price
control) and also the complete control of the london market. This
last seemed assured for many years, and in the short periods after
1771 when free and open competition was practised the prices fell
to such a low level that the owners were convinced that the

"Limitation" should be maintained. Throughout this period the

(1) SWEEZY, op.cit. pp. 25 = 2%
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"Grand Allies" and their descendants maintained their overwhelming
superiority in the industry, dominating to such a degree that hag
perhaps never been known since.

It has been estimated that in 1800 the coal output of the
United Kingdom was 11,000,000 tons (1), and easily the largest
share of this was held by the Northumb.erland & Durham coal-field.
The vast majority of this output was sold for domestic purposes (2).
The largest industrial consumer was the iron industry, which took
between 10 and 15 per cent; small quantities would be taken by
such people as brick-mekers, brewers, distillers, copper, tin and
lead smelters and (in the North East) the salt industry; only 2
per cent was sent abroad (3).

By 1816 output is estimated to have risen to 15,900,000 tons,
and it was at this point that the industry once again faced a
crisis. Collieries which had proved economic to work during the
Napoleonic War faced closure through a fall in prices, and coupled
to this was a sharp increase in transport costs due to the high

price of horse fodder. This led to a closer look at Trevithick's

(1) DEANE, P. & COILE, W.A. British Economic Growth, 1688-1959,
Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1962, p.215.

(2) It should be remembered that much of the coal raised in the North-

Bast then would not now be considered household coal; a large
proportion of it would have been first-class coking coal.

(3) DEANE & COLE, op.cit., p.218.



-viii-

steam locomotive, hitherto regarded as a toy, and there followed
the experiments of men like William Hedley, Willism Chapman and
above all George Stephenson, all of them financed by powerful
coal~owners, Stephenson at Killingworth Colliery by none other
than the "Grand Allies". Stephenson's success led directly to
the decision to use locomotives on the Stockton & Darlington
Railway, and so the beginning of the Railway Age.

The development of railways was of paramount importance
to the coal industry. The spread of the railway net-work
opened up a vast potential merket for coal., Hitherto land
commnications between North-BEast England and the rest of the
country had been poor. As we have seen, the Canal Age had had
no effect in the North-East; the coal-owners concentrated more
on the extension of waggonways, and such refinements as the
self-acting (éravity—worked) incline and the incline worked by
a stationary engine had been developed. But these did not take
the coal outside the county; for this the owners were compelled
to rely on sea~going colliers - a trade which could suffer badly
from adverse weather conditions. Despite being the home of
railways, the North-Bast was not linked to London until 184, and
even then the railway did not have the capacity to carry the
potentially large volume of traffic; in 1845 T.J. Taylor, a
prominent figure in the coal trade, estimated that only 8,377

tons of coal were taken to London by rail, much less than might
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have been expected (1) Nevertheless, the potential was there;
all that was needed was an increase in carrying capacity.

Secondly, the railways created a considerable demand for fuel
for locomotives. At fJ".rst this was coal; but almost immediately
difficulties began to arise. Perhaps the most important of these
was that Parliament began to take a serious view of the, smount of
smoke and cinders emitted from the Stockton & Darlington engines,
to the terror of cattle and people living near the line. Thus
when the Liverpool & Manchester Railway Bill came before FParliament
a clause was inserted requiring the locomotives to consume their
own smoke, and later Acts were specific - coke had to be used.
Furthermore, it was soon discovered that the use of coke resulted
in greater fuel economy. One of the great problems of early
locomotives was a deficiency in steam raising power, and one of the
attempts to remedy this was to increase the intensity of heat in
the fire. In the third edition of his "Treatise on Railroads"
Nicholas Wood claimed that only 11.7 1lbs of coke were needed to
convert one cubic foot of water into steam, compared with 18.34 lbs
of coal, not only producing a hotter fire, but also a saw.riﬁg in

fuel (2).

(1) TAYIOR, T.J. Observations addressed to the Coal Owners of North-
umberland and Durham on the Coal Trade of Those Counties : More
Especially with Regard to the Cause of, and Remedy for, Its Present
Depressed Condition. Newcastle: Taylor, 1846.

(2) WoOD, N. Treatise on Railrosds (3rd ed.) london: Lomgman, Orme,
Brown Green & ILongmans, 1838,
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All this provided a great stimulus to the North-East coal-
field. Little was known then of coal technology, but it had long
been known that the Durham coal seams produced an excellent
bituminous coal which mede an equally first-class coke. Moreover,
attempts made on other coal-fields to manufacture coke in beehive
ovens similar to those used in Northumberland & Durham were not
very successful for reasons that were not then appreciated. Thus
the North-East owners found themselves virtually unchallenged in a
rapidly expanding market for coke and coking coal, and they were not
slow to take advantage.

But the greatest of all the effects of the growth of railways
was the tremendous stimulus given to the iron industry. For many
years iron had been manufactured in the Tyne valley from local
supplies of iron ore and latterly locally-manufactured coke. But
now there came a great demand for iron to build locomotives, bridges,
rails and many other things, and the Durham iron industry began to
expand rapidly. Supplies of iron ore were sought further inland;
the famous works at Consett were established in 1840, followed by the
erection of blast furnaces at Stanhope in 1845 and Tow Law in 1846,
by which time production had also begun at the mouth of the River
Tees.

Eere again the effect of this expansion on the coal industry
was soon evident. We have already seen that Durham produced
excellent bituminous coal, and attempts to meke even a fair quality

coke, to say nothing of a good metellurgical coke, had met with
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failure elsewhere. QOther things too were in the North-East
coal owners' favour. The best coking coal was found in West
Durham, and here the seams were thickest and nearest to the
surface. Coal, therefore, was cheap; as late as 1860 the
Consett Iron Works was obtaining local coal for between 2/- and
2/6a per ton (1). Moreover, the success of the Stockton &
Darlington Railway encouraged other railway promotors, while the
larger coal owners built their own private railways to convey
the coal to the rivers for shipment, though the full development
of the railway system in both sectors was not achieved until after
the middle of the century.

Thus the development of railways in Britain created great
opportunities for North-East coal owners; but before considering
the impact of the growth of railways, a closer look must be taken
at the structure and distribution of the industry. Perhaps because
its beginnings lay so far back in the past compared with other coal-
fields, its structure differs considerably from other coal-fields.
In South Wales, for example, the entrepreneurs were usually local
businessmen in other trades who, wishing to enter the coal trade,
leased land from a local land-owner, In Durham, on the other hand,
it was much more common for the land-owner to work the coal under

his land himself, usually supervising operations through an agent.

(1) FORDYCE, W. BHistory of Coal & Iron. London: Sampson Low, Son
& Co. 1860, p.149,.
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This was notably so in the traditional areas of mining. In the
Tyne valley the "Grand Allies" still reigned supreme, while the
Wear valley was dominated by the Lambton family and the Marquis
of Londonderry, though the latter had become so dissatisfied with
the chronic shipping congestion at Sunderland that in 1828 he had
begun to construct a new port for his coal at Seaham, In West
and South~West Durham the pattern was slightly different in that
the initiative usually came from the smaller land-owners; business-
men like the Pease family of Darlington were the exception to the
rule.
The sales structure was also different in Durham from elsewhere.

In other places the coal owner would more often than not sell his
coal direct to & customer. The position in the North-East was well
explained by lord Bute, who owned collieries in both Durham and
South Wales:

",v..s(In Durham) there is one ingredient..... that I

look upon as a sine qua non - that is, that we carry

on business through a Fitter, that is to say, a Shipping.

Merchant upon a del credere commission -~ which is, the

Owners pay & higher rate of Commission and have no risk

of bad debts." (1)
These fitters often had other interests besidés selling coal, and
many of them did not deal exclusively with only one firm; on the
other hand, an individual firm usually dealt with only one fitter.

At this period, however, the fitters seem to have handled only

(1) National Library of. Wales, Bute MSS, Box 70, Letter Book Vol. VII;
letter from Lord Bute to Capt. Steel, 9th January 1841,
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local business; in participating in the large london household
market the owners dealt with "coal factors". There were normally
Iondon men, dealing with coal on the London Coal Exchange.
Levy (1) claimed that they were independant buyers of coal, that
they were closely organised in such a way as to exert an important
influence on the market price and that they had the largest share
of the middlemen's profits. Sweezy dismisses thig view as un-
supported by evidence, and believed that they were agents working
on commission for the northern owners and the ship owners, handling
incoming cargoes to London and arranging sales to the first buyers (2).
The evidence in favour of this is more convincing., Certainly the
coal owners regarded the factors as their servants, not their masters.
Here too the owner would deal with only one factor, though a factor
would probably have dealings with a number of firms. Finally, it
will be remembered that the "Limitation of the Vend", with its
control of price and output, had been revived in 1771, and it was
maintained, with only a few lapses, for more than seventy years.

The distribution of the coal industry in County Durham in the
1830's was by no means uniform. Coal was being mined in three main

areas, all offering easy means of transport. The first of these

(1) LEVY, H. Monopoly and Competition : A Study in English Industrial
Organisation. London: Macmillan, 1911,

(2) SWEEZY, op.cit. p.6%
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was along the Tyne valley, beginning at Jarrow and continuing
upstream as far as Wylam. While there were collieries on the
river bank, a considerable quantity of the coal was mined much
further inland (e.g. the Pontop and Tanfield areas) and being
brought to the Tyne by waggonways. Similar developments had
taken place on the Northumberland side of the river. Along

the Wear valley the situation was similsr, and coal was being
mined upstream as far as Chester-le-Street to be shipped at
Sunderland. The third area was to be found near Bishop Auckland,
coal from here being shipped from the Tees via the Stockton &
Darlington Railway. This was the newest area of development,
greétly stimulated by the construction of the Railway; shipments
from the Tees had risen dramatically from only 19,000 tons in 1828
to 222,000 tons in 1834 (1), in which year the river was added to
the "Limitation". Thus there were large areas of unexploited coal
in West Durham, while most of Central and South Durham had not been
touched; indeed, the extent of the coal-field in the south had not
yet been determined. In addition, it had been believed for many
years that no coal lay under the magnesium limestone cover of East
Durham, but the perseverance of the Hetton Coal Company finally
destroyed this misconception by sinking an extremely valuable

colliery through the limestone at Hetton in 1822. Furthermore,

(1) Report of the Select Committee on the State of the Coal Trade,
together with the minutes of Evidence and Appendix, 1836, p.137.
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the winning of Monkwearmouth Colliery on the north bank of the
Wear at Sunderland in 1834, after eight years work and the
expenditure of a huge sum of money, also showed that there was
coal on the east coast, but aue to the fact that the outlay and
working costs in the west were so much lower, it was unlikely to
be worked extensively for many years,

By 1825, the year of the opening of the Stockton & Darlington
Railway, it is estimated that the total coal output of the United
Kingdom had risen to 21,900,000 tons (1). With the future of the
lJocomotive very much in the balance at this stage, it is perhaps
not surprising that this figure had only risen to 22,400,000 tons
by 1830, But after this date the spread of railways, with its
effect on the iron industry, soon began to make its mark. In the
iron industry "“rapid growth - involving at least a trebling of
output every two decades = was maintained from the early 1820's
until the early 1860's" (2), and this, coupled with the demand for
coke from the railways, led many to Selieve that investment in the
Great Northern Coal-field would bring large profits.

The first, and slower, phase of the boom may be said to have
occurred between 1825 and 1836. No figures are available for
1825, but the position had probably not greatly changed by 1829,

when more precise figures are available. When these are compared

(1) DEANE & OOLE, op.cit. p.215.

(2) 1ibid., p.224.
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with those for 1836, it will be seen that there was only a slight
increase in the number of collieries shipping coal on the Tyne,

though the river maintained its lead over all the other areas put
together. As one would have been led to expect from the export
figures quoted earlier, the big increase during this period was

among the collieries shipping on the Tees, a striking example of

the economic effect of the Stockton & Darlington Railway on the

area which it served. By contrast, there was no increase in the
number of collieries shipping on the Wear or on the mid-Northumbe rland
rivers of Hartley and Blyth:

Fig, 1 - Expansion of North~Bast coal-field, 1829-1836

Estimated number of collieries 1829 1836
Tyne ' (1) x5 (2)
Wear 18 (1) 18 (3)
Tees 6 (4) 20 (5)
Hartley and Blyth L (6) 4 (6)

TOTALS 69 87

(1) Testimony of J. Buddle, "Report from the Select Committee of the House
of Iords appointed to take into consideration the State of the
Coal Trade in the United Kingdom; with the Minutes of Evidence taken
before the Committee and an Appendix and Index, 1829", p.28.

(2) Testimony of J. Buddle, "Report of the Coal Trade, 1836", p.118.

(3) Testimony of H. Morton, "Report of the Coal Trade, 1836", p.77 - 78.

() BEstimate based on the quantity shipped by the Stockton & Darlington
Railway in 1829; quoted in SWEEZY, op.cit., p.110,.

(5) Testimony of T. Storey, "Report of the Coal Trade, 1836", p.104.

(6) SWEEZY, op.cit., p.110.
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The estimates of productive capacity made at the time show
considerable disagreement. Taylor estimated that the figure

for the whole of Northumberland and Durham in 1835 was 5,444,000
tons (1), but Buddle in the following year claimed that the total
for the Tyne and Wear alone was 8,100,000 tons (2). Even taking
into congideration the fact that the collieries were not working
to full capacity because of the "Limitation", if one accepts Deane
and Cole's estimate of 27,700,000 tons for the whole of the United
Kingdom in 1835 (3), Taylor's estimate would seem impossibly low.

In 1834 began the period of the first railway boom, when many of
the great main-line railways were authorised. This had an immediate
effect on the iron industry and thus also on the coal industry, as is at
once evident if the comparison above is continued only as far as 1843:

Fig., 2 - Expansion of North-Bast coal-field, 1836-1843

Bstimated number of collieries 1836 1843
Tyne 45 70 (&)
Wear 18 28 (4)
Tees 20 22 (&)
Hartley and Blyth 4 6 (5)

TOTALS 87 126

(1) TAYIOR, .T.J., op.cit., p.21.
(2) Testimony of J. Buddle, "Report of the Coal Trade, 1836", p.118.
(3) DEANE & OOIE, op.cit., p.215.

(h) List in Coal Trade Minute Book dated ljfh April 1843; quoted by
SWEBZY, op.cit., p.110.

(5) As quoted by SWEBZY, op.cit., p.110.
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Here the pattern has changed, with by far the greatest increase
oceurring in the area served by the Tyne, and this can be reason-
ably attributed to opening of the Newcastle & Carlisle, Brandling
Junction and Stanhope & Tyne Railways during this period. All
of these gave access to the Tyne from West Durham, notably the
Tanfield and Consett areas, and made possible the sinking of new
collieries by affording them an outlet to the rivers,

But the cold figures tell only half of the story. From
about 1835 onwards there were unparalleled scenes of frenzied
activity, especially in West Durham:

"sss.0In the great northern coal-field the local

records teem with notices of existing collieries

being extended, new pits being sunk and old ones

re-opened, not only, as in former times, for house-

hold coal chiefly, but for coking, gag making,

manufacturing and steam purposes.” (1):
From all over the area people rushed to invest money in old and
new collieriess Owners already established extended their
workings: land-owners began to investigate hitherto ignored land:
private companies were formed to lease land from owners who did
not wish to join the rush themselves, and for those who were neither
land-owners nor had access to one of the private companies, the
opportunity was given, apparently for the first time in the North-

Bast coal industry, of investing their money in speculative Joint-

stock companies, always ready to flourish in boom conditions. Two

(1) GALIOWAY, R.L. Annals of Coal Mining & the Coal Trade (Vol.II).
Iondon: Colliery Guardian Co., 1904, p.6.
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such companies made their appearance during this period = the

Durham County Coal Company, launched in 1836 with a capital of
£500,000 in £50 shares, and in the following year the Northern
Coal Mining Company also with a capital of £500,000; and it is
in comnection with the Durham County Coal Company that we find

the first reference as a coal speculator to John Bowes.

As has been noted above, one of the original signatories
to the "Grand Alliance" in 1726 was George Bowes (b.,1701), a
member of an o0ld County Durham family, whose country seat wasg
Gibside, about five miles south-west of Gateshead, though the
family also owned Streatlam Castle, near Barnerd Castle. He
died in 1760, and his great wealth passed to his only child, Mary
Eleanor Bowes. In 1767 she married John, 9th Earl of Strathmore,
who was obliged by the terms of George Bowes' will to change his
name to Bowes., The Barl died in 1776, and the title passed to
his eldest son John, born in April 1769, who in July 1815 was also
created Baron Bowes of Streatlam Castle., On 2nd July 1820 he
married Mary Milner, of Stainton, near Barnard Castle, but on the
following day he died, Thereupon, as "Burke's Peerage" puts it,
"the Barony of Bowes in the United Kingdom became extinct and the
Scottish peerage devolved upon his brother."

But this tells only part of the story. For Mary Milner, who
was the daughter of a gardener and eighteen years younger than her

husband, had been the Barl's mistress since 1809; and on 19th June



1811 a son was born to thems At first the boy was called John
Milner, but before long this was changed to John Bowes. The Earl
and Mary were devoted to each other, but not until he fell seriously
i1l did he make any move towards marriage.

The Barl's death began a protracted and involved legal struggle.
As John Bowes, then nine years old, was the only - and now legitimate -
son of the Earl, he was acclaimed by his supporters as 1lth Earl of
Strathmore - claim strongly opposed by the late Xarl's younger
brother. For John Bowes to succeed in his claim it had to be proved
that he was the son of the 10th Earl and Mary Milner, that their
marriage of 2nd July 1820 was valid and, since it was a Scottish
title, that the Barl and his wife had had a Scottish domicile. The
case went to the House of Lords, who in 1821 decided that although
the first two points were proven in the boy's favour the late Earl's
domicile had been in England, and so John Bowes' claim was dismissed.

Thus the peerage and the Scottish lands were lost; but the late
Barl's extensive estates in Durham and Yorkshire wsre able to pass to
his son as the Earl's will had directed, and these were bringing in
at that time an estimated income of £20,000 per year. TUntil the boy
should attain his majority the estates were placed in the hands of
Trustees, but they soon passed into Chancery, where they were to
remain for over twenty years, so that, although Bowes received the
income, his control over them was limited by the pleasure of the
Master of Chancery.

After attending a private school Bowes went to Eion and from
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there to Trinity College, Cambridge. It was probably here that
he first met William Hutt, who arrived at Trinity College in 1827.
Hutt, born on 6th October 1801, and so nearly ten years older than
Bowes, was a native of the Isle of Wight. He is said to have been
Bowes' tutor, and it may well have been through this connection
that he met the Dowager Countess of Strathmore, whom he married
on 16th March 1831, thus becoming both Bowes' step-~father and his
tenant at Gibside.

The two men were to be close friends for over fifty years,
yet in some ways they were opposites. Bowes was an intelligent
and able man, shrewd, hard~-headed and efficient, with a capacity
for hard work and attention to detail. Generous and kindly, he
had a dry (and in his early years occasionally free) sense of humour;
he was to be a famous race~horse owner and art collector, as well
as the proprietor and producer of the famous Theatre des Varietes in
Paris, where he was to spend a good deal of his life and marry in
turn two foreign countesses. Hutt too was an able and cultured
man, possessed of a rather academic sense of humour, cautious and
destined to be a successful politician., But Bowes, who was only
5 ft. 1 in. tall, was a rather shy and lonely man, especially after
the death of his first wife, whom he loved dearly, and Hutt too seems
to have had few close friends.

Although Bowes had inherited his father's share in the "Grand
Allies" partnership, he seems to have had little interest at this

stage in anything except its financial side. The original partnership
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agreement had lapsed in November 1825, but was continued by a verbal
arrangement under the style of "Lord Ravensworth & Partners". The
agreement was finally renewed by an indenture dated 3rd May 1834
but was back-dated to 25th November 1825 for a term of thirty years
from that date. By this time Thomas Liddell (b.1775), created
Baron Ravensworth in 1821, held one third, James Wortley (b.1776),
created Baron Wharncliffe in 1826, held one third and the Trustees
of the late Barl of Strathmore (in practice John Bowes, ard thus
easily the youngest partner) the remaining third. The measure
of Bowes' interest is shown by the fact that rather than renew the
agreement the partners had attempted to sell the collieries, then
valued at £114,628,,14..2d., as "no persons in the partnership were
interested in the winning and vending of coals" (1), but no
purchasér could be found, and so the parthsrship was compelled to
continue, |

Mearwhile Bowes' career had taken a parliasmentary turn, for in
December 1832, although only 21, he was elected as one of the Members
of Parliament for South Durham, gaining only 55 fewer votes than
Joseph Pease, one of the famous Quaker family of Darlington. He
stood as a Liberal, an unusual choice for a prominent land-owner at
this period, most of whom were Whigs in the north, such as Earl Grey.

In the same election Hutt became the Liberal Member for Hull, and it;

(1) Bowes Estate Act, 1850; copy in Strathmore MSS, Box 1, Durham
County Record Office,
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might have seemed that both men were set fair for a long and
probably distinguished parliamentary career. But Bowes never'
spoke in the House and became progressively more irritated with
the claims, especially financial, which his position imposed.

But the great boom which got under way in 1835 cannot have
failed to escape Bowes' notice, for several approaches were made
to him during this period for leases to work coal on his land.
His first actual investment in the coal trade would seem to date
from the late spring of 1836, when both he and Hutt were induced
to become Honorary Directors of the Durham County Coal Company,
whose prospectus bore the date 23rd May 1836 (1). It was an
unwieldy concern from the start, and when it was finally wound
up in 1852 most of the £500,000 with which it began had been lost.
It seems likely that the appearance of Bowes and Hutt on the list
of Honorary Directors was due more to a desire on the part of the
Coal Company to have men of substance associated with it than a
desire on their part to enter the coal trade. Bowes certainly
took no part in the company's affairs; ihdeed, as early as July
1836 he was writing to Thomas Wheldon, his solicitor in Barnard
Castle, for information about the company because "a man has asked

my advice and I hardly know how to advise him" (2), The company

(1) FORDYCE, op.cit., p.105.

(2) Bowes MSS, Box 2, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: letter from
Bowes to Wheldon, 25th July 1836.
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leased some of Bowes' land, but their methods of business soon

revealed themselves, for in May 1837 Bowes wrote to Wheldon:
", eesQur friends of the Coal Co. are both knaves
and fools. I will not stand any more nonsense on
the part of these fellows." (1) .

while later in the same month he had become very suspicious of

the men at the helm, for in referring to the company's Agent

he wrote:
", ss.Botcherly, having put a good sum of money in
his pocket, may butt off to America and leave us all
to fish." (2)

The Durham County Coal Company was already showing its true
colours; yet as the demand for cozl and coke not only showed no
sign of declining but was increasing steadily as more railway
qonstruction was begun, it was obvious that, given good manage-
ment, a man willing to invest capital in the industry could look
forward to a good return; and a man under whose land coking coal
might be found was in a very happy position. Just such a person
was John Bowes - and so it came about that he began to look more
closely at the family estates.

His initiative was the first move in the creation of what was
to become one of the great firms in the British coal industry.

The coal under Bowes' Gibside estate was found to produce coke which

was second to none, and in Charles Mark Palmer Bowes found a Managing

(1) Bowes M3S, Box 2, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: 1letter from Bowes
to Wheldon, 8th May 1837.

(2) ibid., letter from Bowes to Wheldon, 17th May 1837.
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Partner with rare energy and ability. As the demand for coke
gradually fell the firm which bore Bowes' name increased its
investment in the gas coal trade. The great achievement of
John Bowes and his Partners is shown in their production
statistics, for in the years before Bowes' death in 1885 the
firm was raising about 2,000,000 tons of coal annually in
addition to producing about 250,000 tons of coke. It formed
an integral yet fully independant member of the huge industrial
empire created by Palmer. Its great days were past by 1914,

but it continued to occupy a prominent position in the coal trade,
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Chapter 1.
The Barly Years : 1838 - 1845

Among the extensive estates which John Bowes owned was
Gibside, in north-west Durham. Coal was being mined here at
Marley Hill as early as 1665, but the colliery was abandoned
by the Barl of Strathmore in 1815 as unprofitable, almost certainly
because of excessive water in the workings. Bowes determined to
see whether a profitable colliery might not be sunk on the estate,
and to do this he engaged Nicholas Wood, undoubtedly the most .
famous man in the Northumberland and Durham coal industry at that
time (1).

Wood was born in April 1795, meking him sixteen years older
than Bowes. His father was a friend of Sir Thomas Liddell (later
lord Ravenswortlh), one-of the "Grand Allies", who thought so highly
of the Boy that he sent him when only sixteen to be Under Viewer
at Killingworth Colliery, about four miles north-east of Newcastle.
So rapid was his progress here that in 1815, when only twenty, he

became Head Viewer (2). By this time he was a cloge friend of

(1) The Memorandum of 1885 (Strathmore MSS. Box 8, Durham County
Record Office), dealt with in Chapter 4, states that Wood took,
the initiative in proposing a new winning on the Gibside estaté,
but there is no mention of this in Bowes' correspondence of

(2) A post combining the duties of the present-day colliery manager
and colliery engineer,
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George Stephenson, and took part in Stephenson's experiments at
Killingworth to develop a safety lamp for miners. Later he was
involved in Stephenson's work there on the steam locomotive.
Throughout the period 1815-1830 he was a staunch supporter of the
new meaﬁs of traction, giving practical help as well as advocating
it through books such as "Treatise on Railroads" (which ran to
three editions) and defending it against such critics as Benjamin
Thompson, a strong advocate of rope haulage on railways. Indeed,
such was Wood's fame in the railway field that, when in 1829 the

Rainhill Trials were held to decide the method of haulage on the
Liverpool and Manchester Railwey, Wood was appointed to be one of
the judges.

By this time he was equally famous in the coal trade, not only
as a prominent member of the Coal Trade Committee, but also as
Managing Pariner of the great Hetton Coal Company, and an authority
on mining engineering. He seems to have been an autocratic, rather
strait-laced man, accustomed to the exercise of executive power.

Fe was also Checkviewer (1) to Lord Ravensworth & Partners, through
whom he was thus personally known to John Bowes. He was therefore
the natwral man for Bowes to consult over the possibility of sinking

a colliery on the Gibside estate.

(1) Normally the equivalent of a consulting engineer, but Wood also
seems to have handled the administrative, secretarial, financial
and sales side of the firm.
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Bowes seems to have taken the decision to proceed with
exploration about the middle of 1838, Unfortunately, in July
1838 Wood accepted an invitation from the Directors of the Great
Western Railway to "inspect and report to them on the (Railway's)
pennanerit way, the gauge, and generally on the novel system which
has been adopted, including the construction and efficiency of the
engines" (1), and this took him away from Durham at the time when
Bowes wanted him. So in his absence two men named Fenwick and
Gray (2) were engaged to review the area and produce reports
respecting the depth and quality of the coal and cost of winning
and weorking it.

The resultant activity soon attracted the attention of Joseph
Pease, who was also an important colliery owner. In October 1838
he wrote to Wecod offering to pay half the cost of making a boring,
with the further offer that "if he takes the coal he will pay the
whole, as the Boring will be useful to him as regards the coal under

lease to him" (3). Whether this offer was accepted is not known.

(1) MACDERMOT, E. ‘“History of the Great Western Railway". Vol.Il.
Part I. london: Great Western Railway Company, 1927, p.6k.

(2) The identity of these men is uncertain. Bowes' Agent at
Gibside was named Fermwick, and the two men may be the sane;
Gray was probably James Gray, who became the first Viewer at
the new colliery,

(3) Strathmore M3S, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Wood to Bowes, 18th October 1838,
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A number of borings were made on the estate, and many of them
struck sand, which was likely to cause trouble if a shaft were sunk.
But Bowes received no reports; Wood was too busy working on his
overdue report on the Great Western Railway, and the reports of
Messrs. Fenwick and Gray were also delayed; Gray did not submit
his report until November, while Wood was still waiting for
Fenwick's report on 20th December (1), It seems that these reports
proved inconclusive, for during the first half of 1839 Wood himself
drew up a report. Nothing is known of its content, though it
seems Wood reported favourably on the gquality of the coal, and
quoted a figure of £6,000 as the cost of winning a colliery at
Marley Hill, for this sum was mentioned by Bowes in a letter to
Wheldon in July 1839 (2). From this letter it would seem that
by this time Bo;ves had definitely decided that a colliery at Marley
Hill would be a profitable investment; but whether because he
feared a General Election was imminent, with its likelihood of
heavy expense, or from some other reason, he decided against raising
all the necessary money himself, Instead, some time during the
sumer of 1839 he came to a verbal agreement with Wood, Hutt and Lady

Strathmore to form a partnership to sink and work the colliery, the

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Wood to Bowes, 20th December 1838.

(2) Bowes MSS, Box 2, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: letter from Bowes
to Wheldon, 29th July 1839,
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partnership leasing the Royalty from him. Lady Strathmore

was included because of the financial contribution she agreed
to make, but she never at any time took any part in the Partner-
ship's activities or decisions.

The exact boundaries of the land under lease were finally
agreed in November 1839, and arrangements were made to begin the
sinking of the shaft, Wood of coursé being in control, supervising
the work and negotiating with prospective customers for the sale
of the coal,

Wood made good progress in beginning operations. The sinking
of the shaft, known as the lodge Pit, began on 9th January 1840, and
by the end of the month the sinkers were ten fathoms down. On 12th
March came the first success, when at 25 fathoms the Hutton seam
was proved and found to be nine feet thick, though including twelve
inches of "band" (1), The sinking continued a little further,
but then had to be stopped as the amount of water becams too great
for the horse gin which was pumping it, and a new steam pumping
engine was ordered. -

Mearmwhile Wood made preparations to work and sell the ooal
from the Hutton seam, The new pit lay quite near the Brandling
Junction Railway's Tanfield branch, the famous waggorway of 1727,

which the railway company had re-leid as a railway and re-opened in

(1) The local term for a thin seam of stone in a coal seam.
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November 1839, It consisted almost entirely of rope-worked
inclines, and Wood was the railway's Engineer. With this line
s0 near the Partners proposed to lay a short branch from the new
colliery to Bowes Bridge, which was an inter—chanée point between
two of the inclines, a distance of Just over 800 yards. A
curious point arose at this stage, for although the land on
which the colliery branch was to be built was owned by Bowes,
lord Ravensworth claimed a right of way-leave under the Blackburn
Fell Enclosure Act of 1801. Discussion on this was postponed.
for a while, and work on the line began in April 1840, to be
finished about the end of May. When this was done and men had
been engaged, production of coal from the Hutton seam began.

Wood had agreed with Isaac Cookson & Company, a large glass
manufacturer in South Shields, for the sale of a considerable
proportion of the coal from the new pit, and this firm were so
satisfied that Marley Hill coal was suitable for the production
of glass that in the following month they promised to take 24
chaldrons (1) per day from the beginning of July, though in the
event the pit was unable to meet this order. The early days of

the pit augured well: on 23rd July Wood wrote to Bowes:

(1) One chaldron waggon cerried 53 cwts. of coal, or 16 cwts. of
coke,
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", evssThe Pillars (1) are working so large that we are
enabled to get 10 or 12 Waggons of Ship Coal per day
which we can readily sell at 19/- per Waggon and still
make Glass House coal (2) sufficiently good. I expect
in a fortnight or so we may increase the ship coal to
16 Waggons per day. The following is the Vend (3) wp
to this time:

This Pay (4) : 164 chds (Sg
Formerly 396 chis (5

560 chds (5) or approximately
11 Waggons per day." (6)

(1) This must mean that the colliery was being worked on the "Pillar

(2)
(3)
(&)

(5)

(6)

and Stall" method of mining. Also known as "Bord and Pillar" or
"Bord and Walls", it was the normal method of mining in Durham at
that time. It consisted of driving a long passage from the ghaft
into a seam, and then driving short passages at right-angles from
this. After cutting in about 30 yards the hewers then turned both
left and right, thus creating pillars of coal 30 yards square. This
was believed to be the only safe method of working soft coal which
also had an unsafe floor amd roof, so that large portions of the
seam had to be left to support the roof. Elsewhere in the country
the "Long-Wall" method of extraction was used, in which all the coal
was removed as the hewers worked back towards the shaft.

For Isaac Cookson & Co.
The coal trade term for the sale of coal from a colliery.

The men employed at collieries in North-East England were paid every
fortnight, usually on the first and third Fridays of the month.

This fortnightly period was known as a "Pay", "No.l Pay" being the
fortnight beginning on the first Saturday after Christmas.

chds = chaldrons. 164 chaldrons = 4325 tons approximately + 396
chaldrons = 1,04,9% tons, giving the sum of coal sold in the seven
or eight weeks since the colliery commenced production as

l,l|.82 tons,

Strathmore MSS, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: 1letter
from Wood to Bowes, 23rd July 1840.
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This letter also shows that although the pit had only been in
production about two months some coal (the "Ship Coal") was already
being exported, though its destination is unknown.
Wood's next task was to securé, subject to the agreement of
Bowes and Hutt, a Viewer for the colliery and also a Coal Fitter
to handle and promote the sale of ship coal from the colliery.
For the first he chose J.W. Gray, who may well have been the man
from whom one of the 1838 reports had been commissioned. Wood's
choice for the second job was rather curious, as it does not seem
that the firm concerned had previously acted as Fitters:
" s..sI have agreed with Messrs. Palmer, Beckwith & Co.
(who have a saw mill at Dunston (1)) and who are very.
respectable people and have a great Scottish connection
and will, I have no doubt, obtain ships and vend the coals
regularly." (2)
Here events proved him wrong, for within a few months Messrs. Coxwell
& Croser of Newcastle had become the collierj}'s fitters; but more
was to be heard of Messrs. Palmer, Beckwith & Co.
Mearwhile the ginking remained at a standstill because the new
pumping engine had not been completed. Although put in hand in
April it was still not ready in early September, and it seems likely

that no further sinking took place until the spring of 1841. At 33

(1) Dunston lies about two miles west of Gateshead on the south bank
of the Tyne.

(2) Strathmore MSS, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Wood to Bowes, 27th August 1840.
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fathoms the Main Coal seam was proved, five feet thick, and then
sinking continued down to the Busty Bank seam, which was proved at
75 fathoms on 25th May 1841. Two other seams were passed through
between the Main Coal and the Busty Bank seams, but at two feet and
two feet eight inches these were considered too thin to Jjustify
being worked.

The four partners do not seem to have been in any hurry to
confirm their verbal agreement of partnership by drawing up a Deed
of Copartnership., Wheldon drew up drafts of both the Partnership
Deed and the lease of the Marley Hill Royalty in the spring of 1840,
Bowes signed the latter in April 1840, Dbut it then' disappeared, for
four months later he wrote to Wheldon asking whether he heard any-
thing about it (1). Bowes received the Partnership draft in May
1840, but not until January 1841 did Wheldon get it back with
instructions to draw up certain alterations, and the partners did
not finally sign it until 12th August 1841, TUnfortunately the Deed
is missing, and all that is known about it comes from letters between
Bowes and Wheldon. The Partnership took to itself the name of the
. "Marley Hill Coal Company" (2) end Bowes held by far the greater

proportion of the shares. Almost certainly Wood was named as Check-

(1) Bowes MSS, Box 2, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: letter from
Bowes to Wheldon, 31st August 1840,

(2) The style "™arley Hill Colliery Company" is also found.
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viewer, probably at a fixed salary. In the event of any of the
partners wishing to dispose of some or all of his shares the other
partners had to be given the first refusal of purchasing them.
One of Wheldon's original clauses did not, however, become part of
the final Deed. When Bowes returned the draft to Wheldon in
January 1841 he wrote:
"eoessYou would find the Marley Hill Partnership Deed a
good deal aliered. There was one clause that I had some
hesitation about, viz., that clause which forced the
successor or executor of any one of the Partners on his
death to sell if the other Partners wished., But this I
think would hardly be fair, especially on N.Wood, who
evidently looks to tl\uis colliery as a provision for his
numerous family." (1)
Here Bowes was under a misapprehension, for the income which Wood
must have been receiving at that time from his other colliery interests
alone would have been sufficient to maintain his "numerous family"
in more than comfortable circumstances after his death.

Within a few months of Marley Hill Colliery commencing production
Bowes had plans for expansion. Ad joining the Marley Hill Royalty to
the east was the Blackburn Fell Royalty, owned by a Mr. Davison of
Beamish, near Stanley, and enclosing land owned by Bowes on Hedley
Fell., Bowes regarded this as a desirable acquisition and Davison
wanted to sell, but negotiations came to nothing.

The most importanf event of 1841 was undoubtedly the General

Election. Bowes was reluctant to stand, but regarded himself as

(1) Bowes MSS, Box 3, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: 1letter from
Bowes to Wheldon, 17th January, 1841.
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obliged to do so as no other candidate was available. The election
cempaign was violent ~ there was a riot at Darlington on 28th June,
when the police had to run for their lives < but in the final vote
on 6th July Bowes and his fellow Liberal gained the victory. The
election was the most expensive which ever occurred in the South
Durham constituency, Bowes' expenses alone being £13,000 (1), At
the same time Hutt became Member for Gateshead, which he was to hold
until his retirement from polities in 1874.

The South Durham election had two results; Bowes vowed that he
would never stand for Parliament again, being very bitter about his
own supporters ("many of whom would not have supported me if they
could have found another candidate" (2)); and it also left him very
short of money. At the same time it became clear that Wood's
estimate of £6,000 for winning the colliery was too low, and in this
position Bowes found himself financially very embarrassed. The
Northumberland &ZDﬁrhén1District Bank had loaned him a good deal of
money towards the winning of the colliery, and were beginning to
press for a reduction in the Companyis overdraft. In addition it
declined to lend Bowes any money towards his personal debts,

Furthermore, the great boom in the coal industry began to slacken

in 1841, and from 1842 onwards there was a growing depression, due

(1) Not £30,000 as often stated.

(2) Bowes MSS, Box 3, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: letter from Bowes
to Wheldon, 26th August 1842.
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mainly to a recession in the railway industry. This too made money
hard to come by, thus putting financial pressure on the Company at a
time when it could least afford it. It is against this generally
gloomy background that the years 1842 to 1846 should be seen,

At the outset all seemed prosperous, and the Company continued
to think about expansion. During 1841 it leased from Sir Robert
Eden the Tanfield and Cawsey Royalty to the south of Marley Hill,
and it also took up again the proposal to lease the Blackburn Fell
Royalty from Davison., Here an important factor was a new colliery
being sunk at Kibblesworth, about two miles east of Marley Hill.

In March 1842 the owners of this pit reached the Hutton seam at 20
fathoms and found it hard and of good quality, in contrast to the
Hutton coal at Marley Hill, which was rather tender and sometimes
became "nothing but black nuttage“ (1) when taken out of the ships
for the customers. In order to avail themselves of the harder

coal further east Wood proposed to his'partners that a new winning
be made on Blackburn Fell, But the growing depression in trade
killed this idea, and also was the most important factor in the
Company's decisgion that it could not work the Tanfield and Cawsey
Royalty at a profit. They accordingly began to seek a sub-tenant, -
and negotiations with Sir Robert Eden and prospective tenants dragged

on until January 184, when the Royalty was taken over by James Joicey,

(1) Strathmore M3S, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: letter from
J.W. Gray to Bowes, 17th February 1842,
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who was building up a small colliery empire in the Tenfield area.
But during 1841 there occurred the event which was to change
the whole course of the Company's history which, allied to the
events of 1845 - 1846, was to change the firm from just another
small coal company to one of the great firms on the Durham &
Northumberland coal-field. How it happened is not recorded, but
it was discovered that coal from the Busty seam at Marley Hill
made first-class coke, better than virtually everywhere else in
West Durham. With the great demand i;or coke from the railways,
and the increasing §ize of iron industry in North-East England,
this could only be regarded as excellent news. At the outset,
having no coke ovens of their own, the Company hired some belonging
to the Brandling Junction Railway at Gateshead,,r But they soon
found that "the demand for the Coke is greater than our power of
producing it" (1), and the need to remedy this problem brought Hutt
into the Company's affairs for the first time. 0{1 30th March 1842
Hutt met Wood at Marley Hill, and they discussed very carefully the
pros and cons in relation to bullding their own coke ovens., At
first they considered two sites. The first of these alongside the
coal staithes on the River Team, not far from the pit, where the
Company used to ship a good deal of its coal. at this period; but

this site was not very suitable for loeding coke on board ship (indeed,

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: 1letter from
Hutt to Bowes, undated, but probably written on 235rd March

1842,
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it was abandoned altogether not long afterwards), and in addition,
Iord Ravensworth, who lived nearby in Ravensworth Castle, raised
strong objections to the expected smoke. The other site lay

ad jacent to the Brandling Junction Railway's staithes in Gateshead,
But the partners expected the site to be difficult to obtain, and
the transport costs would have been higher than to the Team site.
In the event bdth sites wers abandoned in favour of a plan for
building the ovens at the colliery itself, and in October 1842 a
contract was placed costing £1,000, probably for twenty ovens, the
number that Wood had proposed earlier in the year.

.These were beehive ovens (so called because of their shape),
common in Durham but rare on other coal-fields. The usual plan
was to build a number of ovens side by side in a row, the space
_ above the domed top being filled in with rubble and the row bricked
in to give vertical or slightly inclined faces and a flat top, on
which a narrow gauge tramway was built. Small chaldron waggons of
coal were pushed along this and the ovens filled, or "charged",
through an opening in its dome, the charge being levelled through the
side door to give a depth of 24 - 30 inches. ‘The oven walls were
chilled through the "quenching" (see below) of the previous charge,
but after the side door had been bricked up leaving a few loose bricks
at the top, the heat in the dome, or "arch" of the oven ignited the
gases coming from the coal. When the flame was burning over the
whole of the charge the bricking of the side door was completed, but

leaving two small spaces for the air to enter. In the older ovens
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the waste gases issued from the charging hole with the smoke, and
usually there was a chimney, often of a considerable height, to
increase the draught, but later the gases were conducted to a back
flue common to a row of ovens for heating a waste-heat boiler.

After 72 hours the flame in the oven was non-luminous, the temp-
erature in the arch now being 1150 - 1200 degrees Centigrade, and

at this point the side door bricks were removed, a specified

amount of water poured on to the coke, an action known as %quenching",
and then the coke was drawn from the oven with long rakes. A ten-
feet dismeter oven would hold a charge of four tons of dry coasl; in
a twelve-feet diameter oven about 5% tons would be required for a

72 hour charge. The sizes of the ovens varied. Some were as small
as 6ft diameter, but the more normal sizes were 10, 10} and 11f%,
with some 11} and 12 ft. There is no record of the size of the
Company's first ovens at Marley Hill, but in 1843, the first year

for which figures are available, the Company produced Jjust under
4,400 tons.

With the continuing depression in the coal trade the Company's
financial position grew steadily worse during the first part of 1843.
Basically the problem was one of poor managerial structure, leading
to insuffiéient attention being given to the business, especially
the sales side. There were no formal meetings of Partners; DBowes
was spending an.increasing amoﬁnt'of his time in France; Hutt too
spent qonsiderable periods in London, while Wood was far too fully

occupied elsewhere to devote detailed attention to affairs.
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The storm broke in mid=-summer:

"sseseThe Marley Hill Colliery will have to borrow

£10,000 or £12,000. I myself can advance £5,000 to

the concern, but it would be a more satisfactory arrange-
ment to me if White and Atkinson (1) would allow my

bond debts to be transferred to the colliery. They

would still have my personal security and in addition

that of my Pariners as well as that of the colliery, which,
tho' a more expensive affair than we contemplated, promises
to pay very well." (2)

At first the search for money went quite well., White advanced
£3,000 and Atkinson £2,000, and in July 1843 Bowes himself paid
£5,000, But even more money was needed, and with coal prices so
low Bowes had great difficulty in raising it:
"eesssI find people here (Iondon) are so afraid of the
security of coal property that we shall have very great
difficulty in getting the advance of money we expected to
the Marley Hill concern, and I am afraid we shall have to
borrow a smaller sum on the security of our lives; and I
propose myself to advance £3,000 or £4,000 by way of loan." (3)
London proved tight-fisted, and Bowes was refused an advance of
£6,000 even on the security of the Colliery lease and the Insurance

policy. At the end of August he wrote:

"su..We require a sum of £10,000, of which I can
advance £,,000 (if I am successful at Doncaster (Races),
more)." (4)

(1) Nothing is known of these two gentlemen.,

(2) Bowes MSS, Box 3, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: letter from
Bowes to Wheldon, 14th June 1843.

(3) ibid., letter from Bowes to Wheldon, 23rd August 1843.

(4) 4bid., letter from Bowes to Wheldon, 3lst August 1843.
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But only a week later the Bank presented a new Bill (1) for
£6,000 of which.Bowes had known nothing, and the Bill was dis-
honoured. Bowes wrote : |
" eseel have paid £4,000 into the Colliery account with
the Bank, which with the balance in hand will enable it
to more than meet this Bill. But as there is another
due soon, and from this proceeding of the Bank one cannot
. ascertain what course they will pursue, you will see that
the utmost expedition is necessary in procuring this loan,
if it is to be got." (2)
Wheldon did his utmost. to obtain money for the Company and eventually
raised £6,000, to which Bowes himself added another £2,000, making
the total amount raised between June and September 1843 £22,000.
This proved. sufficient for the time being, but the colliery had been
heavily mortgaged and the loans would have to be repaid. It was
obvious that something was seriously wrong with the Company's affairs,
and Bowes was not long in putting his finger on the source of the
trouble:
", sss:Nicholas Wood misled me about the Bills.... I
knew they were due in May last, but I was under the
impression that they had been renewed for six months,

in which I was confirmed by what N. Wood told me." (3)

Unfortunately, in December 1843 Bowes was compelled to retire

(1) The colloquial 19th century term for a promissory note, given for
a loan.

(2) Bowes MSS, Box 3, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: Iletter from
Bowes to Wheldon, 6th September 1843.

(3) ibid., letter from Bowes to Wheldon, 19th September 1843,
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to France after a pursuit round the country to avo_:j.d being arrested
f'oz:' Placing a bet on a horse at Kempton Races, a man named Russell
having obtained a writ under a long-forgotten Act. Fe was obliged
to remain abroad until Iord George Bentinck had succeeded in
getting a Bill through the Lords, ostensibly to abolish betting on
quoits, crochet and similar games, but including horse racing at
the end of a very long list, and he was unable to return until the
spring of 1844. In these circumstances it was left to Hutt to
carry out a full investigation of the Company's affairs, which he
did with chsracteristic thoroughness. At the end of the year he
wrote to Bowes:

", +ss:There appeared to be a loss of between £2 and

£3,000 on the colliery account this year, resulting from

the reckless manner in which the coals have been freighted.
I observed that some cargoes had been sent abroad and to
what I have always heard were bad markets - at Quebec, for
instance, at 2/6d and at St. Petersburg at 2/11d per ton.

I believe I have put a full stop to any such proceedings

for the future. It appeared that when our credit accounts
had been got us and paid over to the Bank that our accounts
would be nearly balanced, but then we had not considered
some outstanding debts. I could not ascertain the amount
of them, but I believe they will not exceed £5 or £600...,.
Our examination was very minute of the outgoings of the
colliery. I hope we have considerably rsduced some of them
for the future. But we did not accomplish what I wish to
have done, which is an investigation of the application of
all the money which has been sunk in the concern...., I will
have it done. It ought to eppear in the Ledger. On the
whole I think that if we can secure Cookson & Co. and keep
Prior (1) the Colliery may do pretty well, Of course, if

(1) J.C. Prior appears to have been an influential Iondon coal
factor. '
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trade revives we shall get on the faster." (l)
The basic trouble ﬁas that Wood was either unable or unwilling to
devote as much time to the Company as it needed; and he also
refrained from mentioning until approached certain of his business
connections which were related to the Company's well-being, so that
Hutt especially became increasingly mistrustful of him.

Only a few days after Hutt's investigation into the colliery's
affairs the partners received an inquiry from James Joicey (shortly
to be the new tenant of the Tanfield and Cawsey Royalty) asking
whether they were interested in letting Marley Hill Colliery to
him, obviocusly thinking that they would be in view of their recent
difficulties. Hutt reported the matter to Bowes, saying that he
had suggested a rent of £3,000 per annum, but he makes no further
comment (2}, giving the impression that he was not agreeable to the
idea, lNothing more was heard of this offer.

At the end of 1843 the prospects for the colliery were a little
brighter. Its affairs had been straightened out, and although it was
still heavily in debt, the coal trade was beginning to show signs of
improvemsnt., Its coal was bscoming increasingly wider known; during

1842 there are references to shipments to the Ipswich Gas Company (3)

(}) Strathmore MSS, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Hutt to Bowes, 9th December 1843.

(2) ibid., letter from Hutt to Bowes, 2lst December 1843.

(3) ibid., letter from J.W. Gray to Bowes, 17th March 1842,
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and the London Plate Glass Company (1), while in 1843, in addition
to the cargoes sent to Quebec and 3t. Petersburg, mentioned in
Hutt's letter above, ships were being filled for places as far
apart as Aberdeen, Yarmouth (2) and Rouen (3). In addition,
the quality of the Marley Hill coke was being acclaimed on all
sides.

But new difficulties were already in sight. At the end of
December 1843 Hutt wrote to Bowes:

" e..oWe have had some trouble with our Pitmen, who
have partaken of the prevailing spirit of discontent.

I went up to the pit and saw a deputation of them. I
did not find them very unreasonable. There are four
or five lawyers amongst them whom Gray must get rid of
at the next Binding Time (4). The great majority of
our men are not ill-digposed, tho' stupid and rather
too ready to listen to the nonsense of F & C (5). There
may and probably will be a partial strike in March, but
the overmen at Marley Hill think that our men will not
join in and Gray says the same." (6)

Hutt's prediction proved only too true. During 1843 there

had been growing discontent among the pitmen of Northumberlend and

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: letter
from J.W. Gray to Bowes, 28th April 1842.

(2) ibid., letter from Hutt to Bowes, 30th December 1843.
(3) ibid., letter from Wood to Bowes, 4th December 1843.

(4) In March, when the yearly contract (known as the "Bond") was
made between owner and workman.

(5) Nothing is known of these gentlemen,

(6) Continuation of letter from Hutt to Bowes, 30th December 1843,
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Durham concerning the terms of the "Boﬁd", under which the coal-
owners engaged workmen each year, his wage and the terms under

which the owner was prepared to employ him being stated in the

Bond, which the pitmen signed or made their mark, as most of them
were illiterate. Under the Bond, which again seems to have been
peculiar to the North-East, the workmen virtually signed away their
rights for twelve months, and as the owners had the right to reduce
wages and owned most of the houses in which the pitmen lived (another
feature not usually found elsewhere), thus rendering them liable to
eviction, the men were severely hamstrung in their atteﬁpts to gain
redress. The pitmen drew up four main demands: firstly, that the
basic wage should be increasged by abou£ 2/~ per week; that the men
should be secured work yielding 15/- for each week throughout the
year, but that they should not be required to work for more than

3/- per day ( which they believed would equalise the demand for

- labour  throughout the district and prevent mass unesployment); that
the fine levied for sending refuse coal to bank (1) should be abolished
and finally that the fine levied for sending up deficient measure
should also be abolished. These were put to the owners during March
1844, to be flatly rejected. Thus when the old Bonds expired on
5th April about 32,000 men came out on strike, and in a meeting on

Black Fell, near Gateshead, on 8th April attended by over 30,000 of

(1) The local term for the surface.
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them, the men resolved to fight to the last.

Nicholas Wood, as the leading figure of the coal trade, was
deeply inwlved in the negotiations and the measures upon which
the owners decided. He personally wanted nothing less than
unconditional surrender from the men, but at first he thought the
strike would be a trifling affair, and even when the strike had
been in progress nearly a month he could write:

"-.---I do not think the Contest Will be a 1°ng OlCs s s
I am not very anxious." (1)

Contrary to what Hutt had been told in the previous December,
it seems that all the men at Marley Hill came out on 5th April,
Yet the Vend sheets for this period show that the colliery continued
to supply at least its local customers with coal, and this must have
been possible only through a large build-up of stocks at the colliery
in the previcus months. In the period between 6th April and 18th
May the River Vend (2) per Pay remained at about the level it had
been before the strike, but the Ship Vend (3) ceased completely for

over a month, and in No.10 Pay (4) only L4 chaldrons were sold. In

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: 1letter from
Wood to Bowes, 2nd May 184).

(2) Coal s0ld to local customers.
(3) Coal which was exported.

(4) 4th May to 18th May 1844 inclusive.
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the next four Pays, i.e. up to 13th July, the position was
reversed, the Ship Vend returning to normal while the River.

Vend was reduced by about two-thirds; in fact, during the latter
half of this period the only customers under this heading were the
Marley Hill Coke Ovens, the Brandling Junction Railway and Isaac
Cookson & Co.,, by far the greater .proportion going to the ovens,
Thus it would seem that the partners decided at first to suspend
Ship Vend coal-in order to retain their local customers, but that
‘subsequently they reversed this; possibly after representations
from their fitters, ensuring, however, that sufficient coal was sént
to the coke ovens in order to meet demands and provide income f"rom
this source, while also doing the best they could for their largest
local customers.

By June there was no sign of an end to the strike, though it
does seem that a few of the men at Marley Hill had returned to work.
In the middle of the month Hutt suggesied to Wood that men from other
parts of the country bé brought in to break the strike and help work
in the pits, and Wood sen{ for men from Wolverhampton; as on.13:r about
a dozen of these were sent to Marley Hill it is evident that the
colliery was -rathér better placed than many others in the county.
Even the importation of "foreigx;ers" did not break the strike, and on
4th July Wood wrote:

Y. sesWe have turned the men out of the new houses
this week and I have no doubt we shall shortly find
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they will be willing to work." (1)
As many employers had evicted their workmen in June or even May,
one may fairly assume that the partners adopted a relatively
restrained approach to their workmen, which probably accounts for
the colliery's unrepresentative trading position. Despite the
strike the colliery sold 681 chaldrons in No.l4 Pay and 690 in
the pay following (2), and on 18th July Wood was able to write
that at Marley Hill

", ss..we are working fully - as much as we would be if

the Colliery were at work and the issues in force. The

men got from Staffordshire are so well satisfied that I

have sent one of them back with the Marley Ifill overman

to bring 20 or 30 back, part of which I intend sending

to Springwell (3)." (45

At Marley Hill the strike was virtually over by the middle of

July except for a few die-~hards, but the position was far from happy
elsewhere. Wholesale evictions were achieved only with considerable
force in some places, and as a result many hundreds of people were
compelled to encamp by the road side or on unenclosed ground.

Starvation was widespread, though there seems to have been only a

small amount of pilfering, and in the insanitary conditions disease

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Wood to Bowes, 4th July 1844.

(2) 29th June to 13th July inclusive, and 14th July to 27th July
1844 inclusive,

(3) Springwell Colliery was owned by Lord Ravensworth & Partners.

(4) ibid., letter from Wood to Bowes, 18th July 184k.
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broke out. Nevertheless, in spite of all the distress only 2,000
men had returned to work by the end of July. But with the incressing
importation of "foreigners" more and more men gave up the struggle,
and by the second week in August the strike was virtually over, The
men had to return to work on the owners' terms; but despite all the
distress the discontent remained, even if for the time being it was
concealed. It was estimated that the strike cost over a quarter of
a million pounds (1), but the exact cost to the partners is not
recorded, Indeed, despite the strike the coal from Marley Hill
sold in 184 rose to 50,155 tons conpared with 44,321 tons in 1843,
while coke sales rose from 4,213 tons to 5,170 tons. With coal
scarce during the strike (there is at least one recorded instance of
a ship bringing coal to Newcastle) the partners may even have made a
‘profit during the months of the strike.

The strike was the final blow to the "Limitation of the Vend".
Some of the collieries which had come into production from 1836
onwards refused to join, and those that did could only be accommodated
by reducing the quotae of existing members. It would seem that, despite
Wood's position in the tradé, Marley Hill was not & member. Possibly
the Committee felt able to allow this as the colliery had virtually.
no dealings in the lLondon household coal trade. After the strike

the "Limitation" became completely umworkable, and was dissolved on

(1) LATIMER, J. "Historical Register of Remarkable Events which have

occurred in Northumberland & Durham, Newcastle-upon-~Tyne and Berwick-
upon-Tweed, 1832 - 1857." Newcastle: “"Newcastle Chronicle" Office,

1857, p.183.
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3rd May 1845.

The result was disastrous. The huge increase in the production
of coal reduced the price per chaldron, which had stood at 20/6d in
August 1842, to below 7/-. At the same time ceme the failure of
three northern banks

", ....and these banks, being greatly in advance to many

of the colliery proprietors, forwarded, in no small

degree, the progress of a deplorable crisis. In consequence
many collieries fell into the hands of their securities and
were either sold at very reduced prices or laid up altogether.
Others again changed hands from the inducements held out to
new men for entering upon ready-made collieries with stock,
etc., at a nominal value." (1)

Although matters appear to have improved during 184 Marley
Hill Colliery was very much in "the hards of its securities", and
with Bowes still financially embarrassed (he lost nearly £5,000 when
Wheldon's partner admitted fraudulent conversion in May 1845) the
only solution seemed to be the incorporation into the partnership of
someone who would be willing to invest money, and, if possible, also
act as Managing Partner. The first attempt at this came by a very
roundabout method. It will be remembered that when the Brandling
Junction Railway's branch to Marley Hill Colliery was built Iord
Ravensworth claimed the right of wayleave payment over it, although
it passed entirely over Bowes' own land. Bowes was irked by this,

and when John Berkley, the owner of a new colliery at Burnopfield,

about 2% miles west of Marley Hill, was negotiating with Bowes to

(1) DUNN, M. "Treatise on the Winning and Working of Collieries."
Newcastle: Dunn, 1848, p.360.
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build a rail link from Marley Hill to Burnopfield, Bowes wrote to
Lord Ravensworth, disputing this right and threatening to build an
independent link of his own to the Brandling Junction Railway's
Tanfield branch, Lord Ravensworth replied by threatening to make
the way-leave payments for Marley Hill coal on the Tanfield branch
far higher than they were then if Bowes did construct such a line,
and so, finding this means of reducing the Company's expenses
blocked, he opened negotilations with the railway company, now the
Hewcastle & Darlington Railway, for a reduction in their charges.
This meant meeting the Chairman of the Newcastle & Darlington, the
famous George Hudson, referred to by Bowes as "His Majesty Hudson
the 1st." (1) An agreement favourable to the partners was made in
November 1844, and from it came an attempt to sell Hudson a share in
the colliery. The plan seems to have been to sell Hudson half of
Bowes! share only, leaving Hutt, Wood and Lady Strathmore with the
proportion they already possessed. Hutt made no recorded comment
on this move at all, though Wood permitted himself to say that the
coking business made it a good concern. But although George
Stephenson reported favourably on the concern to Hudson and strongly
adviged him to take the share offered, Hudson himself seems to have
had 1little interest in the matier, not even asking for particulars of

the business, and in the middle of July 1845 Bowes, much to his

(1) Bowes M3S, Box 3, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: letter from
Bowes to Wheldon, 2nd November 18L4k.
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annoyance, decided to regard the negotiations as having ended and
himself a victim of Hudson's perfidy.

Yet the solution to the problem already lay on the partners'
own doorstep. For sometime during the summmer of 1844 the partners
first came into contact with the man who was to transform the
Partnership from a small concern owning only one colliery to one of
the greatést companies in the British coal industry, and who was
himself destined to become one of the truly great Victorian indust-
rialists - Charles Mark Palmer.

Palmer was born in November 1822 in South Shields, the son of
a successful businessman who, besides owning a share in Greenland
whaler, was one of the partners in the timber merchants Palmér,
Beckwith & Co., who had been the first coal fitters of the Marley
Hill Coal Company. After being educated at Newcastle his father
had s_ent Charles to France, not so much from faith in a liberal
education but probably to learn foreign languages, so that he might
later travel the Continent in search of orders - a commn ploy of
fathers in business at this time. On returning to England the youthful
Palmer joined Palmer, Beckwith & Co., but he was not destined to
remain long with the firm.

The meeting between Palmer and the Partners was to be momentous
for all of them. How it came about is sadly not known. Palmer was
only 22, and it may well be that the meeting was purely the result of
his own initiative., But whatever the cause Palmer must have made a

tremendous impression, for the outcome was a decision to enter into
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partnership with him to form a new concern called the "Marley Hill
Coking Company". Curiously enough, the partnership agreement,
which seems to date from December 184), was not handled by Wheldon,
and there is only one indirect reference to it in correspondence.
The result was astonishing. During 1845 a large number of new coke
ovensg were built, all at Palmer's expense, and the manufacture of
fire-bricks for the ovens was begun, At the same time, under the
title of "C.M.Palmer & Co.", he took over the whole responsibility
for the gale of the Company's coke, and so great was the effect of
all this that in the twelve months between December 184 and December
1845 the Company's sales of coke rose by 380% to 19,607 tons., It
wag the first, and very striking example, of Palmer's immense ability
and energy, the work of a man who saw that the opportunity = to supply
top quality coke to a rapidly-increasing market -~ was there to be
taken if it was wanted.
Bowes, Hutt and Wood can only have been very impressed by such

a performance, and during the autumn of 1845 negotiations were opened
with Palmer with a view to making him a full Partner in the Colliery.
This was Palmer's personal opportunity, and he was not slow to act.
On 4th November Bowes wrote to Wheldon:

" ool have agreed with Mr., Palmer that the sale of

my moiety of the colliery at Marley Hill will date from

the 1st of November. You will understand, I think,

the way in which the sale is to be effected. 1 value

the colliery at £32,000 and he buys a quarter at £8,000;

but as there is a debt on the colliery he does not pay

the £8,000 but from that sum is deducted % of all the

debts and liabilities of the concern on lst November of
every sort, including tradesmen's bills, etc....As he
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pays me in Bills which the Bank have agreed to discount,

I am to hold the security of his share of the Colliery

thus purchased until he finally takes up the Bills." (1)

Later letters show the position more clearly. The sale was

to be on the gsame terms as those abortively offered to Hudson only
a few months before, Palmer deriving the whole of his share in the
Partnership from Bowes, the other partners having been offered the
shares and refused them. The actual admission of Palmer to full
memberghip of -the Partnership was later put back to lst Jamary
1846 as this date was more conveniént for making up the books in
order to work out how much had to be deducted from the £8,000 which
Palmer was to pay Bowes for his share. It is perhaps surprising
that a man barely 23 years old should have such money to pay this
sum, to say nothing of the money he had already paid to build new
coke ovens; probably most of it came from his father. The
documents were finally signed by the Paftners during the latter half
of November 1845 and the early days of December, Again the Deed
-is missing, and so it is not known in what proportion the Pariners
held shares. It is clear however, that Palmer held one quarter,
and that Bowes was the biggest shareholder even after the sale of
part of his holding. It would appear from one of Palmer's letters
of 1847 that both Hutt and Wood held less than one~eighth at this

stage, though this seems strange. In the event it took some time

(1) Bowes MSS, Box 4, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: letter from Bowes
to Wheldon, 4th November 1845, N
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for the accounts of 1845 to be worked out. In July 1847 Palmer

wrote (1):
"....The accounts at the end of 1845 wili stand thus
Purchase of % share of Coll¥ - £32,000 £3,000 = 0 - 0
Joint bond of Partners £19,000

Debt of Colll as per acct of Dec 1845  £8,960

Interest due you (on loans of 1843) £765
£9,725
Amount of liabilities Dec 1845
% my share (£19,000 + £9,725) £28,725 £7,181 -15 - 0
Due you £818 = 5 - O"

Thus the actual monetéry transaction was not great. This Deed was
in any case abandoned in favour of a new one dated lst January 1849,
which remained in force over fifteen years. Under this Deed, and
poséibly under its predecessor also, Palmer was named as Managing
Partner, having full responsibility for the secretarial, financial
and sales aspects of the firm, able to act without reference to the
other partners except on the most important matters. Wood was named
as Engineer, for which he was paid an annual salary of £500.

Thus the four men and Lady Strathmore were now members of two

nominally separate companies, the "Marley Hill Coal Company" and the

(1) Stratimore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 8th July 1847.
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"Marley Hill Coking Company". For a short time during 1846 their
notepaper bears the heading "Marley Hill Coal & Coking Company™, but
the old titles subsequently returned. The real change came in
November 1847, when the ™arley Hill Coal Company" was changed to-the
much more imposing title of "John Bowes Esq., & Partners", an alter-
ation for which Palmer was probably responsible, and the firm was to
bear Bowes' name until nationslisation one hundred years later.
Although the "™Marley Hill Coking Company" continued to have a
separate existence almost another forty years, the two companies
were in practice treated as one with the exception of the accounts,
which were always kept separate.

At this point, when the firm was on the threshold of unparalleled
expangion, it is interesting to review the progress made by Marley
Hill Colliery between 1842 and 1845, such a review being possible
because the Vend sheets covering that period have survived (1).

As has been noted above, the Company's fitters after the
withdrawal of Palmer, Beckwith & Co. were Messrs. Coxwell & Croser,
an interesting firm who were also merchanté as well as dealing in
shipping and insurance., In the period between December 1842 and
December 1843 they handled 24,823 tons of coal, over 5,000 tons more
than thé whole of the amount sold to local customers. Despite this
the firm ceased to handle the Company's trade in January 1845, and it

seems that they went out of business. They were replaced by

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office.
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W.H. Scaife, another Newcastle man, who acted as Fitter until
Palmer took over this side of the Company's activities. From
December 1843 onwards the Company also received contracts from

a Mr. J.C. Prior, who seems to have been a London man who made
contracts on customers' behalf. In the three years under review
the Ship Vend totalled 87,209 tons, or 50.59% of thé colliery's
coal sales. The amunt for 184} was only slightly above that

for 1843, partly because of the strike and partly because more

coal was being sent to the coke ovens. Thig. trend continued during
1845, Indeed, it was so marked that whereas the Ship Vend had been
5,000 tons more than the River Vend in 1843 the position was com=-
pletely reversed by 1845. It is even more strikingly shown by the
only vend sheet extant for 1846, which reveals that in the period up
to 7th February the Ship Vend was only 1,402 tons compared with the
River Vend of 7,094 tons.

Of the 87,209 tons exported between 1843 and 1845 Coxwell &
Croser took 43,585 tons, or 49.98% of the total, while Scaife handled
26,357 tons (all in 1845) and Prior 17,267 tons. Some of the
destinations of this coal have been mentioned above.

When one examines the River Vend some interesting trends come
to light. In 1842 just under a third (6,130 tons) of the total was
sent to the Marley Hill Coke Ovens. However, by the end of 1845 the
Company, now under Palmer's direction, had not only increased the
numnber of ovens at Marley Hill but had also built ovens at Gateshead

as well as renting the ovens there of the Newcastle & Darlington
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Railway, and in that year no less than 33,250 tons were sent to
these three sets of ovens. It is therefore not surprising to find
that the largest proportion of the River Vend - 55.97% ~ was made
into coke., If the coal sold to private coke manufacturers is
included, the total tonnage of coal converted into coke becomes
50,527 tons, or 59.34%.  No coal was sold to private coke manu~
facturers after the beginning of 1844.

The largest of the other local customers was easily Isaac
Cookson & Co. of South Shields, who owned an extensive glass works,
Between 1842 and 1845 they bought 22,616 tons, or just over 26.5%
of the total Vend., The firm did not have a regular order, and in
some "Pays" took no coal at all.,. They almost doubled the amount
purchased in 184)4 compared with 1843, but there was 2 considerable
drop in 1845, probably because the colliery had less coal available
for general sale, Nevertheless, they remained the Company's
largest private customer, and this continued in the early months of
1846 (when the firm had become R.W. Swinburne & Co.), the firm being
one of the Company's only two local customers. .

The Company's next largest group of customers were railway
companies, who accounted for 8,576 tons in the three years, or just
over 10%, Most of this coal was bought by the Bramdling Junction
Railway, very probably for making coke. This trade continued for
a short time after the railway had been absorbed into the Newcastle
& Darlington Railway, but ceased in September 184}, after which no

coal was sold to railways.
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The last of the Company's main coal customers was John Abbot
& Co., who owned a large iron foundry in Gateshead. In the period
under review they purchased 3,249 tons, or 3.81%. They rarely took
more than 70 tons per fortnight but it was a steady trade, and with
Cookson they were the only local customers remaining at the end of
1845.

In the three years 172,376 tons of coal were sold, of which
the Ship Vend accounted for 87,209 tons and River Vend 85,167 tons.
The combined figures for each.of the three years show that the
amount sold in 184 was 50,155 tons, an increase of nearly 6,000
tons over 1843, while the figure for 1845 was 77,950 tons, so that,
if one makes allowance for the strike, one may reasonably say there
was a steady rise in coal sales during the period.

Turning now to the Coke Vend during 1843 - 1845 the most
astonishing feature is the rise in sales due to Palmer's influence.
In 1843 the amunt sold was 4,213 tons, which rose in 1844 to 5,170
tons; yet in 1845 the figure was 19,608 tons. For Palmer not only
built more ovens, but he also changed the direction of the Coking |
Company's sales. Up to 1844 no coke was sold direct to railway
companies, and even in that year the amount was only 728 tons,
though some may have reached them via the fitters; but with Palmer
at the helm the total reached 9,662 tons. Most of this went to the
Newcastle & Darlington Railway, but between September 1845 and !
November 1845 samples were sent to four important railways, and by

February 1847 Palmer had railway contracts totalling approximately



2,300 tons per month.

The total amount sold during 1843 - 1845 was 28,991 tons,
of which 15,667 tons, or 54.04%, went to the fitters, firstly
Coxwell & Croser and then "C.M. Palmer & Co." There is 1little to
show the destination of this coke, though there is one reference
early in 1842 to a cargo destined for Nantes (1).

After railway companies the next largest group of customers
was iron-founders, of whom the Company had no fewer than eleven
during the three years., Between them they took 2,393 tons, or
8.25%.  Of these, John Abbot & Co., Hawks, Crawshay & Co. and
John Coulthard & Co., all of Gateshead, were the largest customers;
most of the others were either single men or companies working on
a very small scale. One interesting point is that the Company
served virtually all the iron-founders on Tyneside, and while this
trade was by no means as important as that with the fitters or the
railways, it shows that the Company was willing to supply anyone,
whatever the @mt.

The remaining 1.87% also went to local customers. Among these
v}ere two breweries, a2 chemical factory, a lead black and paint
manufacturer and a fire-brick manufacturer. This diversification
of the Company's business shows that at this stage the nature of the

colliery's sales was similar to the pattern which had exigted in the

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 1, Durham County Record Office: 1letter from
Hutt to Bowes, undated, but probably written on 23rd March 1842,
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coal industry for many years, but that as time wore on there was
a growing trend towards the newer industries and the larger firms,
and this trend was to be exemplified by the work of Palmer.

Thus the stage was set for the great events of 1846 - 1855.
Bowes was now thirty-four years old, and had decided to retire from
Parliament at the next election, and from 1847 onwards he was to spend
an increasing amount of time in Paris. There he was to buy the
Theatre des Varietes and meet Josephine Benoite, Contessa di Montalbo,
who he was to marry in August 185i. Fe helped with the French side
of the Company's business, and was largely concerned in obtaining
money for it, but as the Partners had no provision for formal meetings
he was almost a sleeping partner for the next decade, All ma jor
decisions were supposed to receive his consent, t.hough even this was
ignored on occasion. William Hutt, who was to become an increasingly
noteworthy Member of Parliament during this period, was now forty-four
years old, and acted as the link between Bowes and the Company.

Not pretending to have any technical knowledge, he nevertheless paid .
frequent visits to the Company's holdings, often to the embarrassment
of thos working there, as he would ferret out wastefulness, ineffic-
iency and other things detrimental to the Company, He acted in a
smell way in negotiating contracts, and occasionally took over full
control when Palmer was away. Wood was now fifty years old and
received the highest honour of his career when in 1852 he became the
first Pregident of the North of England Institute of Mining Engineers.

He too gave some help with contracts, though at times he was told
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even less of what was going on than Bowes.,

The year 184)4 saw the beginning of what became known later
as the "Railway Mania", and so when Palmer became a full Partner
on lst January 1846 the coal indusfry was enjoying a growing boom.
Palmer was determined to make the Partnership one of the greatest
names in the Northumberland and Durham coal-field, and thus in
the coal industry generally. The opportunity for this was at

hard .
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CHAPTER 2,

THE YEARS OF RAPID EXPANSION : 1846 - 1855.
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Chapter 2.

The years of rapid expansion : 1846 - 1855,

In order that the Partners might gain the greatest possible
benefit from the increasing demmnd for coal and coke, Palmer saw
that his main task at Marley Hill was to increase output from the
colliery and expand still further the production of coke. To
achieve the first would take time, and to make more coal available
during this period he proposed during the latter half of 1845 that
the Partners should buy Kibblesworth Colliery, which lay about two
miles east of Marley Hill and was worked by Messrs. Southern,
Hawthorn and Watson, the first-named being Managing Partner and
Viewer., Negotiations were opened, and Southern named his price as
£27,000, Wood thought this too high, and suggested £24,000. How-
ever, Bowes, when informed of the negotiations, strongly disapproved,
and with Hutt taking Bowes' side, the negotiations were abandoned in
December 1345.

Palmer was thus left to develop the holdings at Marley Hill.

To obtain workmen in order to increase output he built forty more
houses (1), as well as yet more ovens. At the same time he ordered
a new steam winding engine from John Coulthard & Co., which it was

estimated would enable the colliery to produce 40 Keels per day (2).

(1) In Durham it was the normal practice for the coal owners %o build
houses for their workmen; elsewhere, e.g. in South Wales, it was
more usual for a contractor to do this and rent houses to the workmen.

(2) About 850 tons per day.
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Unfortunately, further poor management on Wood's part upset Palmer's
plans. In Pebruary 1847, when he was only getting about 22 Keels
per day, Palmer wrote to Bowes:

".....The short quantity is in consequence of the mis-

management of Mr. Wood and Gray (1). They had left the

pillars too small and the coll¥ has taken the creep (2).

This happened six mo{ntl]s ago and nothing was said until

I now find it out. It has cost a large sum of money as

the Colliery ways have been completely crushed up. I am

now told that the creep has stopped..... The absurdity of

Mr. Wood giving orders how &o work at .a Pit like Marley

Hill without exemining the place: all I can get from

Gray is that Mr. Wood told him. It is really provoking." (3)
Palmer was Jjustifiably annoyed, because in the first five months of
1846 the Colliery had made a profit of nearly £1,130, while the coking
profit had been much more. Even worse, he was obliged to buy coal
from his neighbours - and competitors - to fulfil the contracts he
had made., The target of 40 Keels per day was eventually achieved in
the early summer of 1847. When one considers that this was equivalent
to approximately 4,250 tons per 5% day week, or a quarter of a million
tons per year, it is possible to see the extent of Palmer's achieve-
ment, remembering that the vend for 1845, only two years before, had

been 77,950 tons. Moreover, there can have been very few collieries

on the coal~field producing over 200,000 tons per year in 1847, again

(1) The Marley Hill Colliery Viewer.
(2) The local term for underground mining subsidence.

(3) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: 1letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 24th February 1847,
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a measure of Palzper's impact.

This great expansion in coal production was matched in coke
production too. By February 1847 the coke ovens were capable of
making 6,000. tons per month, or 72,000 tons per year, a far cry
from the 4,213 tons of 181..:3 or even the 19,607 tons of 1845. 1In
February 1847 Palmer listed his contracts as follows:

"800 tons about York & Newcastle Railway

200 " Newcastle & North Shields Railway
280 "  Manchester & Birmingham Railway
220 " " Newcastle & Carlisle Railway
800 " "  lancaester & Carlisle Railway
1,400 " "  Pinto, Perez & Co. (1)
1,200 " "  Blackwell (2)

4,900 tons monthly." (3)
He also had an application for coke from Baron Rothschild, and in
the latter half of 1847 the Partners were selling almost all the coke
they could produce. It will be noted that nearly half of the above
was sold to railways, while the Blackwall figure was also destined
for railway consumption = and that no iron-founder appears in the

list; the great expansion of the Durham iron industry, which produced

(1) Apparently a firm of coke fitters.
(2) Ssee below.

(3) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Bowes, lst February 1847.
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only 20,000 tons of pig iron in 1847, was not to occur until the
discovery of the Cleveland ores in 1849 (1).

But Palmer fully realised that he needed to expand his market
if the growing productive capacity at Marley Hill was to be used
to the full, and here he became involved in two schemes initiated
by Wood. The first of these was an attempt by the northern coal-
owners, led by Wood, to capture the potentially-valuable French
railway market. The precise details of this plan are lacking, but
they involved shipping coal to Havre for conveyance to Paris on the
Paris‘ & Havre Railway. Agreements were made with certain French
coal fitters (most of whom were Englishmen) » and in December 1845
negotiations were opened with the Paris & Havre Railway. At this
point Bowes took a hand by investigating personally the state of
the French coal market, which Wood had apparently not done, and
reported agé.inst the scheme, suggesting instead that a cargo of coals
be sent to test the market's reaction. It seems that the freight
rates were so high that there was only a fairly low profit margin,
and in addition, there were doubts about the reliability of Frenchmen
and whether they would honour contracts made with them. Bowes'
comments ended Hutt's su_éport, and the Partners withdrew from the
scheme. In January 1846 Hutt wrote:

", .es.N.W. is vexed about the result of the Havre negot-
iations, though he does not avow it. I really think he

(1) MOTT, R. (ed) ."A History of Coke Making". Cambridge: Canbridge
University Press, 1936, p.4l.
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had become so epris that in defiance of the demonstration
of its imprudence he would have gone on with it. I can~
not understand him." (1)

But Palmer did not share Hutt's view, and took up the idea
himself, though of courss only on behalf of the Marley Hill Coal
Company. At the end of January 1846 he went to Paris to review
the situation, and in April he shipped some samples of Marley Hill
coal to Paris to test the market, Hutt still had his doubts about
the French fitters:

".+.seThey appear to have little knowledge of their under-
taking, and the contract which they have made with Palmer
is so completely one=sided that it has convinced me more
than anything that they are not the people who will set the
Iouvre on fire with the coals of Newcastle." (2)

Nevertheless, in August 1846 Palmer set out again., His first
success was to obtain a contract with Allcard, Buddicombe & Co. in
Paris for 21,000 tons. He and Hutt were very pleased with this, as
the firm was one of the biggest of the French fitters, supplying a
number of French railways, and he had won the day although his was the
highest tender submitted, a tribute to the quality of Marley Hill coal.
Next Palmer went on to Belgium in order to assess what influence the
Belgian coal-owners might have on the French market. He examined the

mines in person, and found that working costs were high and the coal

of indifferent quality, so that there seemed little to fear from this

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 24th January 1846.

(2) ibid., letter from Hutt to Bowes, 10th April 1846.


http://Buddicom.be

direction.

By this time Hutt was as enthusiastic as Palmer about trying
to capture the French market, believing that it was theirs for the
asking, as few English fitters thought it was anything else but an
unnecessary and foolish risk. The Partners were now pressing the
railway company to grant them terms protecting them from the effects
of competition and securing to them the monopoly of the trade,
offering in return to supply and maintain their own waggons on the
line., In September 1846 Palmer and Hutt calculated that the price
of Marley Hill gas coal (1) delivered at the Batignolles in Paris
would be 33.81 francs, while the capital which would have to be raised |
for the scheme was estimated at £30,000,

The matter came to a head soon after when Bowes drew up a long
review of the proposals, compar:i.ng the probable cost of various types
of coal from North-East England in Paris with the cost of French and '
Belgian coal there. Using all the calculations made by Wood, Palmer
and another Newcastle fitter named Muston, Bowes estimated that at the
Batignolles English gas coal would cost 39.47 francs per 1000 kilos,
steam coal 41.39 francs and household coal 42.66 francs. English
gas coal had formerly been used in producing gas to light the Paris
streets, but it had been ousted by French and Belgian coal, which
could be supplied 9.47 francs cheaper than his estimate. English

coal for manufacturing purposes he calculated would be 13.82 francs

(1) Presx.;niably from the Hutton seam.
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dearer and household coal 6.5 francs dearer. The only coal which
it seemed might be introduced into Paris with some hope of success
would be a coking coal which could also be adapted for iron and
other manufacturing purposes where an absence of sulphur, combined
with great heat, was required. Fere the Belgian and North French
coal was unsuitable, while the cost of suitable coal from St. Etienne
was higher than the estimated cost of English coal. PBowes summed
up:

" es..0n the whole it does not appear that the prospect of

the Paris market is very encouraging, but tho' I have

great doubts myself whether we should in the end be

warranted in risking so large a capital as £30,000, I
think it would still be advisable to send samples of the

different kinds of coal at once to Paris on trial. Whetler,

supposing the Railway Companries would agree to the proposal
that the sum guaranteed should be made up out of dues on
coal sent to intermediate stations between Havre and Paris,
the superiority of railway conveyance over the present
modes of communication would justify the outlay of such a

large sum as £30,000 would require serious consideration.” (1)

This report virtually killed the scheme, but Palmer decided to
go to Paris again to see whether favourable terms could be made with
the Paris & Havre Railway, presumably with the view to introducing
coking coal into Paris. Putt urged Bowes, who was still in Paris,
to aid Palmer in this, adding:

", +esThe business must be settled now or never and I

have every confidence in your sound Jjudgement and
prudence. I would not be bound by Palmer, though I

(1) This review (Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office)
appears to have been a preliminary draft of a letter, probably
to Hutt, and probably written towards the end of September 1846,
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think very well of him. He is a 1little too speculative
perhaps but he is clear-sighted and full of activity
and energy." (1)

But the railway company demanded terms higher than Palmer was
prepared to accept, and the negotistions fell through. In December
1846 he went to London to engage a man named Edward Blount (a partner
in one of the london banking companies with a special knowledge of
the French coal trade) to act for him in France. On 29th he wrote
to Bowes:

", sl don't think anything more can be done now until
the Railway Coy are brought to their senses, and it is
only by letting them run fast that we shall make our own
terms. You might tell Blount that we were tired of
them and that when they become more liberal in their
views we would be glad to hear from him." (2)

In fact Palmer's hopes were to be dashed, for the scheme was
finally abandoned in September 1847, Blount remained as the
Partners'! agent, but Palmer frequently found him inactive, and he
brought the firm little business. Even the contract for 21,000
tons which Palmer had obtained on his summer tour proved a source
of dispute, although it did lead eventually to further orders.

The second of Wood's schemes, again with the backing of a
congortium of northern coal-owners, seems to have been an attempt to

regain control of the London market, where the north had been losing

ground steadily to other areas, particularly Staffordshire. Again

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Hutt to Bowes, 29th September 1846.

(2) ibid., letter from Palmer to Bowes, 29th December 1846.
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the details are obscure. It seems the Marley Hill Coal Company

had an interest, although it was probably not financial., The plan
consisted of purchasing a dock at Blackwall on the River Thames

near Croydon, and from this constructing a railway line called the
Thames Junction Railway to Jjoin with the pmposed Croydon Railway,
which would itself jJoin the South Bastern Railway near Bricklayers
Arms Station. The dock was the property of the Grand Surrey Canal,
which had passed into railway ownership in 1836. A stationary
engine was to be erected at Blackwall to unload the coal from the
ships., But perhaps the most interesting point of the plan was the
decision to build coke ovens at Blackwall, and offer coke made from
North-Eastern coal to raillway companies in the area, Northern coal-
owners had met with little success in their attempts to secure the
market in Southern England by supplying coke direct from ovens in the
North-Bast. The owners therefore felt that if coke could be manu-
factured in the market area it woﬁld be cheaper and many more orders
would be obtained.

By December 1845 the greater part of the Thames Junction-Railway
was completed, at least so Hutt thought, and a start had Jjust been
made on building the ovens. The success of the venture seemed assured
when the Eastern Counties Railway, another of those in the Hudson
empire, agreed to purchese all its coke from Blackwall., However, when
Hutt visited the scene of operations in January 1846 he found a very

 different picture. Be reported angrily to Bowes that the railwey
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", es.owill not be open for months. It will not be

open for two years at the rate at which it is proceeding.

I found six men at work and they are proceeding with the

deliberation of German post boys.... The work is now

going on at a rate which is quite ridiculous. I floundered

about knee deep in mud and clay and often on all fours to

the astonishment of the five men who are hired to put up

the piling and who have evidently been little accustomed to

being overlooked, I dare say they thought I was not right

in the head." (1)
Hutt's annoyance stirred up matters. Within three months the railway
was open, although it was some months more before the works at Blackwall
were complete,

Meanwhile Wood went ahead with his plan to form a company to

operate this concern. In July 1846 a firm was formed with the
imposing title of the "Northumberland & Durham Coal Company", consisting
of three Newcastle coal fitters in Wood, N. Muston and W. Philipson,
a Colonel Gray, FHon., H.T. Liddell (2) and John Bowes; another Newcastle
fitter, H.M.V. Morton, was eppointed as the Company's agent. With
Liddell and Bowes on the Board, it was virtually a Joint subsidiary
company of Lord Ravensworth & Partners and the Marley Hill Coal
Company. The new company took over the Surrey Dock on a long lease,

and all seemed set fair. But when Palmer visited Blackwall in

September 1846 he found that the business was being "bungled sadly" (3),

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 24th January 1846 - a good example of Hutt's
participation in affairs.

(2) L1iddell was the eldest son of Lord Ravensworth, At some period
during the early 1840's he had taken over his father's share in
Lord Ravensworth & Partners.

(3) ibid., letter from Hutt to Bowes, 17th September 1846.
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and the quality of the coke was so poor that the Eastern Counties
Railway had complained. The company made a small profit up to
November, but by this time Wood had decided that the business was
far too urmwieldy., In December 1846 he came to an agreement with
the Commerciel Dock Company under which the latter took over the
Dock, but under a series of very complicated conditions. At the
same time the South Eastern Railway took over responsibility for
the line between the Docks and the Bricklayers Arms Station. The
net result was to reduce the Northumberland & Durham Coal Company
to a purely distributive concern, renting parts of the docks and
also coal depots and other accommodation on the South Bastern Rail-~
way. Even in this form it proved very beneficial to the Partners,
for in January 1847 Palmer signed a contract with Morton to supply
the Northumberland & Durham Coal Company with 72,000 tons of coal
per year for ten years, TWood's plan had not brought his hopes to
fruition - but its possibilities were not lost on Palmer,

Not only had Palmer been engaged on expending production at
Marley Hill, attempting to gain a foothold in the French market and
increasing his sales in ;I.ondon, he also toured the country can-
vassing for trade, being especially successful in Cumberland and
Lancashire. Moreover, the year 1846 also saw another opportunity
for enlarging the firm. In September 1846 Crook Bank Colliery, a
small concern sbout 1% miles west of Marley Hill, was offered to the
Partners on favourable terms. It was connected to the railway line

between Marley Hill and Burnopfield Colliery, about three miles south=
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west of Marley Hill, which the owner of Burnopfield, John Berkley
of Newcastle, had built to enable his coal to be conveyed down the
Tanfield branch. As the line 2lmost certsinly did not come into

operation until early in 1845, presumably Crook Bank Colliery also

jaN]

ates from this year. Its ovmers are unknown, but they were to go
bankrupt shortly afterwards, and the fear of their approaching

o,

insolvency was probably the reason for the offer to the Partners.
Hutt, however, opposed the purchase on the grounds that the colliery's
coal made only inferior ccke, and the.offer was refused.

Palmer, on the other hand, was still eager to acquire Kibblesworth
Colliery, and at the end of 1846, this time with the approval of all
the Partners, he %pproached George Southern again, offering £23,000
for it, only for Southern tc turn him down.

ﬁow Kibblesworth Colliery was separated from Marley Hill by a
mooxr about 570ft high called Birk Heads, making communication between
the two very difficult, and in addition it was a gas coal celliery,
so that Paimer's interest in it when the Fartners were primarily coke
manufacturers would at first sight seem strange. Put Palmer was
suffering badly from his efforts to improve output from Marley Hill.
Tor the Tanfield branch of the York and Newcastle Railway, on which
Palmer was dependent to convey coal and coke for shiprent at Gateshead
or South Shields, served not only Marley Hill but also Crookbank and
Burnopfield Collieries (via Marley Fill), Andrews House Colliery
(owned by the Northern Coal Mining Company), Bast Tanfield and Tanfield

Lea Collieries (both owned by James Joicey) and Tanfield Moor Colliery
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(owned by John Berkley). Moreover, the branch at this time was
worked entirely by rope haulage, and with so many collieries on the
line severe congestion ensued. In addition, all the waggons were
supplied by the railway company (unlike South Wales, where the coal
masters owned the waggons and the railways merely worked them through
to the ports), so that the collieries were completely deperndent on
the railway and obliged to accept whatever demands it chose to make.
At the same time the lack of adequate shipping facilities on the Tyne
made the supply of waggons even more capricious than they were as a
result of congestion.

Now Kibblesworth Colliery was connected by a private railway to
Springwell Colliery, which lay about four miles south-east of Gates-
head and was owned by lLord Ravensworth & Partners, of which of course
Bowes was a member. Three rope-worked inclines, all operated by
stationary engines, took the line from Kibblesworth across the Team
Valley to Springwell, passing on the way Mount Moor Colliery, also
owned by Lord Ravensworth & Partners, but closed in 1840, From
Springwell the line ran for a further 5% miles to private staithes on
the Tyne at Jarrow, approximately four miles of which was worked by
locomotives (1). This line was in poor condition, and Hutt at least
feared it would fall into the grasping hands of George Hudson, who as

Chairman of the York & Newcastle Railway controlled nearly all the

(1) The section from Jarrow to Mount Moor Colliery was opened in
1826, and the extension to Kibblesworth in 1842.
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public lines in the area. The implications of this position were
obvious; Palmer's only mistake was to try to bite off more than he
could chew.

For when Palmer first made his views known in February 1847 he
did not merely want to build a connecting link between Marley Hill
and Kibblesworth - a suggestion which had been made to Bowes as
early as July 1845 by John Berkley, who even offered to defray half
the expense of a survey; he also wanted to form, in con;junctipn
with H.T. Liddell, a new company to run the railway and also purchase
Kibblesworth and Springwell Collieries. The actual details of the
plan were altered @re than once, but in its final form .it was
explained to Bowes in August 1847:

" esesWith reference to the Marley Hill, Kibblegworth &
Springwell Railway scheme...., Mr. Hutt requested me to
write to you on the subject as the best means of getting
my views carried or the affair dropped entirely.

Marley Hill is now enabled to work 40 Keels of coals
daily, out of which we have 18 - 20 Keels for shipment,
also 200 - 300 tons of coke daily to be sent down the
line. We are continuously being stopped for want of
waggons; this arises from the want of shipping places at
Shields, the difficulty of increasing facilities on the
railway to meet the traffic and partly through want of
waggons, We have been suffering daily up to this time
and we have never exceeded 35 Keels but on an average 30
Keels and not more than 150 tons of coke daily, so that I
see little chance of getting our full workings away.
Besides, all the other collieries are likely to increase;
for instance, Mr. Berkley is only sending away 5 - 6 Keels
daily instead of the 25 - 30 Keels as he should do to make
such a place pay. It is therefore quite evident the present
railway is not capable of carrying the quantity we require,
and we must either get them to increase their powers greatly
or find an outlet of our own. If we could get the Springwell
and Kibblesworth (Collieries) and a line to Marley Hill
united it could be worked at a much cheaper rate than in 3
concerns, it would be a shorter line and would save the Marley
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Hill owners at least 1/6 per chaldron - that is, if it
were under one company and under one management. If the
Springwell line had to remain as it is at present it
could not on any account give us the accomodation we
require and I would not on any account recommend the
outlay for the Kibblesworth line (1) and the formation
of the line to Kibblesworth. My great objection to the
scheme is that it increases the debt over us which is not
desireable at the present time, but I have great confidence
in the affair paying us well,

The plan I would propose to carry out this line of
railway is that the Springwell line (2) should be taken
at a valuation ard paid for by Mr. Liddell and yourself,
that is, buying the share of lLord Wharncliffe, the amount
of such purchase to bte passed to your credit in the Railway
Coy. The Kibblesworth Railway should be bought by the
Marley Hill owners as well as the formation of the Railway
to Kibblesworth. There would only be money for the latter
required, the amount of purchase and formation being passed
to the credit of Mr. Hutt, Mr. Wood ard myself. The
shareg of the Railway Company would be held:

Mr: Liddell 1/
Mr. Bowes /4
Mr. Hutt 1/6
Mr. Wood 1/6
Myself 1/6

I am of the opinion, so is Mr. Wood, that the York and
Newcastle Railway would not object to our making the line
since we would continue to send all they could take." (3)

(1)

(2)
(3)

The section between Kibblesworth and Mount Moor Collieries,
owned by Southern - the probable reason for Palmer's interest
in the colliery, though he nowhere states this.

The section between Mount Moor Colliery and Jarrow.

Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: Iletter from
Palmer to Bowes, 17th August 1847,
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Barlier in the year he had worked out the details in a letter
to Hutt:

sssseThe following is a rough calculation of what the
Marley Hill owners would derive from this arrangement:

11 miles from Marley Hill to Jarrow
@ 24 per chal [dron] per mile

1-10
Shipping and finding drops 6
Waggons 11 miles %d per chal Erorﬂ per mile 515
Wayleave to average about 1d 11

3- 8
Present dues to Shields 4 -~ 7%
Wayleave 4
4 =113 L -11%
1- 53

Calculate on 27,000 chaldrons of coals
@ 1/6 £,687 - 15

600 tons of coke weekly
for shipment - 300 chal [dron]s =

15,600 per annum @ 1/-

780 - 0.

£2,467 = 15
The Springwell and Kibblesworth Collieries would make 1/-
per chal @mzj per mile = £1,597." (1)

The whole plan was really far too complicated. The formation

of the new company depended on the willingness of both Lord Ravensworth

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Hutt, 15th February 1847 (sent on by Hutt to Bowes).
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& Partners and George Southern to sell their collieries (otherwise
it would not own the line between Kibblesworth and Springwell).
Southern had Just refused, while Springwell was the only colliery
saving Lord Ravensworth & Partners from complete insolvency, so
that it was unlikely that either would be willing to sell. More-
over, its success, as Palmer admitted in the same letter to Hutt,
depended on persuading other colliery owners to send their coal
down the new line - and this when Palmer himself did not intend to
use the new line to the full because it would be cheaper to send
coal to Gateshead via the old route,

Moreover, the scheme would cmgte a third company when a much
better plan would have been to combine all three collieries under
one company, and in any case it would have added considerably to the
Marley Hill owners' debt at a time of depression.

In the event Bowes was very lukewarm about the whole idea, and
Palmer was asked to approach the York, Newcastle & Berwick Railway
(as it had become in July 1847) to see whether they would grant any
reduction in dues. Here he found the railway company very accom-
odating, and so in November 1847 the whole scheme was laid aside "for
consideration when money is more plentiful®™ (1), a sign that Palmer
thought too much of the idea to abandon it entirely.

The year saw a further expansion of activities and trade. A

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 11th November 1847.
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tour in Scotland by Palmer produced contracts for coke with the
North British and Edinburgh & Glasgow Railways, in addition to
those listed earlier, The Partners also took over some coke
ovens which had been erected at Lowestoft, apparently by the
Northumberland & Durham Coal Company. With coke i'rom these
the Partners hoped to capture a large part of the trade in East
Anglia. The ovens were sub-let to = contractor, coal being
supplied from Marley Hill.

In November 1847 the "Marley Hill Coal Company" became "John
Bowes, Esq., & Partners" (1), a less parochial and more imposing
title probably inspired by Palmer. The firm was to retain this
name wntil the nationalisation of the coal industry 100 years
later,

Despite its growing fame in the coal trade, the firm still owned
only one colliery, But Palmer fully realised that Marley Hill
Coclliery alone could never cope with all the opportunities which he
saw before him, and so began the longz process of buying - and selling -~
collieries. The first to be absorbed was Crook Bank Colliery, which
lay approximately half way between Marley Hill ard Burnopfield,

Since it had been offered to the Partners in September 1846 its
owners had gone bankrupt; they are unknown, but a letter from Bowes

to his Land Agent in January 1847 suggests that the Viewer was a

(1) The old title took many years to pass out of use,
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"Mr., Carr, who is, I believe, carrying on the concern for the
benefit of the creditors" (1). It passed into the Partners'
possession during the first fortnight of December 1847 "“under
very curious circumstances™ (2), and without previous consultation
with Bowes, who was told that "the circumstances of our getting
her..... are too long for a letier to explain" (2). It was a
very small colliery sunk only to the Main Coal seam, and the
price was only £4,000, t was a useful purchase, despite Hutt's
earlier view, as it lay close to the Marley Hill Royalty. As a
result Marley Hill coal could be worked from her armd so relieve
the pressure on Marley Hill Colliery, Bowes wailiving the outstroke
rent (3) normally payable in such circumstances. Palmer hed plans
to sink the colliery to the Busty Bank seam, but in the event this
was not done.

#With Crookbank (4) purchased, Palmer soon began to think about
Burnopfield Colliery, the pit at the end of the railway line from

Marley Hill, This colliery, otherwise known as the Hobson Pit, had

(1) Bowes MSS, Box 4, Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle: letter from
Bowes to R. Dent, 9th January 1847.

(2) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Palmer to Bowes, 13th December 1847.

(3) If coal from a royalty was drawn at a colliery on an adjoining
royelty, the owner of the royalty from which coal was being
taken was entitled to charge what was known as "outstroke
rent".

(4) This soon became the more normal spelling,
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been sunk in 1843 by John Berkley of Newcastle, apparently in
partnership with a man named Patrick. The railway to it had been
built at Berkley's expense, and included an incline Jjust west of
the colliery which took the line down to Crookgate and which was
worked by a stationary engine., Most of the line passed over Bowes'
land, and while Bowes was quite prepared to see the line built he
refused to grant a wayleave for the passage of coke, and Berkley was
forced to build his coke ovens at his other colliery on the royalty
at Tanfield Moor. In May 1847 he also went bankrupt, and the two
collieries passed into the hands of his creditors, of whom the
largest was the Northumberland & Durham District Bank, and worked
for them by a man named John Henderson. Palmer opened negotiations
in the spring of 1848, and af'ter much bargaining a price of £22,000
was agreed in October 1848. At this point a series of disputes
broke out between Henderson and the Bank, and the final agreement
was not signed until lst November 1849, Thus the Partners now
owned four collieries, three in a compact unit linked by a private
railway and the fourth some distance away on the Tanfield Branch.

The railway from Marley Hill to the bottom of the Hobson Bank
incline at Crookgate was originally worked by horses, but in June
1847 Palmer bought at least two locomotives for shunting at Marley
Hill, and it is likely that the whole line was worked by locomotives
by 1850, if not before.,

Mearnwhile Palmer was busy expanding trade, which was even more

noteworthy in a time of growing depression in.the industry as the
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Railway Mania collapsed. Seeing that the opening of the Tweed
Bridge at Berwick would open up trade between Bngland and Scotland,
he frequently visited Scotland in search of possible contracts.
At the same time he opened up for himself the Irish market, and was
then approached by the Iondon & North Western Railway with a view
to supplying them with 80,000 tons of coke annually for at least
five years. Such a contract meant building 150 more ovens at £35
each, but the Partners decided it was worth the risk. In the middle
of these negotiations Hutt wrote:
",evse At Marley Hill you see now the waggons of nearly
all the Railways in Scotland loading with coke... We
shall be the primum mobile of Scotland, we are pretty
sure o act in the same way for Ireland and we only want
Blount_to complete the executions of his plan when, with
the L‘Endoq] & North Western contract, we may assume the
ancient title of British Royalty and call ourselves Kings
(Coke) of Gt. Britain, France and Ireland and the town of
Berwick-upon=Tweed." (1)

But Hutt was to find that pride comes before a fall., Blount
remained indolent, and to Palmer's sxtreme annoyance the London &
North Western Railway proved to be only trifling with the Partners
in order to induce the firm with whom they actually wished to close
to offer a lower price.

Mevertheless, it is reported that in 18459 there were 424 beehive

coke ovens at Marley Hill with another 200 to be built (2). In

(1) stratimore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Huitt to Bowes, 16th October 1848,

(2) MOTT, R.A., op.cit., r.48.



-62-

addition to these and those at Blackwall and lowestoft, there is
evidence that during this period coke ovens were also built at
Dublin and Belfast, and possibly at Edinburgh and Dieppe, though
this is uncertain. With so many ovens there is little doubt that
the Partners were now the largest producers of coke in the country,
the only other firm of comparable size being Joseph Pease & Company
at Crook.

Despite 2811 this, Palmer was looking out for more collieries
and ovens. In June 1848 he and Wood went to inspect Pontop and
Derwent Collieries, which belonged to Jonathan Richardson, the
Managing Director of the Northumberland & Durham District Bark.
Palmer thought well of them, but Hutt did not, and for a time nothing
was done., However, in January 1849 Palmer concluded an agreement
with Richardson under which the Partners leased the latter's Pontop
Ovens, of which there were 100; another 100 were to be built, and
the rent was to be £,000 per annum for 21 years. But Palmer soon
found that the ovens were in poor condition, and with Richardson
failing to supply the coal for them as promised, this agreement was
rescinded in favour of a new one in July 1850. Under this the
Partners purchased Fontop Colliery, which at that time was derelict,
and agreed to sink a new pit there, Richardson providing some of the

money (1). To provide coal for the Pontop Ovens the Partners agreed

(1) It is possible that the agreement to purchase Pontop predates
the rest.of the arrangements slightly, but there is no direct
evidence,
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to take a short lease of Richardson's Medomsley, Harelaw and Diptoﬁ
Collieries, which were to be handed back when the new pit at Pontop
commenced production. Of these three, only Medomsley was actually
working, and there is no evidence to suggest that the others raised
any coal during the Partners' tenure of thems To supply coking

coal Medomsley Colliery was to be ;unk from the Main Coal seam to

the Busty seam, Richerdson again providing the money. The new, or
South Pit, at Pontop began producing coal in the spring of 1852, when
Medomsley was handed back. The lease of the ovens there had been
converted into the purchase of them by December 1854.

In the autumn of 1849 the Partners purchased amother colliery -
Norwood Colliery, near Dunston. This was a sm2ll concern, and its
previous owners are not recorded; 1t appears to have been purchased
on Wood's recommendation, though it is not clear for what purpose.
It was worked for a short time, but needed extensive modernisation,
and during the 1850's it was closed, to remain thus for nearly twenty
years.

Although the plan to link Marley Hill to the Kibblesworth and
Springwell railway had been laid aside in November 1847, Palmer had
not forgotten it, and his next major plan grew out of it. As this
was to prove a turning point in the firm's history, its background
needs to be discussed in full, and so one must look again at Lord
Ravensworth & Partners. By 1849 the affairs of this older partner-
ship had become very involved, Everything had gone fairly well up

to 1845; but in this year lord Wharncliffe died, and the new Barl
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abgolutely refused to have anything to do with the Partnership's
affairs. vLiddell first proposed that he and Bowes should buy

Lord Wharncliffe's share, which had split uw among the various
creditors of the late Earl's estate. This plan having fallen
through, Liddell and Bowes found that the concern was making an
ever-increasing loss, which in 1848 alone totalled £20,000, and by
the end of 1849 the accumulated loss was £110,000. The position

was further complicated by the death in 1849 of Lord Bute, one of

the claimants of Lord Wharncliffe's estate, and also a creditor of
the Partnership, and his estate also passed to Trustees. But worst
of all, although the Partnership could buy and sell collieries, Bowes
himself, under the terms of his father's will, had no power to sell
his share in it. An Act of Parliament of 1847 had given him this
power, but it required to be signed by all of the late Earl's Trustees,
and one of them not only refused to sign it but disappeared into
France, so that the Act remained inoperative. At the beginning of
1849 the Partnership owned five collieries: Tyne Main and Springwell
(and Mount Moor, closed since 1840) in County Durhem, and Killingworth,
Burradon (1) and Seaton Burn in Northumberland, of which Springwell
was the only one meking a profit, while Killingworth, a household coal
colliery, was making the greatest loss. Bowes set about drawing up

a new Bill to give him power to sell his share, and in the meantime he

(1) The alternative spelling "Burraton" is almost as common; it was
always used by Wood.
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and Liddell resolved to sell the collieries as soon as possible.
The coal trade was by now fairly depressed, but nevertheless Wood
managed to find a purchaser for Burradon at £11,000 in October
1849, and shortly afterwards Tyne Main was sold for £3,000.

In this situation Palmer saw a great opportunity for John Bowes
& Partners, especially from the point of view of linking Marley Hill
to Kibblegworth and being able to ship his coal at Jarrow Staithes,
and in August 1849 he wrote to Bowes:

" eesoMr, Wood... and Mr. Hutt... both fully concur in the
policy of having an independent outlet for the produce of
Marley Hill and the adjoining collieries, and as the
"partnership™ are about disposing or letting the Springwell
Colliery and Railway I really think it would be a prudent
and safe step to endeavor to take it at a yearly rent, as 1
assure you from the changes in railway management in the
North we must not throw ourselves entirely in their hands.
You are perhaps aware Mr. Joicey and Mr. Southern are both
looking after the concern and propose offering for it. Mr,.
Wood has a better opinion of the former than I have; in
fact, I think it would be a dangerous thing to let him have
it, for should he Join with Southern and get his coals down
by a cheaper and shorter route than us it would be a very
serious matter. Already he is underselling us by 6d or 9d
p [er] ton, although he pays higher dues than we do. You
will therefore see the position we would be placed in if he
could sell and have a profit at the price cost of our coals.
I think moreover it would be more satisfactory for us to
have the concern... The contract we can get from the London
Gas Co. would make the rent safe for at least three years." (1)

Palmer's view, therefore, was that the Marley Hill Partners should
take over Springwell Colliery and its railway to Jarrow to give them a

cheaper outlet once the link from Marley Hill to Kibblesworth was con-

(1) Strathmore MS3S, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 6th August 1849. Joicey was expanding almost
as rapidly as the Partners, concentrating on the areas around the
villages of Tenfield and Beamish,
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structed, thus getting the better of Joicey, who was causing a good
deal of worry. But the situation was not as uncomplicated as
Palmer chose to see it, for if Lord Ravensworth & Partners leased
Springwell they would have no profit to set against the losses from
their other collieries, Wood sketched this out in a letter to
Palmer a few wesks later - a letter interesting for his comments on
the size and importance of John Bowes & Partners:

", vessI think with you and Mr. Hutt that it is essential
to the security of the Marley Hill concerns, which are
now almost alarmingly important and extensive, that we
should have the Springwell Railway and consequently the
Colliery - and connected to Norwood the Whickham Manor
and Shipcote and Bensham coal (1).... For the Marley Hill
Co., once making up their minds to encounter the risk,
there is no doubt that they can work the concerns to be
able to offer more advantageous terms to the Partnership
than anyone else can afford.

Then comes the question of Seaton Burn and Killingworth,
which though not necessarily adjunct to such a measure are
in some degree mixed up with such a scheme. TFor if they
let their Bensham collieries (2) they must as a matter of
necessity almost let or sell their Northd (5) collieries,
for it would never do for them to carry on these collieries,
parting with those where there is less risk. I think,
therefore, that you must be prepared to meke an offer for
the Northa collieries concurrently with treating for the
Durham collieries, and here there will be some difficulty.
I do not think it would do either for the Partnership to
sell or the Marley Hill Co. to purchase them at this time...
With the london concern, and considering the demand in the
District to be supplied with coals by the Marley Hill Co.,

(1) Norwood was presumably purchased by this date; the Whickham
Manor Royalty adjoined it.

(2) Springwell and Mount Moor Collieries, so called because the
main seam worked was the Bensham seam (gas ooal).

(3) Northumberland.
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there ought to be a demand for all the Wharncliffe coals
worked at Killingworth (1), and connected with our Coking
establishment abroad there ought to be a demand for Seaton
Burn. Besides, we have already grappled with Marley Hill

too extensively to look upon that concern as other than a
leviathan; it can only now be successful on a large scale,

and the two collieries, or rather the coal from the two
collieries of Seaton Burn and Killingworth, will not so
materially increase the risk as may at first sight appear." (2)

Sc matters stood for some weeks, and then one of the Trustees
of the late Lord Wharncliffe's estate suggested that John Bowes &
Partners should buy the late Earl's share, becoming possessed of the
collieries by that means. Wood opposed this on the grounds that the
Partners could not afford at that {ime to take a share in lord
Ravensworth & Partners' debt of £110,000, and Palmer too was against
the proposal, so that nothing came of it.

However, it was evident that if Palmer wanted the Springwell
Railway and Springwell Colliery he would have to take Seaton Burn
and Killingworth also, and in view of this the Partners offered to
buy Springwell and Mount Moor Collieries and teke a short-term lease
of Seaton Burn and Killingworth, and this was readily accepted by the
older firm, The price for Springwell has not survived; the lease
of the Northumberland collieries was to continue until the end of
1852, when it could either be terminated or extended., Palmer was

fairly satisfied with this, as it seemed at the time that Seaton Burn

(1) "Wharncliffe" was the sales name given to household coal from
Killingworth,

(2) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Wood to Palmer, 3rd September 1849 (passed on by Palmer to Bowes).
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was about to be s0l1d, and so he would be relieved of its burden,
though this proved a false hope. In February 1850 the Partners
took possession of the collieries.,

This agreement had two important results. To John Bowes &
Partners it meant thsir entry into the gas and household coazl trades
on & far larger scale than hitherto. It also gave them holdings in
Northumberlend, in addition to bringing a2 step nearer Palmer's hope
of an independent outlet for his Durham coal, On thre other hand,
it was not the end of the road for Lord Ravensworth & Partners, which
continued, as far as is known, until Bowes' death in 1885 (1). It
was never again to work any collieries - Seaton Burn and Killingworth
were eventually sold to John Bowes & Pariners ~ but it continued to
own the Whickham Manor Royalty and other small properties in Durham,

Mearwhile, in May 1849 the Partners took over full control of
the Northumberland & Durham Coal Company, which thus became a sub-
sidiary company of John Bowes & Partners. It continued, however, to
handle coal from other firms as well as the Fartners' london trade,

However, if 211 seemed s=t fair on one front, there wes trouble
brewing elsewhere. Towards the end of 1849 the miners at Marley Hill
demanded an increase in wages. When this was refused, they cams out

on strike, and were Jjoined, it seems, by some of the men at Crookbark

(1) Latterly Lord Ravensworth and John Bowes were the only members.
It was certainly still in existence in 1882, as it is found among
Bowes' financial pespers of that date (Strathmore ¥SS, Box 7,
Durham County Record Office).
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and Burnopfield. Although an official document of the time

describes the men's demands as "something so trifling (an increase
ampunting to only 5/- per day, to be divided among the whole number
of men at the colliery) that it was evidently a mere struggle for
mastery" (1) it was a very violent strike. The former Marley Hill
Viewer, Gray (2), together with others, made a number of inflam-
matory speeches, 2nd on 3rd January 1850 2 group of fifteen men
invaded Burnopfield Colliery, stoked uwp the fire under the boiler

of the winding engine and then placed a large amount of gunpowder

near it, causing 2 tremendous explosion and considerable damage.
Unable to use their own cozl for the coke ovens, the Partners purchased
coal from Joicey's Tanfield Collieries, only to find that one of the
trainsg on the Tanfield branch carrying this coal was wrecked when

the strikers placed a sleeper across the line, causing the train to
crash into a ravine and putting the incline on which it was travelling
out of action. In the end similar tactics to those used in the 1844
strike were adopted, and men were brought from Scotland. This
effectively broke the strike, though it was not until the third week

in Pebruary that it was finally over.

(1) "Report of the Comnissioners appointed under the provisions
of the Act 5 & 6 Vic ¢ 99 to inguire into the operation
of that Act and into the state of the population in Mining
Districts, 1850." 1Ilondon: H. M. Stationery Office,
1850, p. 48.

(2) Gray had been dismissed in October 1848 2nd replaced by a
Mr., Greemwell,
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Despite the fact that the final agreement for the purchase
of Tanfield Moor Colliery had not been completed until March 1850
(though the Partners had been in possession since the previous
November), as early as May 1850 Hutt was urging Palmer to sell it,
regarding it of no use to the firms Palmer, it seems, was not
unwilling to do so, and in September 1850 it was sold to James Joicey
for £5,000. Hutt also wished to be rid of Norwood, adding that
"N.W. fairly took us in about that business, which has occasioned
nothing but vexation" (1), but here nothing was done.

Although the Partners were still in the process of absorbing
the collieries acquired during 1849 and 1850 Palmer was already
planning a new scheme, this time in an attempt to speed up and expand
the Partners'! sales in ILondon. Through the Northumberland & Durham
Coal Company Palmer promoted a plan to construct a railway from the
Blackwall Dock to a junction with the ILondon & North Western Railway
at Highbury, the railway to be known as the West India Dock Railway.
Construction began either at the end of 1849 or the beginning of
1350. t was planned to carry coal from any of the north-eastern
coal companies, though the Partners' coal would be carried at a
chesper rate. Palmer then set out to make long-term agreements with
the coal merchants who would be served by the new line, and in

August 1850 he was able to report to Bowes:

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 26th May 1850.
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".+s.sThe quantities already guaranteed for 5 years are
as annexed @ 1/- p [er] ton dues:

Stations built and quantities agreed for:

Camden Town 40,000
Caledonian Road 35,000
Highbury 52,000
Gas Works 50,000

177,000

Stations not built but probable quantities:

Kingsland 25,000
Hackney 30,000
L & NTWOvens 25,000

-do- Railway 10,000

267,000 tons" (1)

That Palmer was in a position to be able to contract for over a
quarter of a million tons per year fgr five years shows the extent
to which the firm had grown since Marley Hill was sunk only ten
years previously, and it gave the Company a solid basis for its
operations.

But Palmer did not limit his attention to the West India Dock
Railway merely to seeing it as a means of conveying his coal quickly
to his customers; at the same time he set out to make improvements

to the Blackwall Dock. Rapid delivery of coal depended on quick

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 5th August 1850.
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discharge of the coal from the ships in the Dock, and to expedite
this Palmer designed four hydraulically-operated cranes to 1lift the
coal from the holds straight into the waiting waggons.

All went forward -~ at a slightly higher cost than Palmer had
originally anticipated - until on 15th October 1851 he was able to
write:

"es...Coals were taken this morning up to Hackney and
the trade commenced there, but the cranes and the Dock
will not be ready before tomorrow morning." (1)
It was, however, not until February 1852 that Matthew Bell, the new
Secretary of the Northumberland & Durham Coal Company, was able to
report that the line was fully operational. It was worked by five
new six-coupled tender locomotives, later increased to six. (2)

Palmer next turned his attention to Kibblesworth Colliery,
possession of which would mean he would control the whole of the
railway between Kibblesworth and Jarrow. Circumstances had rather
changed since Palmer made his last offer in 1846. Southern was now
in partnership with Joicey; but Palmer, from being the ﬁanager of a
firm owning only one colliery, had risen to be the Manager of one of

the largest firms in the county, and he now controlled the outlet on

which Southern was deperdent to ship his coal., Palmer first approached

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 2, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 15th October 1851.

(2) The statement in Palmer's obituary in the "Durham Chronicle" that
he leased the railway would seem to have no basis in fact. '
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Southern iﬁ August:1851, and the latter readily agreed to his terms.
Unfortunately, Joicey did not, believing, no doubt, that FPalmer would
be prepared to pay a higher price to obtain what he so obviously
wanted. Nevertheless, negotiations continued and in November 1851
agreement was reached, The terms were very complicated; suffice it
to say that the total purchase price was £15,000, much lower than that
offered in 1846, of which £4,000 was to be paid by promissory notes
spread over a five year period. Thus after waiting six years Palmer
had at last succeeded in reaching his objective.
With so many collieries now under the control of the Partners
it was thought necessary to appoint Viewers to supervise groups of
collieries, and on 27th December 1851 Hutt, Palmer and Wood met at
Marley Hill to meske the decision. One of Wood's sons, Collingwood
Wood, was appointed to Seaton Burn and Killingworth, giving his
father great pleasure in view of his past associations with the two
collieries; at the Durham collieries
", ....Mr, Southern (1) is appointed Viewer of Kibblesworth
and Springwell, Mr. Lawes having been called to other
duties, as the Moniteur civilly explains dismissal.
Greermwell remains at Marley Hill, President or Regent of
the Coking Collieries." (2)

Thus began the system of viewers which lasted until at least 1914.

(1) The former owner of Kibblesworth.

(2) sStrathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 7th January 1852. The French tone of the letter
reflects the coup d'etat of Louis Napoleon in the previous month.



_7[*__

The individual collieries had their own viewers, but these were
subject to the Over-Viewer, later termed the Agent, who in turn
was responsible to the Partners (or subsequently the Directors).
At the time it seemed that Collingwood Wood might not hold office
very long, for Killingworth Colliery was making a heavy loss, and
both Hutt and Palmer were determined to give notice when the lease
ended in December 1852,

The construction of the West India Dock Railway, later also
called the North London Railway, had brought the distribution of the
Partners' coal in lLondon under Palmer's control and had greatly
facilitated its distribution, but it was little use having sultable
capacity in Iondon if one could not guarantee a regular and adequate
supply to the metropolis. As has been moted above, the great prop-
ortion of the coal trade to London from the North-East was carried
by small sailing vessels with a capacity of about 300 tons. They
were cheap to build (about £1,000 each) and were expected to last
about 100 years, but if they did more than twelve or thirieen round
trips per year it was exceptional. If the winds were unfavourable
they were either unable to leave port or were forced to shelter in
Yarmouth Roads, while occasionally whole fleets were destroyed in
storms. When this happened a stoppage of production at the collieries
was virtually certain, with the inevitable loss of profits and even
contracts,

At this period the ship~building industry of the Tyne and Wear

was still quite small, The majority of ships built were wooden,
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though a few iron vessels had been built on the Tyne, the largest
being 1,350 tons, launched in August 1851. No vessel of any kind
exceeding 2,000 tons had ye=t been built at Sunderland.

It was against this background that Palmer, with his brother
George, took what proved to be the most importani decisioan of the
former's life, when, 2t the end of 1851, they decided to take over
a derelict shipyard at Jarrow and to form a company, Palmer Brothers
& Co.,, to work it. This decision was accompanied by another - that
the yard would design and build the first-ever iron screw collier,
to be built for John Bowes & Partners at a cost of £10,000. The
ship was to carry about 600 tons of coal and to be ballasted with
water under a new patent (1). The collier, appropriately named the
"John Bowes", was launched on 30th June 1852 in a lavish ceremony
at Jarrow at which the Mayors of Newcastle, Gateshead and South
Shields were present., On 29th July she left Newcastle for London
on her maiden voyage; on 3rd August she was back, having delivered
530 tons of coal in only six days. It was a brilliant master-stroke,
revolutionising the sea-borne coal trade almost overnight, for there
was no comparison between a ship which could carry 600 tons of coal
and make about 40 round trips per year and the old sailling ships.
The new ships meant reducdzd costs and guaranteed a regular service.

The "John Bowes" was the only vessel built specifically for the

(1) Although nowhere directly stated, it would seem certain that this
was the first vessel built at the yard,
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Partners, for in August 1852 Palmer formed the "General Iron Screw
Collier Company" (which numbered Hutt smong its Directors), and ships
built at the yard from this date were usually built for the "Screw
Collier Company” (as it was more generally known) and then chartered out.
With Palmer as Managing Director of the company the Partners had first
option on using the ships. Even before the "John -Bowes" had proved such
an outstanding success 2 second ship, the "William Hutt", had been laid
down, a rather larger vessel than her predecessor, and she was launched
in November 1852, After this ceme the "Countess of Strathmore" (lost
at sea in July 1853, but subsequently replaced), the "Marley Hill" and
other ships., Screw colliers may indeed be said. to have really estab-
lished Palmer as one of the great Victorian €ntrepreneurs, for they laid
the basis of what was to become one of the most famous ship-building
yards in the world. Bven the immediate success was obvious, for in the
first year's trading the Screw Collier Company was able to declare a
dividend of 7%

Unfortunately, the impact which the adoption of screw colliers
must have had on the fortunes of John Bowes & Fartners can only be
partially estimated. The firm did not long own the "John Bowes",
for in January 1853 she was sold to the Screw Collier Company (1),
but the benefit gained from the new ships was soon appreciated. In
January 1853% freight rates for coal from Newcastle to London were

6/9 per ton. There followed a considerable improvement in trade;

(1) The "John Bowes", under a different name and several changes of
ownership, lasted until 1934, when she was broken up after
going aground on the coast of Spain,.
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ships became scarce, and in September 1853 no rates were being

quoted less than 13/- per ton. The effect of this was catas-
trophic. Firms either found that they were unable to charter

ships, thus rendering them unable to fulfil contracts, or that,

having obtained ships, the rates demanded brought a disastrous loss
on contracts made when rates were lower. Several colliery owners
went bankrupt during the year and many others had a hard time. The
Partners, however, were able to weather the storm fairly easily, as
the screw colliers not only cut costs but were also chartered under
long-term agreements, rendering the firm free to a considerable extent
from the high rates. Moreover, the screw collier helped the northern
coal-owners to compete on much better terms with other coal-fields
whose transport costs were lower, especially important as the growth
of the railway system opened up new markets.

In the sumer of 1852 the Partners acquired two more collieries,
neither of which was working. Both had belonged to the other large
Joint-stock company in the Durham coal-field, the Northern Coal Mining
Company, and both had been won in 1840. The first was Andrews House,
which lay about half a mile south-west of Marley Hill, and had about
30 coke ovens, and the other was Greencroft Colliery, situated on the
southern part of the same royalty as Pontop Colliery. The Coal
Company was always financially unstable, and after most of its
£500,000 capital had been lost it was placed under a winding-up
order. Andrews House had been abandoned in November 1848, and

Greencroft secems to have suffered a similar fate about the same time:
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its equipment was auctioned on 18th November 1850, Andrews House
was re-o.pened by the Partners in December 1852, though it would
appear that the ovelns there were not rehabilitated. There is no
evidence that Greencroft was ever brought back into production,
though it is listed by Fordyce (1) as owned by the Partners in
1860; presumably its coal was worked from Pontop.

The figures for the Partners' vend of coal amd coke in 1852
are available (2), and a comparison with those of ten years

earlier is quite revealing:

1842 1852
Coal (in tons) - 45,140 - 697,240
Coke (in tons) 1,22, 116,713

These figures on .their own are sufficiently striking, but they
become more.so when it is realised that the total figure for coal
raised in Northumberland & Durham in 1852 was approximately
15_,000,000 tons, which means that the Partners' share of the market
was approximately 4.6%. The effect of Palmer's work could not be
more clearly shown.

The figures for 1852 are also quite interesting when broken

down into individual collieries. The full list is:

(1) FORDYCE, W. ‘"History of Coal & Iron." Ilondon: Sampson Low &
Son, 1860, p.83.

(2) In Strathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office.
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Colliery. Tons.
Marley Hill 192,870
Crookbank 52,227
Burnopfield 78,202
Norwood . 10,971
Medomsley 6,516
Pontop 46,257
Andrews House 1,500

Total for Coking Collieries: 388,543
Killingworth 84,251
Seaton Burn 75,220
Springwell 80,038
Kibblesworth 69,192

Total for Partnership
Collieries and Kibblesworth 308,701 697,24, tons.

These figures should, however, be treated with some reservations.

Of the coking collieries, Medomsley was given w in the spring of
1852 when Pontop came into production; neither Crookbank nor Norwood
were raising coal during the later months of the year as they were
stopped for repairs and sinking, while Andrews House did mot commence
production until the week ending 13th December; so that, excluding
Medomsley, the coking collieries would have produced more if all of
them had been in operation for the whole year, Similarly, the

figures for the Parinership Collieries (as those obtained from Lord

Ravensworth & Partners were generally termed at this time) would have
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been slightly higher if Seaton Burn had not been gtopped for repairs
during the latter half of December.

When one comes to look at the collieries in more detail, other
interesting facts emerge. Of Marley Hill's huge output, approx-
imately two-thirds went to the ovens at Marley Hill and Gateshead,
and a large proportion of the remainder was sent to London for the
Blackwall Ovens, to Grimsby for a new set of ovens (about which very
little is known) lit in June 1852 or to Edinburgh to be handled by
the Partners' office there; very little of the colliery's produce
was sold on the open market, The position is even more marked at
Pontop, where in the last six weeks- of 1852 only two waggons
(excluding those sent for colliery consumption) weré not sent to the
Pontop Ovens out of 2,996 "sold". Thus private customers had to
purchase from Burropfield, where only about 40 waggons per week wentg
to the ovens fecently erected there, or from Crookbank, where coali
was vended by taking it from the heap (1) in the latter half of the
year, Some of this cwal was sent far afield - in the last two months
alone there is record of shipments to Nantes and Genoa.

In turning to the Partnership Collieries, and to Kibblesworth,
which is included with them on the vend sheets, the picture is rather

different. If the last six weeks of the year are a true guide, about

(1) Bvery colliery at this period maintained a heap of gpare coal,
and coal which proved surplus to the needs of the week was
turned over the heap, to be used either when the pit was not
working or the demand exceeded supply.
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half of Killingworth's coal was sold locally and the rest sent to
Iondon, where again the Northumberland &jDurham Coal Company features
prominently. At the other three collieries the amount disposed of
by ship is far greater than the rest of the sales put together, The
Palmers' ship-building yard took a sizeable proportion of Seaton Burn's
output in the latter half of the year, while at Springwell and
Kibblesworth most of the output went to gas companies, notably the
Iondon Gas Company. At Springwell in the last six weeks of the year
it is noticeable that the amount raised was rarely sufficient to meet
the demands of contracts and colliery consumption, and that both here
and at Kibblesworth it was necessary to resort to the heap in most
weeks, Overall it would be imprudent to draw too many general con-
clusions from a rather small sample, but an inecrease in production in
ten years of more than 15% times perhaps speaks for itself,

If these figures are striking, those for coke are even more so,
for here the increase in ten years wasg 29 times, The figures for the

individual sets of ovens are:

Tons. cwts,
Marley Hill 61,823 - 18
South Shore (1) 11,820 - 5
Railway 4,825 - 11
Burnopfield 1,964 - 15
Crookbank 2,757 - 7
Pontop 33,520 - 17

116,712 - 13

(1) These were formerly the "Gateshead" QOvens.
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Again these figures do not represent either the Partners'
total production in 1852 - for the amount produced at the Blackwall,
Lowestoft, Grimsby and the ovens abroad is not included - nor the
maximum capacity of the ovens in Durham, as in the latter half of the
year the Crookbank Ovens were inoperative, while the Burnopfield Ovens
worked only intermittently., Palmer's policy of building ovens to
serve each colliery, rather than bringing all the coking coal to
Marley Hill, should be noted. No date survives for the construction
of the ovens at Crookbank and Burnopfield, though they probably date
from 1850 or 1851. Although 185é is perhaps not a completely
representative year, the lmportance to the Partners of coke manu-
facture is evident. The profit from it was steadily increasing;
Hutt reported that the profit from the Coking Compeany in November
1852 was £830, "the best we have ever had" (1), Unforiunately, the
total profits for this year, whether from the collieries or the ovens,
do not survive.

Thus at the end of 1852 the Partners had some reéson to feel
at least partially satisfied with the way things were going. They
were producing an important proportion of the coal-field's output
of both coal and coke; they controlled to a large extent the ship-
ments of their coal from the Tyne, and through the Northumberland &

Durham Coal Company and the West India Dock Railway they had excellent

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 25th January 1853.
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distributive facilities in London. There remained only the vexed
problem of ithe conveyance of coal and coke from the pits to the Tyne.
In Northumberland this was no problem, as both Killingworth and
Seaton Burn were served by private railways which had staithes on the
Tyne; but in Durham the Partners still had to send their coking coal
and coke down the congested Tanfield branch of the York, Newcastle &
Berwick Railway, and Palmer well knew that the solution lay in his
own hands if his fellow-Partners would agree to it.

Things began to move only a few months after Kibblesworth
Colliery had passed into the Partners' hands, giving them full control
of the railway between Kibblesworth and Jarrow, thus completely
altering the position as it had been at the time of Palmer's earlier
plan of 1847. In the middle of February 1852 he presented what
even Hutt called an ultimatum to the railway company. Unless their
dues were reduced from h/?%d per ton to 3/6d, with 2 similar reduction
on the Pontop & Shields section for coals led from Medomsley and
subsequently from Fontop, he would construct the link between Marley
Hill and Kibblesworth, and send as much of the Partners' coal and
coke as he could down the line for shipment at Jarrow. In order 1o
give added point to this, Greerwell was ordered to survey a possible
line. |

Unfortunately, the railway company sew that this was little
pore than bluff, believing that the Partners' commitments, especially
in conmnection with Killingworth, would not leave them sufficient

capital to build and equip the proposed railway. Indeed, Palmer
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admitted that one of the reasons why he wished to give up
Killingworth was to have money free to build the railway. Ile
appears to have realised that his bluff was called, for he next
offered to reduce the price of coke to the railway compeny if the
latter would reduce the dues as above and also pay the way-leave
charged by Lord Ravensworth (1) This too produced no result.

On top of this blow came another: in any case the link between
Marley Hill and Kibblesworth could not be constructed as Lord
Ravensworth was not willing to grant the Fartners the necessary
way~leave for the line over his land on Blackburn Fell, and so
Palmer's threat was hollow too. In the face of this he was compelled
to climb down, and in ]jecember 1852 he wrote:

" e.rol am sorry to say we are getting on very badly at
the Coking Coll E'Lezﬂ ies., The Railway people appear to
treat us as if we were fast and could not help ourselves.
We must make up our minds to suffer while Iord Ravensworth
liveseso" (2)

But Palmer was not to be beaten as easily as that, and in
January 1853 he suggested a line from Ma.rle'y Hill to Derwenthaugh
(at Swalwell, west of Gateshead), where coal could be shipped at
the staithes used by Lord Bute's colliery at Garesfield. The line

would have followed the course of the famous Main Way, one of the

(1) The Tanfield branch was constructed under way-leave agreements,
mostly made with Lord Ravensworth.

(2) Stratbhmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 1lth December 1852.
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best-known of the eighteenth century waggormways on Tyneside. Fe
appears to have been serious about this, though it had none of the
advantages of linking Marley Hill to Kibblesworth, it would have
been a longer line and probably more expensive, while in any case
lord Ravensworth was an old man and his son was in favour of granting
the Blackburn Fell way-leave, Bowes approved of this new idea in
principle, but felt it would be cheaper to connsct it to the railway
from Garesfield Colliery rather than make an independent line to the
staithes. But Hutt was opposed to gspending the capital needed for
it, and at the end of January Palmer was compelled to drop the idea.,
Then came the news that was least expected = that Liddell had
managed to persuade his father to grant the Blackburn Fell way-leave.
There was no hesitation now; the necessary money was raised from
the Northumberland & Durham District Bank, and in July 1853 work
began, The link was to be 2% miles long, and involved a self-
acting incline from the top of the 550 ft moor known as Birk Eeads
down to Kibblegworth, giving six consecutive rope-worked inclines
between Birk Heads and Springwell Bank Foot, four worked by stationary
engine and two by gravity, with a total distance of just over six
miles (1). The branch from Andrews House Colliery to the Tanfield
branch had to be altered to comnect with the new line, the Tanfield

branch itself being crossed on the level at right-angles. In

(1) All of these inclines are still in operation, and the working
of them has changed only little since 1854,
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addition, in order to cope with the increase in traffic which would
result when the link was opened, the incline from the Pottom of the
.Team Valley up to the closed Mount Moor Colliery, known as the Black
Fell Incline, was to be reconstructed as a2 double line and a more
powerful stationary engine installed to work it. The old Springwell
Staithes at Jarrow were to be abandoned and the line diverted to new
staithes which were to be built. just to the west of Palmer Brothers'
ship-building yard, which was to be connected to the line by a short
branch, and the line which carried the passenger trains from Spring-
well Station to Ellison Street in Jarrow (1) also had to be altered.
Finally, extra waggons and new locomotives would also be needed,
though for the present Palmer determined to try to manage with what
he already had in order to keep down the cost.

A good deal of the work of construction was done by direct
labour, and here the Partners had difficulty both in finding men and
then in obtaining lodgings for them when found., Moreover, the
construction of the line was found to be

", ....a very tough job: instead of a very easy line
as Greenwell represented it the line presents an unbroken

continuation of cutting and embankment from one end to
the other...." (2)

(1) This had been started about 1843, probably by the Brandling
Junction Railway using horses., When the Partners took over
is not recorded.

(2) Strathmore M3SS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: 1letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 25th April 1854.
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Hardly had work begun on this when the Partners decided to
sink a new colliery at Dipton, about 1% miles south~west of Burnop-
field, in the northern pari .of the same royalty on which Pontop was
suibtk, At the same time, therefore, the railway was extended from
Burnopfield to Dipton, and this too involved both cutting and
embankment.

Although the section between Marley Hill and Kibblegworth was
only just over two miles long it took fourteen months to build, but
at last, on 20th September 1854 it was opened. But Palmer's troubles
were far from over. Owing to a severe shortage of waggons it was
only possible at first to run coal from Andrews House over the new
line, and then the staithes at Jarrow were found to be inadequate to
deal with all the expected traffic, and another staith had to be
erected. Moreover, the section between Burnopfield and Dipton remained
closed as Dipton Delight Colliery, as the new pit was called, had not
yet been brought into production. This at length occurred in April
1855, and one senses a feeling of relief when Hutt wrote to Bowes on
15th April that "all our coals are now going down our own line." (1)

Hutt estimated that the loss to the York, Newcastle & Berwick
Railway through the construction of the new line would be about
£20,000 per year. Since Palmer had originally calculated that the

line would reduce ttransport costs by about one-third, it would be

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 15th April 1855,
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reasonable to assume that the line saved the Partners about £6,000
per year in dues. But it did far more than this. It meant that
they were no longer dependent on a capricious railway compeny for
an adeguate supply of waggons, which might or might not be available
when required. It meant too, that the Partners' coal and coke
could be shipped much more quickly than before, for having their own
railway and staithes meant that work could go on through the night
if necessary to ship urgently-needed coal at Jarrow. Furthermore,
the loop into Palmer Brothers' yard at Jarrow was to strengthen the
ties between the two firms. Palmer himself considered the line,
now fifteen miles long, to be of the greatest importance, and this
is well shown in November 1853 when he gave it the imposing title
of "Pontop & Jarrow Railway", a nasme which it was to retain for
nearly eighty years (1). When Mount Moor Colliery was re-opened

in June 1854 and Dipton begen production in April 1855 the railway
was serviﬁg eight collieries.

The largest problem still requiring Palmer's attention during
this period was the condition of Killingworth. Changes in the
management of the colliery had reduced the loss it had been incurring,
and the Partners appear to have tummed the lease of both it and
Seaton Burn into a straightforward purchase when the lease expired

in December 1852. But the position was still serious, and Hutt

(1) The railway was re-named the "Bowes Railway" in 1932, the title
it still holds.
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raised the matter in a letter to Bowes in Decenber 1853:

"osseFirst of all there is the question of Killingworth
Colliery. The time is come when we must take some
decision respecting it. Three courses, as Peel used to
say, are open to us. We may give it up, but as we have
lost by it £18,000 and as it is now paying well, with the
prospect of continuing to do so, one would adopt that
course with great reluctance. 2ndly, we may retain it,
but to do so we must immediately enter upon an expenditure
for rendering more coal available which cannot be less
than £6,000,

The third course is to purchase Gosforth Colliery,
which with the royalty, is offered us at £34,000, or at
£18,000 without the royalty. If this plan be pursued
the expenditure on Killingworth would be unnecessary,
and the two collieries, as you are aware, can be worked
advantageously together.

Nicholas Wood says that Gosforth Colliery is now
making £10,000 a year, and besides paying £2,500 certain
rent has always made £2,000 a year. He is very earnest
about the purchase - so is Palmer.... I should perhaps
add that at the moment Killingworth coals, which sold last
year at 6/6 per ton, are selling at 10/-." (1)

Gosforth Colliery had been won in 1829, and up to 1852 it had
been owned by Rev. R. H Brandling, since when it had been administered
by the Trustees of his estate, Bowes was in favour of the purchase,
and Palmer thought it should .be possible to pay for it out of the
colliery's annual profit. But the negotiations opened in January
1854 faded into obscurity, though not apparently from any lack of
energy on the Partners' part. Nevertheless, Hutt had commented
earlier that the colliery "must, by force of circumstances, fall

eventually into our hands" (2), so that the Partners were probably

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 18th December 1853,

(2) ibid., letter from Hutt to Bowes, 7th January 1852.



-90-

not dismayed by their initial failure.

One of the royalties owned by Lord Ravensworth & fartners
was the large Shipcote royalty in Gateshead, and in 185) the
Partners opened out a landszle colliery (1) on it., Neither the
ownership of the royalty at this time, nor whether this was a new
wimning or the re-opening of old workings, is clear. The colliery
was situated at the top of the High Street in Gateshead, and was
always a small concern,

The Partners® trading position during the veriod between
1846 and 1855 appears to have been good. The years between 1846
and 1850 were a period of generally steady prices, the Partners'
coal averaging 5/6d per ton at South Shields. Similarly, the
price of coke is reported as 9/- at the ovens in both 1846 and
1848, though in January 1849 Pontop coke was only 8/-. Over the
same period the Partners' profits show a steady rise., In the
first half of 1846, when they owned only Marley Hill Colliery and
three sets of ovens, the average profit per month on the colliery
was £225 and on the coking business £333, while there was a small
profit from the establishment at Blackwall; this would give a
. total profit for 1846 of about £7,700. In the second half of 1850

the figures were:

(1) The term given to a colliery which sells all its produce
lo @.:Lly-
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£, S. d.
John Bowes & Partners 187 - 11 - 4
Partnership Collieries 2904 - 18 - 5
Marley Hill Coking Company 813 - 10 - 7

Northumberland & Durham Coal Company 2784 - 12 = 3

Total: £10690 -~ 12 - 3

It is difficult to compare these figures with 1846 in view of the
increase in the number of collieries owned, but the Coking Company's
figure shows a substantial fall for no apparent reason, The total
profit for 1850 appears to have been about £22,000.

The period between 1851 and 1855 shows a quite striking advance.
In 1852 and the first part of 1853 the profit was still quite small,
while there was a loss on operations in london, apparently because
the West India Dock Railway was mot working to full capacity. But
in 1853 the price of Mley Hill Coke reached 13/- per ton at the ovens,
while early in 185} Marley Hill coal was selling at 8/9d per ton at
the staithes, which Hutt describes as 75% higher than the 1853 price.,
In June 1854 gas coals were selling at 7/9d and coking coals at 6/9d.
The effect of this on profits was remarkable, The profit in the half

year ending December 1853 had been:

£,
John Bowes & Partners 5435
Partnership Collieries 53434
Marley Hill Coking Co. 4191

£13,080



-92-

But the profit for the month of March 1854 alone was £6,409, composed

of:

£, s. d.

John Bowes & Partners 2197 - 6 -0
Partnership Collieries 2245 - 7 -3

Marley Hill Coking Co. 1937 - 7 -7

West India Dock Railway 346 - 18 - 6

Total: £6726 - 19 - 4

loss on Blackwall 317 - 8-7

Profit for wonth £6409 - 10 - 9

As in the previous year there is a considerable increase in the
profit from coke, and also a sizeable income from the collieries.
The rate of profit continued at this level for some time; the
total for August and September combined was £12,657, and it seemed
that the total for the year would be about £70,000, or about
£6,000 per month., Hutt's surprise may be imagined when it trans-
pired that the total profit was only £,7,000. No explanation

was forthcoming for this, and the figure is surprising, both in
view of the previous figures and of those for January 1855, which
reveal a profit of £6,025 - 8 -5, The profit for the first half-

year of 1855 was:
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£,
John Bowes & Partners (1) 13,584
Marley Hill Coking Co. 13,805
North London Railway 1,523

Total £28,912

It will be noted that the profit from coking now exceeds that from
the collieries, but overall the level of profit is beginning to show
a decline. But despite these profits Palmer did not declare a
dividend for the Partners, all the money being ploughed back into
the business.

By 1855 the great period of the firm's expansion was over. The
Partners now owned fourteen cllieries, twelve of them in County
Durham (although Greencroft was closed) and two in Northumberland.,
Excluding Greencroft, the Partners' private railways carried the
coal and coke from all but three of their collieries (Pontop, Norwood
and Shipcote), while they controlled a large part of the means of
delivery to a customer. This expansion, achieved in such a short
space of time - only just over six years separate the purchase of
Crookbank and the opening of Dipton - is unmatched in the history of
the coal-field and the industry in general, It was possible only
through the existence of three favourable factors. The first of

these was that, as has been seen, the period between 1847 and 1855

(1) The Partnership collieries are now included with the rest.
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was one of general prosperity in the coal industry producing in

an expanding market, due to the increasing demand for coke from
railways and later iron-works. As a result profits could be ploughed
back for expansion and loans obtained from banks to finance new
purchases., Secondly, the Partners were fortunate that so many of
their neighbours went bankrupt after trying to teke advantage of

the boom between 1836 and 1843, thus enabling the firm to build wp

a compact coking unit, on which their prosperity was based. They
were no less fortunate that the older firm of Lord Ravensworth &
Partners, with whom there were kindred ties, was in decline and
wished to withdraw from the industry. Finally, they had in Palmer
a man who was eager to take advantage of the opportunities presented
to him and had the energy and ability to make the best of them. The
combination of these three factors and the profit they gained from
them placed the Partners among the most powerful coal-owners in the
industry. But the cost was a debt of at least £170,000 - and the

price had still to he paid.
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THE YEARS OF CONSOLIDATION : 1856 - 1865.
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Chapter 3.
The Years of Consolidation : 1856 - 1865,

In 1848, possibly to advance his suit with a French actress
of his acquaintance, the Contessa di Montalbo, Bowes had bought
the lease of the Theatre des Variétes in Paris, The price was
considerable - apparently about one million francs - and financially
it proved Bowes' most disastrous venture. Under the terms of the
lease Bowes had to act as Director, and he not only lost money here
but was also fleeced by others concerned with the theatre, In
August 1854 he had married the Countess, but was unable = and in
part unwilling - to get rid of the Theatre; and to meet its very
heavy costs he drew heavily on the funds of John Bowes & Partners
and the Northumberland & Durham Coal Company. Usually he gave a
short-term promissary note in return for sums up to £1,000, the
terms beiﬁg normally for periods of up to six months. This arrange-
ment seems to have been a private one between Bowes and Palmer, made
with Hytt's knowledge but not with Wood's. Such a policy was, to
say the least, ill-advised, especially at a time when Palmer was
greatly increasing the Partners' debts in his efforts to _expa.nd the
Company, for it left the Companies concerned chronically short of
moneve. The accounts could perhaps bear this burden when times were
good; but the seven fat years were past, now to be succeeded by the
seven lean years, In the former the profits had been ploughed back
in expanding the Company; but the expansion had been so fast that a

huge debt had been run up, and now that the seven lean years were about
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to begin, the Company had no means of meeting payments on Bills
other than out of profits, for there were no reserves. . With Bowes
in seridus financial difficulties, and Hutt too in some financial
embarrassment, the Company could scarcely look forward to the future
with confidence.

At 31st December 1854 the Partners' total debt was
£179,991 - 13s ~ 94, a total which does not include the Partners'
own money loaned to the Company, which, if it were included, would
certainly raise the sum well over the £200,000 mark. Of that sum,
nearly £39,000 was owed to Lord Ravensworth & Partners for the
purchase of Springwell Colliery, and nearly £20,000 more was owed to
the older Partnership for other things. With the debt so big
Palmer made no move to pay off even part of this, relying on Lord
Ravensworth and Bowes not to press for the money. All sorts of
other payments were outstanding, both for collieries and for stock,
and with only a small number of payments being made considerable
interest on the debts was also accruing. |

Nevertheless, at first Palmer did not regard matters as too
serious. During 1855 the sinking was begun of a new colliery at
Byer Moor on the north side of the Pontop & Jarrow Railway opposite
Crookbank Colliery, while in February 1856 a consortium of northern
coal~owners agreed to pay £5,000 per year for certain rights over the
West India Dock Railway, which relieved the Partners, through the
Northumberland & Durham Coall Company, of the constant debt on that

concern, But the signs of the coming storm were already there; in
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the same month Hutt reported that the vend was falling off and that
the national money market was becoming tight. As yet Palmer was
not fully aware of Bowes' difficulties, and there are many letters
in a vein similar to this one of 28th March 1856:
" e.ooMr. Bell (1) telegraphed me yesterday for £1,000
and writes today that you nave short-remitted that amount.
I cannot send it from here and hope that he may be able
to borrow it. I assure you such occurences keep me in
constant misery.... these Bills have much affected our
credit and will in the end stop us unless they can be got
out of the way." (2)

So serious had the position become that it looked as if the
Partnership was going to break up. In March 1856 Hutt offered to
sell his share in the Partnership to Palmer amd leave Gibside so
that Bowes could sell it, but both offers were declined. Two months
later Bowes himself wanted to sell his share in a desperate attempt
to realise some of his assets. Falmer's reply was brief:

" s..el really cannot see how that can be done. It
would take a very long time to arrive at a valuation
and I don't know of anybody likely to take such a business
in hand. I think you will have to abandon that idea." (3)
The fact was that the Partnership was now so large that even in
good times there were few people who could have afforded to purchase

Bowes' share, and in any case such a sale would only have been a

temporary palliative, There was only one solution - to sell the

(1) The Secretary of the Northumberland & Durham Coal Company.

(2) Strathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Palmer to Bowes, 28th March 1856.

(3) ivid., letter from Palmer to Bowes, 12th May 1856.
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Theatre des Varietes and limit his private expenditure, but Bowes
seems to have wished to avoid this if he could.

Meanwhile the financial depression grew worse, and some small
firms began to fail. One such was John Carr & Co. of Wallsend
Iromworks, whom the Partners had supplied with coal and coke over
a considerable period, When they went bankrupt in October 1856,
the Partners, through Palmer's foresight, were the only secured
creditors and so took possession of the works, making them iron
manufacturers in addition to their other activities, Hutt wrote:

", ....There are two furnaces (1), each turning out from
120 - 140 tons of iron per week. The iron costs in
manufacture 58/- or 59/- and it sells for 70/- per ton.
The furnaces teke off the Killingworth small coal and

a good deal of coke. In fact, if we had no debts these
works would be a desireable acquisition in these times,
but we must gell as soon as we cam I am assured we
shall lose nothing by Carr's failure, in fact, from the
prices above a profit will be made." (2)

The Partners did not retain the works long, for within a few
months they were sold to Palmer Brothers & Co. (3). For Palmer
had taken another very important decision - that the iron which his

shipyard needed should be supplied from his own ironworks, the iron

ore coming from his estate in Cleveland., To control an ironworks

(1) Brected in 1854 - 1855,

(2) Strathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Hutt to Bowes, 22nd October 1856,

(3) The furnaces were put out of blast in 1857, and only worked
again between 1859 and 1865.
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at Jarrow he formed a2 new concern called The "Jarrow Iron Company".
The building of two furnaces at Jarrow began in 1856, and two more
were begun in 1857, but the first of these was not put into blast
until July 1858. This was a turning point in the history of John
Bowes, Esq., & Partners, Hitherto their prosperity had been based
on the sale of coke to railways, but about 1857 modifications in

the design of locomotive fireboxes enabled coal to be used, and
thereafter railways used less and less ooke, until by about 1870
this trade was virtually extinct. At the same time, the 1850's
also saw the rapid growth of the iron industry in south Durham,
Teeside and Tyneside, and this provided a new market for coke., To
supply their needs the larger iron companies, such as Bolckow &
Vaughan and what was later to be the Consett Iron Company, began to
acquire their own collieries. Palmer, however, was in a different
position, in that he was Managing Director of a ship-yard which he
wanted to supply with iron. For him to obtain a supply of coking
coal and coke was easy, for the loop from the Pontop & Jérrow Railway
inte his yard meant that an iromworks could be supplied directly from
Marley Hill and the other coking collieries of the Partners. This
new market greatly aided the Fartners in times of changing markets,
but it also had the disadvantage that they were much more at the
mercy of the trade cycles in the iron industry, so that when there was
a depression in the iron trade they would feel the effect almost
imrmediately.

But all this was in the future; a much greater financial crisis
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was approaching. In March 1857 Bowes' financial embarrassments
became so serious thait it seems that he was near bankruptey. As

a result of his inability to meet demands upon him, the Partnership
was severely embarrassed. By the third week in May Palmer, who

had now become Bowes' financial adviser, had lent £9,000 to the

firm. Iong-standing Bills continued to fall due, and with
virtuall&-no money to pay them, Palmer was compelled to keep asking
for them to be renewed. The result was that some creditors received
no money at all; no step was made between 1854 and 1857 to pay off
any of the debt owing for the purchase of Springwell Colliery, and
several times Lord Ravensworth, supported by Wood, whose loyalty

to the older firm was always much stronger than to the Marley Hill
partners, remonstrated strongly with Palmer and Bowes, though somehow
these crises were always surmounted,

The Partners' position was not helped by a dispute which broke
out between them and the former partners of the Northumberland &
Durham Coal Company, of whom Wood was one, whom the Partners had
displaced when they took over full control in 1849, The nature of
the dispute is both complicated and obscure, but it was resolved by
Wood in May 1857 by an arrangement upder which the Partners were to
take upon themselves the debts of the 0ld company - some £52,000 - and
then sue the Victoria Dock Company, who had possession of part of the
Blackwall premises, concerning their agreement with the.new Company
in an attempt to recoup most of the £52,000. It seems that the

Partners had a strong case against the Dock Company, but Palmer was
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strongly critical of Wood's action in committing the Partners to
a considerable extension of their Debt at a time when they could
least afford it and without previously consulting anyone else; Wood,
of course, did very well out of the arrangement. Nevertheless, the
arrangement was ratified, and proceedings started against the Dock
Company. These were prolonged into a semi-sterile arbitration in
which the Dock Company made every attempt to avoid coming to the point,
and while this was going on all the Partners had to show was a greatly-
enlarged debt. As at this time Bowes himself owed the Partners nearly
£10,000 Palmer's position and the future of the Company was exceedingly
weak,

In an attempt to convert some of their property into money and
so relieve the position a little, Palmer in August 1857 opened
negotiations with the ILondon & North Western Railway for the sale of
the West India Dock Railwéxy to them, The railway had never fulfilled
the hopes placed in it, and Palmer considered that the loss to the
Partners of their control of the distribution of their coal in North
iondon was more than offset by the elimination of the railway's annual
loss and the money‘which the sale would bring. Unfortunately, to
do this meant that the 1856 agreement with the northern coal-owners
would have to be cancelled, and the largest of them was the Hetton
Coal Company, of which Wood was a prominent Partner. 1t was just
at this time that Wood discovered that Palmer had been making the
short-term loans to Bowes referred to above, and not only was he

displeased, but he demanded money on his own account in addition to
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the £500 per annum which he received as the Partners' Super-
intendant Viewer, It was also at this time that Bowes made one
of his regular attempts to lev the large Hylton Royalty which he
owned on the south bank of the River Wear near Sunderland. This
task had been assigned to Wood as early as 1837; Palmer (on behalf
of the Partners) and the Harton Coal Company (of which, once again,
Wood was a prominent Partner) were both interested as their royalties
ad joined Hylton, but nothing had been done, Thus in an attempt to
get things moving and so have the chance of receiving some rent,
Bowes asked Palmer to see what he could do to bring the matter to
a conclusion, This brought a strong reaction from Wood:

", ...,Wood said that the Harton Compy would not take

the royalty and we could not. I believe he has been

trifling 211 the time and that he never designed to

teke it or to let any other party do so. I begin to

form a very indifferent opinion of N. W." (1)

. Within a fortnight of the above Palmer and Wood had a more
serious quarrel, at the end of which Palmer refused to have any more
dealings with Wood and asked him to state on what terms he would sell
his share in the Partnership. The crisis came at the beginning of
October 1857+ Palmer and Wood, with Hutt as mediator, met at the

Newcastle office on 2nd October, and there followed another very

stormy meeting, which was renewed when Palmer and Wood met on 3rd.

(1) Sirathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Hutt to Bowes, 1llth September 1857.
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All kinds of violent accusations were made, not always in delicate
language. Wood claimed he had been mis-represented, said he would
resign his situation with regard to the FPartnership and never enter
the office again: nor would he sign any Bills = the others could
see how they would get on without hims For a month it seemed quite
possible that the Partnership would break up, for either personal or
financial reasons. Then the worst came.

During 1857 financial confidence throughout the country hed
continued to weaken and the number of company failures increased,
There followed a run on the banks, with the result that a number
failed in Scotland. ©Palmer feared the worst -~ and he was correct:
in the middle of November 1857 the great Northumberland & Durham
Digtrict Bank announced that it was suspending payment. Totals
running into millions of pounds were both owed by the Bank and owed
to it, and hundreds of people in north-east England were ruined over-
night. There were scenes of pitiful distress in all of the large
towns.

At the outset the Partners were lucky. When the Bank's failure
came Palmer was in London negotiating the sale of the West India Dock
Railway, and he was able immediately to make arrangements with the
Bank of England aml also to obtain part of the sale money for the
railway. But at the end of the month a rumour got about that the
Partners owed the District Bank £200,000, causing considerable damage
to their credit, despite the fact that Palmer ennounced that it was

blatantly untrue, as indeed it was.
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At this crucial moment Wood was removed from the scene because
of a burst blood vessel from which it was feared he would not recover,
and shortly afterwards he found himself owing £20,000 when another
company in which he was involved went bankrupt, The position was
indeed critical., Excluding the Bills given for colliery purchases,
the outstanding Bills amounted to £19,851., Palmer calculated on
receiving another £30,000 for the West India Dock Railway, £15,000
he would advance from Palmer Brothers & Co. on the security of the
Marley Hill lease and certain Bills to the extent of £30,000 could
be "arranged"; but that still left £,5,000 to meet, and this without
the Bills due for colliery purchase. Hutt thought the position -
hopeless, and Bowes began to make preparations to sell all his French
property, But in a time of crisis Palmer was at his best. Hutt
described him as "so cool and collected" (1), and Bowes, on writing
to Palmer for advice, received the following reply:

", eersYou may be sure that although I am bound to look at
matters as a man of business, yet I assure you nothing

shall be done that I can possibly avoid as a private

friend and one sincerely attached to you and wishful at

all times to promote your comfort and happiness and therefore
to consider most anxiously the wishes, happiness and health
of Mrs. Bowes... You ask me what course I propose to take =
it is simply to struggle against every difficulty, to leave
no effort undone. I feel equal to the task, and with a

firm determination I think we shall get through without
dishonouring our Bills." (2)

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 27th November 1857.

(2) ibid., letter from Palmer to Bowes, lst December 1857.
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Somehow Palmer managed to raise a little money and struggle
through January, but towards the end of the month the position
worsened and Palmer began to despair, He had, however, the help
of Wood (now recovered from his illness), who had put aside all the
disagreements to assist in the fight for survival. But in the third
week of January - pay week - Wood wrote:

"essssl fear there is no disguising matters: unless we
can get some money at Marley Hill we shall be in the
Gazette, Palmer and I are doing all we can...." (1)

The result of this was that Bowes came across from France for
the first-recorded formal meeting of the Partners, a meeting - on
28th January 1858 - at which Lord Ravensworth (2) was also present.
The Partners decided to attempt to pay the Bills by raising money
on Bonds = in other words, to convert the greater part of the debt
into a number of debts to individuals who would not immediately
require payment. Iord Ravensworth himself provided some money,
and so did the Earl of Durham. But these sums seemed"only like
straws offered to a drowning man, and the crisis was not long in
coming., On 1lth February Palmer wrote:

", ,...I am quite sure unless I get this sum (£5,000)

from you or Mr. Hutt by Thursday next (15th) I shall
not be able to pay wages and the concern must stop.

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: 1letter
from Wood to Bowes, 24th January 1858,

(2) H.T. Liddell had succeeded his father as 2nd Baron Ravensworth
in 1855.
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It is useless to contend against all the

difficulties.” (1)
But somehow the money was found, and slowly Palmer began to bring
things round, He was helped a little in April by the award of
the arbitrator in the case against the Victoria Dock Company, who
awarded the Northumberland & Durham Coal Company £50,500 damages -
but only a little, as the Dock Company found every conceivable
excuse for rbt paying. Fortunately, the Partners were still
making money., The profits for the half-year to the end of June
1858 were £23,111 and the amount charged to capital for new work
only £3,080, compared with £22,759 and £7,257 in the equivalent
period in 1857, though of course all this money had gone in reducing
the debt. But Jjust as it seemed that the Partners would weather
the storm a further, more serious blow fell. One of the Northumberland
& Durham District Bank's larger creditors was Lord Ravensworth &
Partners, who legally still owned Springwell, Killingworth and éeaton
Burn Collieries as John Bowes & Partners had not completed the pay-
ments for them. In September 1858 the Receiver for the Bank demanded
that Lord Ravensworth & Partners' debt to the Bank be paid; this
of course the older partnership was unable to do because of all the
money owed to them, and so the Receiver threatened to take possession

of the collieries amd sell them. This seemed the final blow:

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Palmer to Bowes, 1llth February 1858,
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", s oMr., Palmer would inform you the Bank people wish
to sell the property. This would, I think, finish
the Marly Hill Co as the Bills for the payment of
Springwell would be set afloat and would have to be
paid, and the Marly Hill Co also owe the Partnership
£16,000 and upwards." (1)
But yet again the Partners survived., The solicitors of Lord
Ravensworth & Partners managed to raise the necessary money and
the crisis passed. Moreover, in December 1858 Palmer was successful
in making a final settlement with the London & North Western Railway
over the sale of the West India Dock Railway, negotiations for which
had been held up throughout the year by complicated legal points.
For this Palmer obtained £46,017, all of which was paid by 3rd
Jamuary 1859, He was very pleased, not only because it relieved
the Partners of a considerable liability, but also because money
was now in hand to meet debts., It was with a great sense of relief
that Palmer wrote to Bowes just before Christimas:
", e Mot devoutly do I pray that next year may greatly
relieve us. I would not have such another as this for
all the Collieries, Coke Ovens, Steamers, etc.,, in the
world. But all is well that ends well.,"“ (2)
The year 1859 began well., At the end of 1858 total debts
(excluding money belonging to the Partners invested in the Company)
amounted to £120,921 - 12 - 4d., a reduction of nearly £,0,000 in

twelve months. A further six weeks completed the process which had

(1) Stratlmore MSS, Pox 3, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Wood to Bowes, 3rd September 1858,

(2) ibid., letter from Palmer to Bowes, 22nd December 1858.
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been begun in January 1858; all the Partners' creditors for
stock and for .all the colliery purchases except those from Lord
Ravensworth & Partners, had been paid off (Lord Ravensworth
himself was paid £15,000). By 19th February 1859 the debts had
been further reduced to £100,000, of which half was owed to Lord
Ravensworth & Partners and the rest to various Bond holders, about
2 dozen in number. By September 1859 the total appears to have
fallen to £44,000, presumsbly because the Victoria Dock Company
had at last paid up, and Hutt estimated thait though all the profit
of the next two years would be nseded to meet the payments due

on these debits, a dividend might be possible theresfter - for indeed
it was very true that nearly twenty years operation in the coal
industry had brought the Partners no monetary dividend.

With the pressure now eased a little, Palmer set about trying
to alleviate the constant drain which Killingworth imposed on them.
The difficulties here have been fully examined earlier and the
remedy - to obtain Gosforth Colliery - remained the same. Negot—
iations were accordingly re~opened with the Trustees of the late
Rev, R. Brandling, and £30,000 (to include the royalty) was offered,
but declined. But after the colliery had again been offered at a
public auction and had again attracted no bidders the Trustees became
rether more amenable, Wood re~opened negotiations, with the result
that in February 1860 Gosforth Colliery passed into the Partners'
hands. The price was £34,000, of which a quarter was to be paid

in casgh at once. This money had to be borrowed, and this was done
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under rather curious terms, for the bank retained all the money
paid for the coal sold over 7/- per ton., The profit from the
colliery was estimated at between £700 and £800 per month, and
as early as July 1860 Hutt was commending its. purchase. It did
indeed help Killingworth to a better position - at no extra cost,
for as the Partners owned the Gosforth royalty there was no out-
stroke rent on coals worked from one royalty at the shaft of its
neighbour.

A similar problem had also arisen in connection with Crookbank
Colliery and the new shaft nearby at Byer Moor, where the sinking
begun in 1855 had been stopped because of the financial crisis.
Crookbank was, as we have seen, a small colliery, sunk only to the
Main Coal seam at 38 fathoms. Byermoor, where sinking had re-
commenced in 1859, had been sunk to the Busty Bank seam at 68 fathoms,
but it was situated on a different royalty from Crookbank, from which
it was separated by a dyke, or geological fault., DMoreover, at this
time it was believed that no further cosl seams existed in this area
below the Busty Bank. The problem was therefore whether to sink
Crookbank to the Busty Bank seam (the Main Coal seem being nearly
exhausted) or to close Crookbank and work the coals from that royalty
from the Byermoor shaft, paying outstroke for the privilige. A
report of January 1860 stated that even if Crookbank were sunk further
the pit would have a life of not more than twenty years, while the
expenditure of equipping Byermoor to work the coal from both royalties

was not a lot greater than the cost of sinking Crookbank., As a
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result the decision was made to lay in Crookbank Colliery and work
2ll the coal from Byermoor when that pit should be ready.

Then a very important discovery was made. In sinking the
Byermoor shaft further in order to locate the Busty Bank seam on
the Crookbank side of the fault, the sinkers came upon a good seam
of coal only four fathoms below the Busty Bank seam. At first it
seemed that this was part of the Busty seam, but in November 1860
the Partnérs were assured that it was the B;ockwell seam, hitherto
unknown in this area, and as a result the whole of their operations
in North-West Durham were considerably enhanced. The list of
"Borings and Sinkings" compiled by the North of ®ngland Institute
of Mining and Mechanical Engineers shows, however, that this new seam
was in fact the Three-Quarter, and that the Brockwell seam, which
was also good coking coal, was found about fourteen fathoms deeper,
which must 'have delighted the Partners even more., Byermoor Colliery
seems to have come into production during the winter of 1860-1861,
Crookbank Colliery ceasing producf.ion at the same time. The Crookbank

site was subsequently cleared and new coke ovens built upon it.

During the spring of 1860 the Partners also opened negotiations
for Felling Colliery, which lay about three miles gast of Gateshead
not far from the Tyne shore, where it had its own staithes. This was
a gas coal colliery whose history stretched back into the eighteenth
céntury and included a horrifying list of explosions. In the late
1850's Messrs. Carr, Potts & Co, had begun to sink a new shaft here,

and at the time that Fordyce was collecting material for his book they
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had spent £20,000 without successfully completing the winning. It
is, perhaps, not surprising in view of this that they wanted - or
possibly were compelled - to sell, for Hutt wrote that "Palmer
expects to conclude on his own terms." (1) Why Palmer was interested
in obtaining the colliéry is not clear, for it was isolated from

the rest of the Partners' collieries. Possibly he just regarded

it as a potentially valuable acquisition to the Partners' gas coal
trade which could be bought for a low price. In August 1860 it
seemed that terms had been agreed, for Huitt wrote to Bowes that:

"+s.sFelling Colliery is ours. It was finally sold
for £22,000, to be spread over three years." (2),

and two months later he added:
", ....the Felling Colliery is at last transferred to us." (3)
But in January 1861 this became:

" esssthe Felling affair makes no progress, tho' Palmer
is still hopeful." (4),

to be followed in February by:

"eesssIt is 25 well we did not contract to purchase
Felling Colliery." (5)

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 3, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Hutt to Bowes, 1llth June 1860,

(2) ivbid., letter from Hutt to Bowes, 18th August 1860,
(3) ibid., letter from Hutt to Bowes, l4th October 1860,

(4) Strathmore MSS, Box 4, Durbam County Record Office: letter
from Hutt to Bowes, 5th Jamuary 1861.

(5) ibid., letter from Hutt to Bowes, 24th February 1861.
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Bxactly what went wrong is mot stated, but the fault does not seem
to have lain on Palmer's side. But as with Gosforth in 1853, it
was not to be the last dealings which the Partners were to have with
Felling Colliery.

Although the coal trade began to improve slowly during 1859
and 1860 the Partners did not feel the full benefit, partly because
the improvement was mot felt in the iron industry. The price of
the Partners' coke was considerably reduced in order to keep both -
the coking collieries and Palmer's blast furnaces at Jarrow in
production. A second reason was the high level of working expenses,
especially at the former Grand Allies' collieries and Kibblesworth.
Here Palmer was almost powerless, as this domain was Wood's amd the
Viewers under him, and here neglect seems to have been the order of
the day, so much so that Southern, the Viewer for Kibblesworth and
Springwell, was dismissed. As a result of all this large sums had
to be spent to remedy the defects and Wood was so far displeased as
to indicate that he might be willing to sell his share in the Partner-
ship, but once again nothing happened. Despite all this, the Erof‘it
for the half-year ending December 1860 was £24,956, which shows an
increase over the figures for 1857 and 1858,

Two other events of importance occurred in 1860. In February
Hutt had accepted office in Palmerston's administration as Vice-
President of the Board of Trade with a seat on the Privy Council,
which oonsiderably relieved his financial difficulties., Then on

5th May the Dowager Countess of Strathmore died. She had never tzken
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an active interest in the Partnership, her contribution being
entirely financial. She bequeathed her share in the firm to Hutt.
With Bowes also having sold the Theatre des Variété;, the two
partners made fewer demands on the firm for short-term loans, though
with bond repayments occurring regularly Palmer was still kept con-
siderably short of funds. By the end of 1860, however, he had man-—
aged to sell the coke ovens at Blackwall and Grimsby, neither of
these being profitable now that the railways which had once been
their main customers had ceased to use coke for their locomot ives.
It was too early to say that the firm could look forward with con-
fidence to a period of prosperity - the depression in the iron trade
continued - but the days of serious financial crisis were over.
Unfortunately, the same could not be said as yet of the managerial
side. The general discontent between Wood and the other three
Partners came to a head in December 1862, Wood asked Palmer for a
short-term loan on 20th December, and on being refused, demanded that
a full meeting of Partners be summoned as soon as possible, as he
would either have as much money advanced as the others or he would
leave the Partnership. Bowes was annoyed, and wrote a fairly sharp
letter to Palmer with instructions that it should be read to Wood.
Wood was furious; he ordered Palmer not to advance any more money
to anyone; he threatened a Chancery action against the others and also
said he held Palmer personally responsible for all the Partnership
debts not agreed to by the Partners at a meeting. Palmer regarded

the whole position as impossible, and said that if Wood remained he
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would give up the management entirely, as he would not be made
liable for any “omissions after working as I have for so long
to keep matters right." (1)

In the event nothing so drastic happened. Cn 30th December
Wood, Palmer and R.P. Philipson, the Partnership's solicitor, met
in Newcastle. As a result Palmer gave up some of his more
detailed managerial duties, and the Partners appointed their first
Secretary, John Vessey Gregory., Very little is known about the
background of this man. He is first mentioned in letters in
January 1852, and at the time of his appointment appears to have
been Palmer's Chief Clerk., His work shows him to have been efficient,
painstaking and thorough, and above all he was very loyal to the
Partnership; in fact, the choice could hardly have fallen on a
better man.

At the same time Wood gave up his superintendence of the
Engineering Department to act purely in a congultative position as
an owner., His position was taken by Cuthbert Berkley, who ,‘ like
Gregory, was to be a devoted servant of the Company for .many years.,
He is first mentioned as Assistant Viewer to Greerwell, whom he
succeeded as Head Viewer of the western group of collieries on
the latter's resignation in April 1854, Thus the management of -
the Partmership was put on a much more efficient footing, to its

congiderable benefit., When the Partners did not meet regularly,

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 4, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Palmer to Bowes, 27th December 1862,
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to have one man as Managing Partner was quite reasonable while it
remained a small concern; but when the concern involved over a
dozen collieries and numerous coke-ovens, and when that man was also
Managing Partner of an extensive ship-building and iron-works it
would seem obvious that a change was imperative. One can only
wonder that it was so long delayed and only occurred then partly

by accident.

' The Partners were mot so fortunate in the men appointed to act
as Secretary to the Northumberland & Durham Coal Company. Matthew
Bell, Secretary from 1849, was dismissed in June 1863 for mis-
appropriating the firm's money, and his successcr, William G. Fepburn,
fled the country in October 1870 after it was discovered that he had
been using the firm's name to discount his owm Bills, His successor,
Roland Gifford, seems to have been more reliable, though a somewhat
shadowy figure.

The year 1863 was also note-worthy in amother direction - it was
the first year in which a dividend was paid. Trade had been very
good during the second half of 1862, and in March 1863 £31,000 stood
to the credit of the Profit and Loss Account. Some debts were still
outstanding, but partly because Wood was in financiel difficulties,
Palmer proposed to divide £20,000 between the Partners. Bowes thought
this was too much, and eventually the sum was fixed at £12,000, which
was divided in April 1843, not apparently according to the proportion
to the share held but according to the needs of =ach Fariner. The

year 186l proved to be a good year - the profits in December were
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£6,600 despite the presence of three "pays" in the month - and
£3,000 was divided., After working for nearly 25 years without
seeing a dividend it must indeed hsve seemed to the Pariners thas
the {ide was at last on tle turn.

It must certainly have seemed so to Eutt, for after a successful
negotiating mission to Vienna in the early months of 1865 he indicated
his desire fo give up the Board of Trade and ask for the Duchy of
Lancaster. Lord John Russell took this as meaning Hutt wished to
retire from the Government (which he did not)} and wishing to bring
Goschen into the Administration, offered Hutt a K. €. B., which after
some hesitation was accepted. But Sir William Hutt's Knighthood was
the only bright thirg on the personal side of the Partrers' lives.

In April 1865 Palmer's wife died, leaving him with two boys aged 14

and 12, a blow from which it took him some time to recover, However,
in July 1865 the shipyard and ironworks at Jarrow were combinsd into

a Limited Company with the tiile of "Palmers Shipbuilding and Iron
Company Ltd" and Palmer as Chairman, which relieved him of a considerable
amount of work.

But the most important event of 1865 did not occur until just
before Christmas. For some time Nicholas Wood had been in failing
health, and by the beginning of December it became obvious that he was
sinking fast. Cn 19th December 1865 he died, at the age of 71, and
was buried at Hetton, where he had lived in the latter years of his
life,

In reviewing Wood's share in the Partnership, it camnot justifiably
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be said that it always shows to his credit. His lovalty, perhaps
naturally, was always stronger towards Lord Ravensworth & Partners
than the "Marly Hill Co.", as he always termed it. His interest
seems always to have been more in the engineering side of mining
rather than in management, and with such a difference in age and
outlook it is not really surprising that he and Palmer often falled
to see eye to eye. Furthermore, there would seem to be some truth
in Hutt's oft-repeated assertion that the engineering side of the
Partnership, under the control of Wood and of which the other Partners
had no specialist knowledge, cost them far more than the £500 paid to
¥cod every year up to 1663. This can only be put down to lack of
time consequent upon the large number of calls won his time. Yet
his presence as a Partner undoubiedly added prestige to the partner-
ship, especially in the early days, while his last major part in the
direction of the Fartnership resulted irn the re-modelling of the
management to deal more efficiently with changed circumstances.
Nicholas Wood was one of the great men of industry in the first half
of the nineteenth century. It would not be unjust to cormment that
his picneering work on railways and his contribution to the coal
industry and its trade will be remembered more than his role as a

coal owners
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Chapter 4.
The years of slower expansion : 1866 - 1885,

The first problem after the death of Nicholas Wood was to
decide the fate of his share in the Partnership. Under the terms
of Wood's will the share passed to his eldest son, Collingwood Wood,
sometime Viewer of Killingworth and now a consultant engineer. TWood
accepted Bowes' invitation to take on his father's o0ld post of Check-
viewer to lord Ravengworth & Partners (1), but as a Partner Palmer
saw him as a probable interfering presence and was determined to
"get rid of him entirely." (2). For his part Wood was not umwilling
to sell, and in April 1866 he asked for £65,000, Palmer's reaction
was brusque:

", e.v.I told him that if he made an offer at £50,000 I
would inform you about it." (3)

But at least Wood was willing to sell, and as a result Bowes and
Palmer came to an agreement to share the purchase price equally.

Terms were finally agreed in May 1866, The purchase price is believed
to have been £55,000; the first payment of £20,000 was to be made
almost immediately and the transaction was to be completed in July

1868, The first £15,000 had to be borrowed from the Partners'

(1) He was succeeded in September 1867 by John Daglish, formerly Head
Viewer to the Marquis of ILondonderry, and an old pupil of Nicholas
Wood. Daglish also became Bowes' own Mining Agent.

(2) strathmore MSS, Box 4, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 27th January 1866.

(3) ibid., letter from Palmer to Bowes, 28th April 1866,
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bankers, lambton & Co.,, but the other instalments were met as they
fell due.

At the same time there was a re-arrangement of shares between
the Partners, How exactly this was done is not recorded, but it
gave each Partner a one-third share in both John Bowes, Bsq., &
Partners and in the Marley Hill Coking Company. It would not
appear that any new Partnership agreement was drawn up to confirm
this new arrangement.

The second half of the 1860's was a period of general prosperity
for the Partnership. Receipts fluctuated. The profit in January
1867 was £6,931land by the end of the year profits had risen to
average £9,000 per month, Despite this there was an unaccountable
loss of £3,600 in May 1868, and thereafter, although a profit was
always recorded, trade remained very quiet, due mainly to a recession
in the iron trade.

Meanwhile, Palmer's thoughts turnsd once again to expansion.
West of and adjoining the Seaton Burn Royalty was Dinnington Royalty.
About 1866 the Partners took a lease of this, and in the following
year it was decided to sink a collierj on it at an estimated cost of
£30,681 in the anticipation that the colliery would make an important
contriovution to the steam coal trade, now growing in importance as
more steam~driven ships were built. The High Main seam was found
at 35 fathoms in November 1869, and as it proved good household coal
and was 4ft 10ins thick, Palmer ordered a second shaft to be sunk to

work it. The original shﬁft was continued down to the Low Main seam
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at 99 fathoms, and the colliery seems to have commenced production
in the latter half of 1870 or the early part of 1871,

An opportunity for expansion also presented itself in County
Durham. In Pebruary 1868 Palmer was approached by Mr. George
Elliot, the Managing Director of the largegt of the South Wales
colliery companies, the Powell Duffryn Steam Coal Company, and
also a coal owner in the North of England. Elliot .suggested that
the Partners might be interested in purchasing Wardley Colliery
from him and exchange about 350 acres of his Felling Royalty and
Jjoin it to the Wardley Royalty for a similar acreage of the Partners'
Hylton Royalty, which the Partners had eventually leased from Bowes
but had not developed; the piece of the Hylton Royalty which he
would receive Elliot proposed to work from his colliery at Usworth,
which he owned jointly with a partner named John Jonassohn.

Wardley Colliery was not a colliery in the true sense, but
consisted of two shafts about 50 fathoms deep, on which work had been
commenced in 1847 but which had been abandoned about ten years later,
since when the site had lain derelict. It lay only about 100 yards
from the Pontop & Jarrow Railway about half way between Springwell
Bank Foot and Jarrow., Palmer was strongly in favour of purchasing
it, believing that the remainder of the Hylton Royalty could be worked
from it - a view subsequently disproved - and that a useful proportion
of the Springwell coal could be worked from it. Its proximity to the
Railway would also mean low transport costs to Jarrow. Hutt was not

so enthusiastic, believing that the Partners would be better advised
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to spend. the money which would be needed to complete the Wardley
winning on sinking a shaft on the Hylton Royalty, which consisted

of 2,000 acres of coal, though of admittedly unproven quality, whereas
Wardley's enlarged royalty would be only 700 acres. He also objected
on the grounds that the expense would sacrifice present profit for
some indeterminate future advantage from which he was unlikely to
derive much benefit. But Palmer prevailed, and in April 1868 Wardley
Colliery passed into the Partners' possession for £36,000, It was
estimated that a further £27,26)4 would be needed to complete the
winning and provide the necessary pitmen's houses. The colliery
began production in the summer of 1871, a branch of the Railway having
been laid to it, and was indeed to prove the valuable.vapisition
which Palmer forecast, though not quite at the level of 1000 tons

per day of which he rather rashly spoke at one stage.

But trade at this time was still depressed, and during this
period two of the Partners' collieries were temporarily laid in -
Norwood and Dipton, the railway to the latter having been abandoned.

At this point, before the great upheavals of 1871 - 1873, a
portion of a letter from Gregory to Bowes written in January 1870
is well worth quoting, as it gives an excellent review of the Partners'
trade at this time and shows its distribution:

", ss.sWe have only two large contracts for coals, viz.,
1. The London Gas Co., = 70 - 80,000 tons, of which
55,000 are taken up to this date and the period for the

remainder expires April 30. Price 13/3 delivered,
including all expenses to their works at Nine Elms.
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2. Stephenson, Clarke & Co (1) - 200,000 tons @ 6/-
less 2%%, of which above 70,000 have been taken and the
time for the remainder extends to March of next year.

For coke we have several contracts with various
Iron Works in West Cumberland.

The No [rth] Eastern Railway contract has mot been
renewed. They are taking (and very slowly) the arrears
of a former one.

We have a contract for coke with Palmers & Co (2)
£till 31 Dec next at 10/6 net, We have no written contract
at present with that Co for coals and I think it would be
desirable to make one, so as to secure ourselves against
losing any portion of their large consumption which is
of great importance to us. This I expect will shortly be
a question for discussion, but our present arrangement and
prices will go on till June 30 at least. They are a very
fair scale of prices for different sorts and have not been
substantially altered either in 1868 or 1869.

For export our contract engagements for either coals or
coke are comparatively trifling. The trade is mostly procured
from day to day at best obtainable prices." (3)

Gregory did not exaggerate the value of the importance of the trade

with Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Company, as elsewhere (4) he mentions

thet the coal and coke sold to them in 1869 brought the Partners

nearly £80,000. Moreover, the Partners were in a very good bargaining

position as they held 2,000 of the Iron Company's shares, which had

been handed in September 1867 by Palmer to Bowes and Hutt on behalf

of the Partners in partial payment of a debt of £00,000 incurred by

(1)
(2)
(3)

(&)

This firm was the Partners' coal factors and had been so for some
This is the abbreviation normally used in the letters to denote
Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Co. Ltd.

Strathmore MSS, Box 4, Durham County Record Office: letter. from
Gregory to Bowes, 13th January 1870,

ibid., letter from Gregory to Bowes, 24th February 1870.
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the Jarrow Iron Company in failing to pay for coal sold to it by

the Partners; the Partrers received regular dividends on these
shares, thus boosting their own profit. Perhaps the most interesting
fact which emerges from the above is the small and irregular amount

of export trade, especielly in view of former years., This trade
obviously underwent severe fluctuation, for within a few years trade
is mentioned with Spain, Guadeloupe and the West Indies.

But in January 1872 Bowes and Hutt received an astonishing
proposal from Palmer - nothing less than that the concern should be
sold to a limited company promoted by Palmer, who would presumsbly
be its chairman., Palmer's motives for this are obscure, and he
never explained them to Bowes, but from the way in which subsequent
negotiations were conducted it is difficult to absolve Palmer from
the charge of atfempting to make himgelf the most powerful industrialist
in the North~Bast. He could only have emerged from such a situation
very well. Fe would have received a considerable sum for His share
in the Partnership and still remain as Chairman of the company owning
them, leaving his actual position virtually unchanged, Hig distinct
lack of enthusiasm for any proposal that the conceén might be sold to
some other company in which he had no interest does not help his case,
nor does his determination to fight for the proposal, even in an
emasculated form, right to the bitter end.

But at the outset things looked fairly favourablé. Bowes was
initially opposed to the idea, but Hutt, now 71, saw it as a means of

enjoying a very comfortable retirement. He also feared what would
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happen to the Partnership if Palmer should die or retire, believing
that he could not be effectively replaced. Thus when Palmer raised
the matter again in February 1872 Hutt was prepared to agree, provided
suitable terms could be arranged. Palmer suggested that if £,000,000
were satisfactory it might be offered, but Hutt was inclined to stand
out for £1,200,000. That such figures should be under discussion
illustrates well the size of the Partnership and the position which
it held in the coal trade at that time.

Unfortunately for Palmer, it was at this point that things first
began to depart from plan. During the winter of 1871-1872 there
was a tremendous upsurge in the iron trade, and consequently a sharp
rise in the demard for coal. So sharp was the rise amd so high the
demand that coal owners were unable to cope, and there commenced what
has been termed the "coal famine". Pfices rose rapidly, and as they
did so did the value of colliery property, investors see;'l.ng collieries.
as an investment likely to bring a quick return; as early as March
1872 Hutt reported that a colliery nesr Consett which had cost only
£2,000 to sink had changed hands for £00,000. Under these
conditions Hutt looked again at the proposed price of £1,000,000 and
found it too low. |

At the same time Palmer decided to perform the difficult operation
of changing horses in mid-stream and made a new proposal - that the
concern should be so0ld, not to a new company of his promtion, but to
Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Company. This was to prove a fatal move.

Hutt was still disposed to sell, but he noted that the Iron Company's
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shares, which Palmer had offered in part payment for the collieries,
were only at 35 premium, much lower than other Durham iron companies
such as Consett and Bolckow Vaughan, and Hutt warned Bowes that with
this new proposazl they stood in a very different position from Falmer.
Moreover, Palmer had made the new proposal without consulting the
Iron Company's Directors, some of whom he found to be opposed to the
idea, and in May 1872 the Iron Company rejected the idea, though
Palmer was sufficiently confident to say to Hutt that they would
return to it shortly. He then wrote a formal letter to the Iron
Company withdrawing the proposal, while at the same time he tried

to whip uwp support for it - with such success that in the same letter
in which he "informed Bowes .of the withdrawal he enclosed a letter
from the Iron Company offering tovre-qpen negotiations. But Bowes
wrote to the Iron Company saying that he felt the Partners had been
badly treated, and in August 1872 matters were abandoned for the
second time.

But Palmer did mot give up so easily as that. In October he got
negotiations re-opened yet again, and in December both sides appointed
a Valuer., It was no understatement when Hutt wrote in that month
"Palmer is evidently very desirous of the amalgamation® (1), but_
circumstances now were very different from what they had been in

January and were definitely unfavourable to Palmer. On the one hand,

(1) Strathmre MSS, Box 4, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 24th December 1872,
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the "famine" continued, and the average selling price of coal, which had
stood at 5/2%d per ton in December 1871, reached 15/10%d per ton in
January 1873 (1), a level it was not to reach again until after the First
World War, and as a result the figure of £,000,000 originally suggested
was certain to be too low; while on the other hand, for some completely
unaccountable reason in view of the great prosperity in the iron trade,
Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Company's shares fell steadily on the market
from the 3% premium of March 1872 to 4 or 5 discount in May 1873, to the
great disquiet of Hutt, who urged on Bowes the greatest prudence in all
negotiations.,

In June 1873 Forster, the Partners' valuer, presented his report;
and this must have considerably surprised the Partners, as it made all
three of them millionaires. It must be admitted that the valuation was
carried out at an abnormal period and that the figures are consequently

inflated, but Forster's detailed analysis is interesting:

"Northumberland Collieries, etc., £ s d
Seaton Burn and Dinnington 34,065 10 3
Killingworth _ 125,694 5 0
Benton Moor Royalty (2) 40,431 6 0
Gosforth 72,302 1 11

Brunton & Shields and Killingworth Railways (2) 98,474 16 9

(1) as quoted in the Accountants Certificates of the Durham Coal Owners
Association, Vol. I.

(2) The purchase of the Benton Moor Royalty and the Brunton & Shields
Railway is discussed below.
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Durham Collieries, etc., £ s d
Wardley 454,010 18 7
Shipcote and Norwood 157,79 3 6
Hylton Royalty 107,213 1, O
Springwell and Mount Moor 301,076 12 6
Kibblesworth 228,748 6 O
Andrews House 168,664 16 8
Byermoor 255,948 5 11
Marley Hill 360,783 15 O
Brickworks (1) 24,558 9 9
Pontop and Dipton 249,371 15 5
Greencroft Royalty 74,829 16 O
Burnopfield 316,453 10 9
Pontop & Jarrow Railway 187,462 3 0

£3,567,86% 7 0 (2)
This valuation is quite interesting for a number of reasons other than
its total figure» It represents Wardley as the most valuable single
colliery owned by the Partners, higher even than Marley Hill, It
shows too the relative value of certain types of colliery, for it may
be fairly noted that the Household coal collieries of Killingworth and

Gosforth have the lowest individual value. Moreover, it shows to some

(1) At Marley Hill and Burnopfield,

(2) Strathmore MSS, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 1lith June 1873,
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degree the inflation in the value of colliery pmperty between 1871
and 1873, for when Palmer renswed the Hylton lease in 1871 the value
of the royalty then was estimated at only £1,000 because it was
believed to contain poor quality coal greatly fragmented by dykes
and consequently expensive to work, whereas now its value was listed
at £07,213.

The receipt of this valuation immediately killed stone dead any
idea of complete amalgamation between the Partners and the Iron
Company, for the latter could not offer that price, nor would the
Partners reduce the valuation to accomodate them. It was claimed
that the Iron Company's valuation was eight times lower than
Forster's, but that did not alter the position. Palmer wrote (1)
that he considered Forster's valuation "excessive", a curious word to
use when he stood to benefit more the higher it was.

Palmer's next move was to try to revive the original idea of
forming a limited coumpany "able and willing to purchase the whole
property at once®™ (2), but this obtained no financial support in the
City. He was therefore compelled to fall back on a smaller proposal -
that the Iron Company should purchase Pontop Colliery and the adjoining
Greencroft Royalty., Here again the problem was one of valuation.

Hutt was willing to see Pontop and Greencroft sold, at least at first,

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 21lst August 1873.

(2) ibid., letter from Hutt to Bowes, 1li4th June 1873.
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but wanted £250,000, though after some pressure agreed to £200,000,
The proposed terms of sale were, to say the least, rather surprising,
for on 1lst July 1873 Palmer sent the following to Bowes:
"John Bowes & P¥S to make line from Dipton to Pontop and
carry coals for 20 years @ 1/8 pler] ton for coals and
1/9 pler] ton for coke, to Jarrow. J. Bowes & PTS to
complete the present contract over 2 years and to purchase
the produce of Pontop Ovens and Colliery at 23/- pler] ton at
ovens for first year, 18/- for second year. Coalsg = for
first year 13/6 pler] ton armd for second year 10/6.
Purchase price £200,000 - payment over three years for
promissory notes falling due every six months." (1)

Thus the Partners were not to be offered a straight cash sale,
even with promissory notes, for the £200,000 was to be whittled down
in several ways. To extend the Pontop & Jarrow Railway to Pontop
Colliery had been proposed in 1863, but although only a section just
over &éne mile long it would have involved a gradient of 1 in 8 as
well as two lengths of 1 in 30, and so a stationary engine would have
been inevitable, and it was probably for this reason that nothing came
of the idea. To build it now and provide the extra waggons which
would be needed, in addition to one or two extra locomotives (none had
been purchased since 1866), would have considerably reduced the purchase
money., Yet despite this Palmer was proposing that the Partners should
continue a contract with the Iron Company which he himself admitted

soon after was unfavourable to the Partrners, who should also purchase

from the Iron Company "the produce of Pontop Ovens and Colliery" at

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: included
with letter from Hutt to Bowes, 1lst July 1873.
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3/- per ton more than they were then selling it to the Iron Company.
In the event these objections were not to count, for the Iron
Company asked their valuer to make a new assessment of the value of
Pontop and Greencroft, and on receiving this offered little more than
£150,000 for them, which the Partners, including Palmer, refused to
consider. Thus after so many monthg of proposals and counter-’
proposals, or “palavér", as Hutt termed it, everything was back to
square one, If Palmer was disappointed, as he must have been, it
is not shown in his letters. By this time Hutt was indifferent to
the whole idea, while Bowes was msking excellent progress with the
aid of the Partnership dividends in building the "John and Josephine
Bowes Museum and Park" at Barnard Castle, where he and his wife intended
to house their lafge collection of paintings and antiques. In
addition he was working out his own ideas for the future of the firm,
As we have seen, the "coal famine" began about the beginning of
1872. The rise in prices was rapid; Gregory repofted increases of
100% in some cases as early as March 1872, though he does not quote
' firms or examples., The Partners' profit in November 1871 would have
been £6,800, about the same monthly average as for some years
previously, though the figure was actually raised to £8,100 through the
receipt of some arrears of payment. By contrast, the figure for
October 1872 was £30,784, and as a result there is the unusual picture
of Palmer asking Bowes on lst October whether he would like £5,000
and then offering him-another £5,000 within another 21 days = and this

after a dividend of £0,000 each had been agreed on for the first half-
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year! Palmer was not slow to take advantage of this unlooked~for
prosperity. The few oufstanding debis were paid off, and then he
began to thing about further expansion. In July 1872 the Partners
purchased the Benton Moor Royalty, which adjoined Killingworth, and
began to make plans to sink a new colliery on it, though not until
the Dinnington and Wardley sinkings were completed. Preparations
were set in hand for sinking a colliery on the long-neglected Hylton
Royalty., Dipton and Norwood Collieries were opened out again, the
former recommencing production in April 1873 and the latter at the
end of the year, On the coking side the sale of the Dublin and
Belfast Ovens was finally concluded in October 1375; so that the
Partners now owned no ovens outside County Durham.

Undoubtedly the most important purchzse of 1872 was that of the
Brunton & Shields Railway in July. This was the name given to a
privately-owned railway which conveyed coal from Dinnington, Seaton
Burn and Burradon Collieries down to the North Docks at Percy Main,
on the River Tyne. It was built in 1826 ard consisted of both
inclines and locomotive-worked sections, with a total length of
about 7% miles. As it was in private hands, the Partners had to
pay dues on all coal carried, as did the owners of Burradon. Palmer,
believing that it was clearly in the interest of t{the Partners to own
the line, opened negotiations and completed the purchase before Hutt
and Bowes knew anything of it., The price was £23,000, and Palmer

added, in a letter to Hutt,
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", esesl hope you will approve the purchase, as it adds
value to our Northern Collieries by uniting them by our
own railway system and it should reduce the cost of working
the Killingworth Railway. We will take possession at once.
Of course, having all the waggons to work together will
greatly facilitate our operations..." (1)

and he anticipated that the line would be paid for by the saving

in dues and the dues charged for Burradon coal., Shortly after-

wards a link with the Killingworth Railway was constructed, so that

the two railways could be worked as one, with a resultant increase

in efficiency and economy.

But this sudden prosperity for the coal owners also brought
trouble with its The first miners' union was formed at Wearmouth
Colliery in Sunderland in 1869, and with the coal trade doing so well
the men's demands increased., DBetween April 1871 and April 1872
wages rose by an average of about 13%, though at the Partners' coll-
ieries the increase was between 16 and 18%, Small strikes erupted
everywhez':'e , and Gregory's complaint that the Partners were not receiving
the full benefit of the increased prices because of a fall in output
must have been echoed by most coal owners, though his words read
strangely when one sees that the output figure. for the Partners'

Durham collieries rose from 94,040 tons in 1871 to 947,631 tons in

1872, though it did fall below 900,000 tons in 1873 (2).

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 4, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Hutt, 2nd July 1872, a copy of which was enclosed in a
letter from Gregory to Bowes of the same date,

(2) Statistical Returns of the Durham Coal Owners Association, Durham
County Record Office: Vol. Nos. 18 (1871), 19 (1872) and 51 (1873).



-135_

Faced with this unrest among their workmen the owners also felt

the need for some association, and following the success of the
"Steam Collieries Defence Association" in Northumberland, Palmer took
the initiative in attempting to form a similar organisation in Durham,
On 15th February 1872 the inaugural meeting of the "Durham Coal
Owners' Associgtion" was held inlNewcastle, with Palmer in the chair,
and John Bowes, Esq., & Partners the largest firm represented. It
was specifically formed as a protection against the workmen. One of
its main rules established that any claim for an increase in wages by
the men should be dealt with, not by the owners of the bolliery con-
cerned, but by the Associafion, whose decision would be binding. In
addition, in the event of a strike, the Association would reimburse
the loss incurred by the owners. It was hoped that:

",eess & large and powerful association will be the result;

for the demands of the men are so unreasonable that such

an association is absolutely necessary to deal with them.™ (1)
Despite the formation of the Association, further wage rises of |
between 10 and 15% were granted in July 1872, but thereafter the
situation became a little calmer,

However, the wide-spread belief that the coal owners would do

nothing for their workmen unless forced cannot honestly be said to
be true of the Partners. It is true that they received large dividends
during 1872-1874, and also that part of their profits was spent in
expanding their business. But all of the Partners realised that this

prosperity would not last and that the opportunity should be taken to

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 4, Durham County Record Office: Iletter from
Gregory to Bowes, 16th February 1872.
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carry out a vast capital works programme. This was inaugurated on 23rd
August 1872 at the half-yearly meeting of Partners, which had been cus-
tomary since at least September 1867, (Gregory taking the minutes, and
on the occasions when Bowes was not present the meeting was treated as
formal if he approved of the minutes). Some of the outlay went on mod-
ernising the collieries and opening up Dipton and Norwood. A good deal
more was allocated to constructing a‘brickworks at Byermoor, whers new
coke ovens were also to be erected. A further sum went towards the
purchases above-mentioned. But a considerable amount was allocated
for building new pitmen's houses or modernising old ones. Three hundred
houses were started at once between Killingworth and Benton Moor, and mod-
ernisation started at the former place. In Durham houses were allocated
to ¥ardley, Kibblesworth and Andrews House, and duriné the next twelve
months £5,000 was allocated for houses at Gosforth, Benton Moor, Seatoﬁ
Burn, Springwell, Andrews House, Byermoor, Burnoofield, Dipton, Wardley
and the proposed new winning at Hylton. As Palmer put it in December
1873, when the "famine" was almost at an end,

", vss. No doubt the trade will show a great reaction: it

is better, however, to have our concerns set right before”
it comes so as to carry on without loss at any of them." (1)

In the half-yearly meeting of 4th October 1873 an expenditure of
£175,000 was proposed, though it seems that subsequently this figure

wag somewhat reduced, Hutt regretted that the large experditure

(1) Stratimore MSS, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: .letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 3rd December 1873.
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would reduce the ampunt available for Dividend, but appreciated

its value:

"sssss The large outlay we have made and are making for
this extension is contrary to the policy to which I as

an individual am inclined, but there is no doubt that

in relation to a future which I may not see the extension

is judicious.™ (l)

Such outlay would not have been possible without a ﬁery mach
increased income, and this the "famine™ gave them. The profit on
the second half of 1872 was £160,000, which probably means that the -
total profit for the year was in the region of £275,000. The
figure for the first half of 1873 was £169,000 and the figure for
the second half about £150,000, so that in two years the Partners
amassed a total profit of about £600,000. One can easily see why
the Partners felt able to give themselves a dividend of £30,000 each
on the first-half year of 1873.

As Hutt said, the time had indeed come when the Partners should
look to the future. For it was now an ageing Partnership. Hutt had
decided to retire from Parliameni at the next General Election., At
the end of 1873, when he was 72, he wrote to Bowes:

"eeess I am, as Othello says, declining in the vale of
years, and however vivacious now, must soon be below the 7
horizon." (2) J

He had remarried in 1861, and in 1873 finally gave up his tenancy of

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 4, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 25th August 1872.

(2) Stratimore MSS, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 26th December 1873.
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Gibside to divide his time between a London house in Grosvenor Square
and a large house on the Isle of Wight, his birthplace. Bowes was
now 62, not in the best of health, and soon to suffer a grevious loss
in the death of "Madame", Palmer was now 51, and in 1874 was to
enter Parliament as the Liberal member for North Durham. For him
the future was still bright; but both Hutt and Bowes %ere childless
and had thus to think about the disposal of their share in the
Partnership in the event of their deaths. Both realised that the
future of the Partnership's holdings lay with the Palmer family, and
at the meeting of 23rd August 1872 this question was raised in
connection with Palmer's second son, Alfred, who was then 18. Hutt
reported:
" ssss You will see that young Palmer is to be a sort of
Vice-Roy in the O0ffice, with a salary of £500. I had some
private conversation with Gregory about this new arrangement
and I found (for I believe he spoke honestly) that he
thought well of it. Young Palmer is an active, intelligent
and well-conducted young fellow..." (1)
Alfred Palmer was to play an important part in the future of the
Partnership.
But the question of the disposal of shares still remained. Hutt
determined to leave his share to his wife after his death, but Bowes
had different ideas about hi; portion. Immediately after the fruitless

negotiations with Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Co. Ltd, had come to an

ernd he began discussions with Hutt with a view to converting all his

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 4, Durham County Record Office: Iletter from
Hutt to Bowes, 25th August 1872.
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Colliery property into real estate. It seems from a letter of

Hutt's dated 4th October 1873 that he proposed to bequeath the

proceeds of his interest in the Partnership to a charity, and with
these two aims in mind he proposed thet the Partnership should be
converted into a Joint-stock company. Unfortunately Bowes' property
was still subject to the requirements of the 10th Earl of Strathmore's
will, and it transpired that there was already an important decision

of Chancery against Bowes adopiing the course that he wished. Further-
more, when the scheme was put to Palmer he was found to be strongly
againgt it - rather curiously, in view of his attitude of 1871-1873.
Hutt believed that he could be outvoted on the question of its adoption,
although this was not a desirable course to follow.

Nevertheless Hutt and Bowes proceeded with the plan, with Palmer
now on the defensive. . Both of the older men wished to convert the
Eartnership to a limited company in such a way that the essential
management was left undisturbed, and this does not seem to have been
purely to mllify Palmer. To undertake the conversion at all involved
an increase in the number of Partners to seven, and here was the first
rub. Hﬁtt proposed his brother General George Hutt, and thought
Palmer might be willing for one or two of his sons to Join, but the
whole thing was very nebulous. Palmer, on the other hand, seemed to .-
think that he had been betrayed by the others. Hutt wrote in March
1874 that Palmer had written to him:

",v..s I don't like the business at all. I don't think it
should be forced on me in this manner, knowing how I have

devoted my life and energies to the concern and what has
been the result."
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and added:

"+.s.. He intimates - I thought he did once in conversation -
his own disposition %o draw out of the Partnership." (1)

The threat of retirement - for it was only a threat - shows how
deeply Palmer opposed the plan, and yet nowhere are his objections
stated, and it is very difficult to decide what they might have been.
Powes and Hutt had to look to the future, and Falmer musti have apprec-
isted this. Yet he first asked Rowes if he was willing to sell his
share in the Partnership, and on being refused he relapsed into a
general attitude of ron co-operation, hardly even attending to his
duties as Managing Partner.

Nevertheless the plan was brought to a head in March 1875. The
position was summarised by Cregory as follows:

"essss I have been with ¥Mr. Philipson (2) today going through
the Articles of Association, etec, of the new Company, and

he will, in a few days, after he has revised them, return
them to Mr. Western. (3)

Mr. Western has put the shares and purchase money
partly in accordance with the scheme submitted to the last
meeting of Partners, without noticing all the amendments of
that scheme which the meeting adopted.... You have a copy

of the minute, but it has not yet been signed.. It gives
the scheme as follows:

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Hutt to Bowes, 9th March 187i.

(2) R.P. Philipson was Solicitor toc John Bowes, Esq., & Partners.
(3) E. Y. and G. A. Western were John Bowes'! london solicitors.

BE. Y. Western in fact cornducted Bowes' affairs, Western's
brother only doing so during his absence.



-141~

shares
3,000  £500 fully paid up £1,500,000
996  £125 paid =--- 124,500

making the purchase money £ ,624,500

L £125 to be paid and allotted
to make the reguired number

of shareholders 500

4,000 £1,625,000
leaving unsettled liability of 1,000

shares at £375 575,000

£2,000,000

Mr. Western has included "bond debts" in the things
to be transferred to the new Company. If this be done
the liabilities must zlso be discharged by the new company
and that would be by far the simplest plan and would (¥r.
Philipson says) be perfectly legal. It would save
valuations, inventories and a deal of latour., The new
Comp |anly would under this plan take on all the balance of
D [ebito] and Orledito] as they stand in the books at the
date of transfer (excepting shares in Palmers & Co (1) and
except Profit and loss in the FPartners' individual a/cs).

Mr. Philipson desires me to mention to you and Nr.
Palmer that all the leases from you to the firm ought to be
completed and signed before the new Company can be
formed." (2)

This letter has been extensively guoted because it shows the
advanced stage which the arrangements had reached in March 1875. As
may be seen, the change was planned to meke as little difference as
possible, for Bowes, Hutt amd Palmer were to hold all but four of the
shares at a value of £,624,000, while the new Partners were to have

only one £125 share each. Perhaps the other striking point is that

(1} The shares in Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Co. Ltd., were in the
name of Bowes and Eutt as irdividuals on behalf of the Partners.

(2) sStrathmore MSS, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: letter
from Gregory to Bowes, 12th March 1875. :
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the concern was now valued at £2,000,000 compared with the £3,844,000
of the palmy days of only two years previously.

But with this stage matters stopped; after March 1575 we hear
no more of the scheme. This is most surprising, the more so in view
of the fact that Bowes especially was in such earnest about it. Nor
does it seem likely that the reason for its discontinuence is that
Bowes and Hutt gave way to Palmer at the last minute. It seems more
likely that the true explanation may be found in the growing depression
in the coal trade. The "famine" began to come to an end slowly during
the latter part of 1873, though even in the first half of 1874 the
Partners, despite their large programme of capital expenditure, were
s£till eble to declare a dividend of £30,000., But so great was the
decline after this that for the first half of 1875 there was no dividend
at all, despite the achievement of raising over one million tons (l)
of coal from the Durham collieries for the first time. With each of the
Partners heavily committed in his private expenditure ~ Bowes with his
Museum at Barnard Castle, now to be in merory of his wife after her
death in February 1874; Hutt with his new home on the Isle of Wight;
and Palmer with his most recent venture, the Tyne Flate Glass Works (2),
into which he had been persuaded to put money, only to find it was

heavily in debt - the Partners began to find it increasingly necessary

(1) The actual figure was 1,036,185 tons.

(2) Palmer became connected with this firm in 1870, It was always
in debt, and was easily his most disastrous investment.
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to obtain short~term loans, often for considerable amounts, from
the Partnership. If the firm had been a limited company this
practice would have been impossible, and so while this situation
continued, which it seemed likely to do until either the Partners'
commitments ended or trade revived, it was not in the interest of any
of them to proceed with the conversion, the short-term requirements
being more demending than the long-term ones.

The proposal to convert the firm into a limited liability
company was one of a number of things which had gradually been driving
a wedge between Palmer amd the other Partners. This orocess had
begun in 1871 with Falmer's own proposal for a limited company, to
be followed by what loocked suspiciously like a take-over bid from
Falmers Shipbuilding & Iron Company. In eddition, Hutt felt that
Palmer, as Managing Partner, was not paying sufficient atiention to
the firm's business; certainly, during 1874 Palmer seems to have
visited the Mewcastle Office on only one or %wo occasions, though he
could perhaps plead the two Parliamentary coniests in which he was in-
volved for NMorth Durham (1). Perhaps because of the expense of these
- contests, but also because of the poor financial health of the Glass Works,
Palmer had borrowed up to June 1875 £96,000 from the Partnership, and as
this had been done without informing his fellow-Partners they were none
too pleased when they discovered it. Furthermore, Palmer wanted, and

obtained, permission to use the name of John Bowes & Partners fto obtain

(1) He was elected on both occasions.



~14~

credit for the Glass Works, and although this was covered by what
Palmer claimed was ample security, Hutt disliked the affair and felt
that Falmer had made no effort to raise money from his personal
sources., Thig ill-feeling did not help the firm, for at a time of
depression éetailed attention to business was needed, and with Palmer
doing very little, Bowes suffering badly from gout and Hutt in poor
health on the Isle of Wight, the whole responsibility of managing
the firm's affairs fell upon Gregory.
But Bowes saw full well that if the Partnership were to con-
tinue to prosper all the Partners had to be on good terms with each
other, and the year 1875 gave him his opportunity to act. This year
marked thirty years in Palmer's association with Bowes and Hutt, and
to mark this he proposed to Hutt in February 1875 that some form of
presentation should be made. This eventually took the form of a
present to Mrs., Augusta Falmer in the shape of an expensive diamond
necklace, which Bowes and Hutt presented in June 1875. Mrs. Palmer
seems to have been a shrewd woman, and at once seized the chance of
bringing about a reconciliation, In writing to thank Bowes she added
" eses Allow me to say that I hope the estrangement that has
existed of late years may pass away, as I need not say I know
full well how many years you and my husband have been on terms
of intimate friendship. It would be fanciful to me to think
that we should not hereafter be on the same cordial feeling
of friendship as at one time existed. This splendid gift

convinces me that such is your desire, and this again enhances
the value of the nresentation and adds much to my happiness." (1)

(1) Strathmore M3S, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: letter from Mrs.
Augusta Palmer to Bowes, 25th June 1875,
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To which Palmer added as a postscript to his own letter of the same

date

", es0.My wife has Just shown me her letter; let me unite
in the hope expressed in the latter part." (1)

With all the charm and guile of her sex Mrs. Palmer brought
the Partners together once more. Although sadly she was to dié
of typhoid before six months had passed, she did live long enough
to see her success. Palmer gave up his summer holidays to work
alone at the Newcastle Office (Gregory was on holiday), and from
now on he spent more and more time there, until by 1877 he devoted
three days a week to this., Differences there still were, especially
over money; but he reported on business constantly to Bowes, and
the friendly relations between all three Partners were restored, at
least for a time,

Despite the growing depression in trade, the Pariners began to
sink a new colliery in 1874. This was Dunston Colliery, situated about
two miles west of Gateshead very near to the River Tyne. It was
intended that the new pit should replace Norwood Colliery - indeed,
Dunston was sometimes referred to as "Norwood New Pit". It was
probably sunk to add to the Pa'rtners' share of the gas coal trade,
which seems to have suffered least in the depression; whereas to have
carried through the now-zbandoned plans to sink collieries on the Benton

Moor and Hylton Royalties would have cost far more. Dunston came into

(l) Strathmore MSS, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: letter from
Palmer to Bowes, 25th June 1875.
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production in 1875, and during that year 67,000 tons were raised;
but as the depression grew worse étern measures had to be taken, and
in November 1876 Dunston was laid in, destined to lie idle for
nearly fourteen years.

The depression in trade of all kinds developed fairly rapidly
after 1873, In that year the average price of coal was about 15/-
per ton and of coke 36/- per ton; by 1878 these figures had fallen
to about 5/- and 12/6 respectively, though the prices obtained by
the Partners were slightly higher. When two of the firmm's largest
contracts were renewed in May 1877 Gregory stated that the price to
be paid by the London Gas Company, who took 100,000 tons, was 1li/-
delivered, or about 7/3 at the pit, and that paid by Stephenson
Clarke {120,000 tons) was 7/- less 215%, both of which were about
ninepence lower than in 1876 (1). But as early as August 1875
Palmer reported that all of the Partners' coke trade in Cumberland
and North Lancashire had gone, and that there was a distinct possib-
ility that one or two of the blast furnaces at Jarrow would have to be
shut down, which would probably mean that Marley Hill would have to
close, Working charges had increased, despite considerable reductions
in the men's wages, and he thouéht that in North-East England generally

there was over-production of coke (2). This would seem to be borne

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: letters from
Gregory and Palmer to Bowes, 16th and 12th May 1877,

(2) ibid., letter from Palmer to Bowes, 20th August 1875,
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out by the statistics, for in 1874 the six firms (1) who contributed
over half of County Durham's coke production manufactured 1,923,211
tons, which rose in 1875 to 2,069,519 tons - and significantly, of
those six the Partners were the only firm to show a reduction in
output (2).

In such circumstances the closure of collieries was almost
inevitable., Collieries began to be abandoned in County Durham as
early as 187, but the Partners managed to survive until September
1876, when half of Byermoor was stopped. This was followed by the
closure of Dunston in November 1876, Gosforth in September 1877,
Dipton in March 1878 and Shipcote in the spring of 1879. Dipton
recommenced production during 1879, but with the exception of Dunston
the others never re-opened.

Degpite the depression it seems that the Partners were still
making a profit, admittedly very small, on both coal ard cokes But
as money grew scarcer all the Partners leaned heavily upon the firm
for money, especially Palmer, who by the end of 1882 owed the firm
just under a quarter of a million pounds. By 1878 Hutt owed over

£34,000 and Bowes about £50,000, As a result Gregory had no money

(1) Bolckow, Vaughan & Co., Consett Iron Co., North Brancepeth Coal Co,,
Pease & Partners and Strakers & Love, in addition to the Partners.

(2) Compiled from the Durham Coal Owners Returns Nos. 73 and 89, Pease
& Partners' entry is missing from the former; their output has been
taken at 570,000 tons.
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to pay ordinary bills, and loans had to be obtained. The crisis
came at the beginning of October 1878, when the firm were unable to
meet a Bill for £5,000 drawn by Hutt. If the Bill were dishonoured
the Partnership would be ruined, and Hutt at first refused to renew
the Bill; but literally at the last minute he placed 2 security with
his bankers to meet it, and afterwards loaned to the firm £5,000 in
addition to paying Bills worth £0,500 given to him by the fimm.

This financial crisis brought about the final breach hetween
Hutt and Palmer. In October 1878 Hutt had first accused Falmer of
being "reckless", only to write four days later "I have grest
confidence in the energy and skill of Falmer" (1). But over the
next two years their relations deteriorated to such an extent that
when Bowes and Palmer went to the Isle of Wight to see Hutt in the
autumn of 1881 Sir William refused to see Palmer. After Sir William's
death Lady Hutt's solicitor indicated that Lady Hutt held the view that
Bowes had sided with Palmer sgainst Sir William and connived at his
obtaining large sums of money from the firm both illegally and despite
Sir William's refusal. Bowes was greatly hurt by this, and Lady Hutt
withdrew the charge. Although Hutt eventually became so ill that he
was unable either to handle business or reason logically, there is little
~doubt that the prolonged financial crisis in the firm's affairs between

1876 and 1886 ought not to have occurreds The reason why it did was

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 5, Durham County Record Office: 1letters from
Hutt to Bowes, 3rd and 7th October 1378.
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the part played by Palmer during this period.

The crucial factor here was the Partnership's entanglement, via
Palmer, with the affairs of the [yne Plate Glass Works. As a later
writer put it:

"ossss It would appear that Mr. Palmer has always had

great confidence in the undoubted business ability which

he possesses. He appears also always to have been of a

sanguine disposition, expecting thei everything which he

undertook would turn out successfully." (1)
Although this view may be a lifi{le harsh on Palmer, his involvement
with the Tyne Plate Glass Works was disastrous from beginning to end.
He needed monesy badly, and the fimm, fearing that if he went bankrupt
John Bowes & Partners would crash with him, lent him money in an attempt
to keep him solvent. This process could not continue indefinitely,
and Palmer was no doubt desperately hoping for an improvement in trade;
but in the meantime he seems to have had no qualms about leading John
Bowes & Partners into a parlous state.

Furthermore, the condition of the Glass Works demanded a large
portion of Palmer's time, thus depriving the Pertners of his guidance.
Neither he nor Gregory was an engineer, and so could not inaugurate
the economies in the working of the wllieries and ovens which were
essential in a time of depression. This, coupled with his only partial

attention to the managerial side, caused the firm rather to drift along

(1) Strathmore MSS, Box 8, Durham County Record Cffice: Memorandum
by B.Y. Western and G.A. Jamieson to Lord Strathmore, Lord Glamis
and Bowes, May 1885, 20,
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rather than to face the depression with any kind of energy, resolution
and sense of purpose. Gregory obviously did his best, but he does

not seem to have had either the flair or the personality which Palmer
possessed. The Coal Owners' Statistics show that compared with

other large firms on the coal-field the Partners terded to lose ground
between 1871 and 1880, . 7This was especially so on the coking side

of their business. Although a complete comparison between 1871 and
1880 is impossible due to the loss of some of the returns, those which
are extant show that the Partners produced only 205,400 tons in 1877
compared with 209,105 tons in 1872. 2y contrast, the output of all .
the other large producers, with the excepiion of Sitrakers and Love,
increased, that of both Bolckow Vaughan and Consett by well over
100,000 tons. Turttermore, in 1878 three more firms were producing
over 100,000 tons per annum compared with 1872, Thus both the Partners'
output and their share of the market fell during this period. The coal
figures appear rather better on the surface than in reality, as the
Partners raised 944,040 tons in 1871 from the Durham collieries and
1,145,081 tons in 1880 (1); but in fact the output from Marley Hill,
Byermoor, Burnopfield and Kibblesworth was less in 1880 than in 1871,
{the increase being largely due to Dipton and Wardley being in full
production and a slight increase of between 20,000 and 30,000 tons from

Pontop and Springwell. None of the collieries in either county was

(1) wWardley Colliery was not included on the 1880 return; 135,000
tons has been allowed.
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raising 200,000 tons, though this was achieved by a number of
collieries owned by other firms (1). Moreover, both Bolckow
Vaughan and Consett increased their cutput by approximately
500,000 tons, the former company twice achieving two million tons
in this period; while the number of firms raising 500,000 {tons per
year increased by five (2), Thus, although prices fell, this was
in general a period of rising production, and in this the Partners
did not fully share. The Partnership's acute lack of money left
the firm with no means for capital investment, while Palmer's pre-
occupation elsevhere deprived the firm of dynamic leadership. As
a result, the firm steadily lost ground to its competitors during

this period.

Thus matters stood in the autumn of 1831, when a proposal came
before the Partneré which brought the disagreement between Falmer and
Hutt to a head. This was an offer by Sir George Elliot amd Mr. John
Jonassohn to sell to the Partners Usworih Colliery, which they owned
jointly, and which lay about 1% miles north-east of Soringwell Colliery.
The history of this colliery is inter—twined with that of the Hylton
Royalty, which, it will be remembhered, also belonged to John Bowes., Its

history is perhaps best told in his words:

(1) In South Wales it would appear that very few collieries raised over
100,000 tons at this pericd: ¢f MORRIS, J.H. & WILLIAMS, L.J. The
South Wales Coal Industry, 1841-1875. Cardiff: University of Wales
Press, 1958, p.1l3L.

(2) Less than a dozen firms in South Wales were raising 500,000 tons at
this time: MORRIS, J.H. & WILLIAMS, L.J., op. cit., p. 136.
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" ... Some thirty five years ago Mr. Elliot (now Sir

George Elliot) made me an offer to take a piece of this

large royalty (about 2,300 acres with three seams of coal).
This offer was low as regerds the Tentale rent, but he would
probably have increased it. Mr. Palmer, however, with the
sanction of Sir William, made me & separate offer on the

part of "John Bowes & Partners", which I accepted, and at
that time it was no doubt the intention of the Partnership

to work the coal at an early date. Years, however, rolled
on without that being done, and about 8 or 9 years ago from
my connexion with the Partnership I granted a new lease,
making such oconcessions to them as my Professional Advisers
said no other person would have done, and by which 1 sacrificed
my claim to a large sum of money from them. I did this in
the belief and anticipation that before long the coal would
be worked by John Bowes & Partners or sublet by them to other
parties who would do so. In fact, a certain portion of the
Royalty has been sublet and worked by the owners of Usworth
Colliery (Sir G. Elliot and Mr, Jonassohn)., These gentlemen
have had some serious misunderstanding and, I understand,
detected malversions in their accounts, and have therefore
determined to sell the colliery and thus offered it to us." (1)

Thus to purchase Usworth Colliery would mean that the Partners
could at long last work the Hylton Royalty Withéut the expense of
meking a separate winning on it, the cost of which was now put at
£200,000, Moreover, Usworth was a large colliery -~ its output in
1881 had been 320,492 tons - and Palmer argued that it would be possible
to pay the instalments for the purchase as they fell due over five '
years from the profits of the colliery, so that the firm's debt would
not be increased and money would not have to he taken from the pm:f'its
of the other collieries to meet the cost., Bowes, of course, was in
favour of the purchase as at last offering the possibility of an income

from a large source so long denied him,

(l) Strathmore MSS, Box 6, Durham County Record Office: copy, in his
own hand, of letter from Bowes to Lady Hutt, 24th February 1882,
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By the beginning of 1882 Hutt was so ill that he could not
handle business, and control of his affairs was taken over by Lady
Hutt, who regarded Palmer's influence in the firm as pernicious and
who alternated between trusting and distrusting Bowes. She was
strongly opposed to the purchase, and so at the meeting of Partners
on 16th March 1882, at which only Palmer was present, the decision
t0 purchase Usworth for £50,000 - a small sum, considering the size
of the colliery, was taken by a majority of two to one, Bowes assenting
by post. The Partners took possession on 20th March, and the colliery
proved a valuable acguisition. Its general superintendance passed
under Palmer's brother A1fred, who was Viewer at Wardley, but as the
actual colliery viewer R.M. Berkley, the son of Cuthbert Berkley, so
long the Partners' Chief Viewer, was appointed, again the beginning of
a long essociation with the firm and another example of the paternal
nature of many of the colliery companies in the North-East.

Lady Hutt had not been pleased with the lack of regard paid to
her views on the purchase of Usworth Colliery, and she was even more
annoyed when almost immediately Palmer began to show an infterest in
acguiring yet another colliery. The colliery in question was Felling,
for which the Partners had negotiated unsuccessfully between 1860 and
1862, and by coincidence the owner was again Sir George Elliot, though
this time he was sole owner. Here the position was rather involved.
Elliot had decided to sell the colliery, and was negotiating terms
with the Bcclesiastical Commissioners, whose representative, by a curious

"7

coincidence, was Lindsay Wood, one of Nicholas Wood's souns. The
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Commissioners in turn were looking for a new owner to take the
colliery on lease, and were prepared to grant very favourable terms,

At first Palmer took little notice of Wood's overtures, but
on hearing the terms he at once opened negotiations, as the acquisition
of the Pelling Royalty would greatly enhance the value of Wardley,
The Commissioners offered to lease Felling and its associated royalties
to the Partners for only £800 per amnum; the Fartners were to pay
£5,000 for the stock and were also to erect a pumping engine to drain
all the pits and royalties to the east, including Hylton, at a cost
of amother £5,000, though the Commissioners were to meet £3,200 of
this over a2 period of eight years; the colliery's private railway
and its staithes on the Tyne the Partners were to receive for nothing.
Once again Lady Futt was strongly opposed to the idea, and once again
she was ignored; on 23rd November 1882 the Partners agreed to accept
the terms offered. A digpute between Blliot and Wood held matters
up for a time, and it was not until 5th March 1883 that the Partners
took possession. It was to be the last colliery ever taken over by
the firm.

But while one colliery was being added to the firm another
ceased production. This was Killingworth, where on 5th April 1882
the shaf't partially collepsed whilst under repair. It was felt that
the cost of repairing the shaft or of sinking a new one to obtain the
small amount of coal which remained in the High Main seam was not
Justified, and so the shaft was filled in. Thus perhaps the most

famous colliery in the history of the Industrial Revolution ceased
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production. (1)

Shortly afterwards the Partners suffered amother serious accident, this
time at Jarrow. In Septemher 1882 Palmer decided that the staithes built
there in 1854-1855 were obsolete, and ordered their replacement. The new
staithes were almost finished when in the afternoon of 22nd May 1883 they
were completely destroyed by fire, ignited, it was thought, by sparks from
a nearby lead factory. Fortunately, the Partners suffered no finaneial
loss, as they were both covered by insurance and could also continue to
use the o0ld staithes until another new set were built.

Reference has already beén made to Sir William Hutt's incapacity to
attend to business after the autumn of 1881, By the summer of 1882 he
was blind and almost permanenily bed-ridden, and on 24th November, three
weeks after his 8lst birthday, he died.

Hutt's part in the history of the firm is difficult to assess. He
became a colliery owner by accident, and over the years he derived great
financial benefit from the very small amount of capital which he had in-
vested in the firm. From the firm's viewpoint his lack of technical °
knowledge was a handicap, as was his concentration on a political career,
for a firm as large as the Fartnership was needed full time direction.

But he was always seeking economy and efficiency, and his was often the .
note of caution. Moreover, his personal charm did much to keep the

Partners together, especially when icholas Wood was alive.

(1) Killingworth had for many years been the administrative centre for the
Partners' collieries in Northumberland, and this continued even though
Seaton Burn and Dinnington were the only collieries still owned in the
county.
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Under the terms of Hutt's will his share in the Partnership
passed to Lady Hutt. The question was whether she would retain ift,
and if not, to whom and for what price it would be sold.

Lady Hutt's first move was to demand a thorough investigation
into the fim's affairs, prompted not least by Palmer's large debt.
Bowes at first had grave misgivings about this, fearing that it
would damage the credif of the firm and would imply bad management
on the part of Palmer and Gregory, but he was eventually persuaded
by Western; his solicitor, that if such an investigation (provided
it were conducted by an independant and competant person) found
nothing wrong it would be a comfort to know this, while if any
improvements were suggested he and Palmer could consider them and
adopt them if they were felt to be to the firm's advantage. Palmwer,
on the other hand, preferred not to hotice these advantages, and
instead wished to buy Lady Hutt ou%, a propossl he put forward as
early as lhfh November 1882, so that the demand for an investigation
would be removed. Nevertheless, an investigator named Markham (1)
was appointed, and he began work in January 1883,

Mearwhile Palmer opened negotiations for the purchase of Lady
Hutt's share by himself and Bowes, though he had no authorisation
from Bowes to do so. He told Western that his reasons for doing

this were that Lady Hutt's share could be bought much below its real

(1) Nothing is known of this man, unless he was one of the firm of
G. Markham & Co., Bngineers of Chegterfield. He was known -
and liked - by Palmer.
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value; that she would accept payments in such long instalments
that there was a reasonable prospect that these could be met out of
the profits on her share; and that in any case he and Bowes-had no
obligation to keep her as a Partner and let her share in the expected
profits after she had made herself so disagreeable, On 13th February
1883 he offered £150,000 payable over seven years, with £1,000 per
annum during Lady Hutt's life.

While Lady Hutt was considering this, Markham made his report
to her. He suggested two pozsible courses, firstly, that the firm
should be turned into a limited liability company, or alternatively,
that it should be sold to Paimers Shipbuilding & Iron Co. Ltd.

Unfortunately, neither of t{lrese proposals was practicable, As

Western pointed out, to convert the firm into a limited company at
this stage would limit its credit, though Palmer had told Western he
looked forward to this move (a strange comment when he would be the
most affected). With regard to the second proposal, Markham said
that Palmers would be willing to pay £500,000, but he refused to
reveal the source of this information, Palmer was opposed both to
selling his share and to Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Co. buying.
Since his influence in the latter would decide the matter, this course
wag closed also. Bowes too opposed a sale, hoping that prices would
soon revive and profits be made once again.

Thus Lady Hutt could do nothing about either of Markham's
suggestions, and at the end of February she also rejected Palmer's

offer, hoping, as her solicitor said, that he would improve his bid.
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Under the Partnership Deed, if a Partner wished to sell his share

he was required to give notice to the other Partners so that they
could exercise their option to buy it; if this option was not taken
up after six months the share could be so0ld on the open market. Now
Lady Hutt had refused to sign the Partnership agreement to avoid
becoming personally liable for the firm's debts. Her position was
thus ambiguous, and she took full advantage. She stated her own
terms to Palmer (1), and demanded a reply before 2lst april, well
within the six months limit. Then before even this time had passed
she offered the share to one of the Directors of Palmers Shipbuilding
& Iron Co., asking £150,000 (as Palmer had originally offered) but
payable over five years. The Director concerrned brought the matter
before Palmers Board, but Palmer immediately opposed it and the offer
was rejected.

Lady Hutt seems to have been determined to squeeze the highest
possible price out of Palmer and Bowes by fair means or otherwise, and
when Palmers Board rejected her offer she lost patience. Ag Palmer
had still not replied to her offer when the time limit she had set
expired on 2lst April, her solicitors gave notice to Palmer and Bowes
that they intended to make an application to the Court of Chancery
for the dissolution of the firm and the sale of Hutt's share through
the Court.

Western on 4th May regarded this as Lady Hutt's strongest bluff

(1) The details of her offer have not survived.
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yet, and subsequent events would seem to suggest he was right; but
the balanced view was completely upset by an interview he, Palmer and
Cooper, the firm's solicitor, had with Hargrove, Lady Hutt's solicitor,
on the following day., [Hargrove claimed to be unable to control Lady
Hutt, admitted that the ourse she was following was sulcidal, and
then intimated that she might be willing to come to terms if a hetter
offer was made. Cooper, with Palmer's authorisation, immediately
offered £120,000 payable over five years, but this Lady Hutt also
rejected, Palmer was thus compslled to.raise his offer, and on
28th May Lady Hutt signed an agreement giving her £50,000, payable
over six years, dating from lst January 138€3.

Thus Bowes and Palmer were now joint Partners; and to confirm
this a new Partnership Deed was drawn up in the summer of 1883,
under which it seems that Bowes held rather more than half of the
shares; Palmer continued as Managing Pertner. In October 1883
the two men also concluded a financial agreement very favourable to
Palmer, under which most of Palmer's debt was transferred into
promissory notes, shares in Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Co and the
Bede Chemical Co., (1) or remitted by Bowes as a gift to Palmer,

But the firm's financial position was still critical, and in
April 1885 it was unable to meet one of the instalments due to Lady

Hutt (2). Yet 1884 would seem to have veen their best year o date,

(1) Another firm in which Palmer had an interest.

(2) As with the purchase of Wood's share, it was the firm, rather than
the individual Partners, who paid, though guite why is not clear.
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The Durham collieries raised over 1% million tons, and if the
Northumberland output be added at an assumed total of 220,000 tons,

it is possible that in 1884 the Partners were the largest single
producer of coal in the whole of North-EBast England, with an ousput

of over 12 million tons. Their only serious competitor was the

Barl of Durham, whose collieries raised 1,773,000 tons. In the same
year nearly 19C,000 tons of coke were manufactured, making the firm
the sixth largest producer in the North-East, with well over 900 ovens.
Furthermore, prices were at last beginning {o rise very slowly. On
the other hand, the Partners had a large wage bill, for in County
Durham alone in 1885 they employed 4,433 people, and if the Northumberland
collieries were added the total would probably rise by cover another
thousand., Furthermore, on 2nd March 1885 there was a serious
explosion in the West Pit at Usworth, by which 42 people were killed,
the worst disaster in the firm's history. A considerable amount of
money had to be gpent to tring the Pit back into production.

At this point the Earl of Strathmore and his eldest son, Lord
Glamis, were approached with 2 view to helping the firm through its
financial troubles. Whether this suggestion came from Bowes is not
known; it was done without Palmer's knowledge. It was pointed out
that since the firm were the largest lessess of Bowes' estates in
County Durham, and those estates would return to the Rarl of Strathmore
at Bowes' death, it would be to everyone's advantage if the Barl and
his son assumed some financial responsgibility for the firm, even to the

extent of becoming Partners. Iord Strathmors was not averse to the
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idea, but wished to know a great deal more about the firm and its
prospects. As a result lord Strathmore's solicitor, G. A. Jamieson
of Edinburgh, and Bowes' London solicitor, E. Y. Western, were commis-
sioned to prepare a memorandum. Palmer was to be informed, but was
not to receive a copy of the memorandum.

The result, put before lord Strathmore, Lord Glamis and John
Bowes in May 1885, was a very perceptive document. It reveals that
the total capital sunx in the firm was not more than £12,000, and
that the firm's profits up to the end of December 188k totalled
£1,963,753, of which £767,000 had been drawn by the Partners in
dividsends and the rest had been put btack into the fixm. Hutt had
done very well out of the firm, as the money which he had put into it
had originally been lent to him for the purpose by Bowes! The profits
in the last five years had been £164,515, though no dividend had been
paid since 1882. Having assessed Palmer's character and his part
in the firm's history - his debt had now fallen to Just under £9,000 -
the firm's liabilities are given as £399,975 - 7 - 3d, with another
£15,000 st1ll owing under the Felling agreement, while its assets,
exclusive of the value of the collieries and the ovens, were only
£86,307 - 19 - 3d. The whole position was surmed up as follows:

", ..., Consequently... the firm has during the whole of its
existence in the main subsisted upon the credit in which it
has always stood. The result has veen that the firm has
latterly been carrying on a gigantic business upon credit

with insufficient capital. This credit has been maintained
primarily by the popular belief that lr. Bowes was an



~162~
exceedingly rich man and by the known fact that Mr. Palmer
was undoubtably an able man of business." (1)
The memorandum reviewed the firm's prospects very favourably,
and said that it was to the Earl's advantage that the firm be prevented
from going bankrupt, and that Palmer's connection with the firm was
beneficial, provided a closer check were kept upon him, It recom-
mended that the firm should be turned into a limited liability
company as soon as possible, and that the Earl and ILord Glamis should
become substantial share-holders. In conclusion, it expressed
"....., deep concern at the position in which it is evident
that Mr. Bowes has been placed in relation to this enterprise;
it is evident it has been sustained throughout mainly by his
credit, and while those associated with him have derived in
the past great profit from the undertaking to which their
contributions were incongiderable, it now happens that Mr.
Bowes finds himself the owner of half of an enormous
- enterprise which he cannot be expected to personally conduct
or control, and liable for vast sums which, however great
may be the value of the assets they represent, could not be
met from the resources of the concern itself, and may
therefore 2t any moment become a matter of serious embarrass-
ment to Mr. Bowes himself." (2)
Changes in the firm's affairs were now unavoidable and urgent;
but all the plans were scon to be upset again. The memorandum was.sent
to Bowes in France, where he was ill, Diagnosing his illness as

dropsy, his doctors advised him to return to England, hoping that the

change of climate would benefit him, He managed to make the Jjourney

(1) BStrathmore MSS, Box 8, Durham County Record 0ffice: memorandum to
Lord Strathmore, Lord Glamis and John Bowes, May 1385, 27 and

35,

(2) ibid., 42,
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in the summer, but the change did not produce the hoped-for result,
ard on 9th October 1885, at Streatlam, he died. He was 7.

John Bowes' contribution to the development of the firm can
scarczly be calculated. His was the inspiration behind its foun-
dation; his the wealth which facilitated its expansion and sustained
its credit in days of depression. The large royalties which he
orned placed the firm in a very favourable position with regard to
leases and rent, and the share which he possessed in the older firm
of lord Ravensworth & Faortners gave Palmer the opportunity to build
up one of the great firms in the English coal industry. Tha firm
could only regret that being a coal-owmer was only one part of his
varied life, that his other interests made heavy demands on his time
and money, and that above all his shyness made him prefer to live
in France and exert his able influence by letters and agents rather
than in person. A kind-hearted, gererous man with a sharp sense of
humour, his epitaph is perhaps best expressed in his own words,
writien two years before his death: |

eeese I can confidentiy say that st all times I have
acted (as was most natural for me to do) in the interest

of the Pirm, and I feel convinced that you and others will
some day see that such was the case." (1)

(l) Strathmore MSS, Box 6, Durham County Record Office: copy (in
Bowes' hand) of letter to Iady Hutt, 17th Jamary 1883.
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CHAPTER 5.

THE YEARS OF RE-ORGANISATION : 1886 - 1914.
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Chapter 5H.

The years of re-organisation : 1386 - 191k,

Under his will Bowes directed his executors (or Trustees as he
termed them) to carry on the firm's business, but to turn it into a
limited company if they saw fit. The residuary estate returned to
the #arl of Strathmore. But it will be remembered that in 1869
Bowes and his first wife had founded the "John and Josephine Bowes
Museum and Park" at Barnard Castle, the building of which had con~
tinued slowly until 1582, when it was halted for lack of money, In
Bowes' will the Trustees of the Museum were left £135,000 to complete
the work and furnish it with the numerous pictures ard china which
Bowes also hsgqueathed to them. It wag obvious that neither this nor
‘any of the other legacies would be paild unless the colliery business
were sold or sufficient nrofits made from it, for the estate was still
liasble for its share of the firm's debts, and these would have to be
paid first.

In this position the men Bowes had named as his executors were
of great importance. Ths first was the historian and politician
A.W. Kinglake, who was 76; the second was Sir Henry Morgan Vane, the
Secretary to the Charity Commissioners since 1853, who was a year
older than Kinglake, and the last was Ndward Young Western, his London
solicitor. Thus it was likely that Western would outlive the others.
Such proved to be the case, with the result that the sdministration of
Bowes' estate passed into Western's sole control.

The estate was at once placed in Chancery and discussions begun
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with FPalmer to work out the futurs of the firm.  Although there was
only one pcssible course tc take if the firm was to continue, that
is, to become a limited company, Palmer gseems to have besn reluctant

to face this, but he had no choice. Cn 21lst July 1886 the firm

became a limited liability company with the siyle of "John Bowes &
Partners Lid.," The new company absorbed both the Marley Hill

Coking Company and the FNorthumberland & Durham Coal Conmpany. The
nominal capital was £600,000, of which at least half was held by the
Bowes estate., The published names of the subscribers, holding one
share each, were Palmer, his son Alfred (1), E. Y. Western and his
brother George, J. V. Gregory ond G. A. Janieson. In fact, besides
the shares helé by the estate, Western held 15,000 shares on his own
acocount and a further 5,000 jJointly with Falmer, who already held
1G,000. Zach share had & nominal valus of £10,. Thus ¥estern, as
the estate's Trustee and the largest of the other shareholders, held
the controlling interest as long as estats remzinsd in Chancery,
although there is no evicdence thazt he took part in any dayfto-day
management.

On 26th July 1886 Palmer made over his share in the firm to the
new Company, znd was appcinted Chairman and Nhnaglrg Director for

ife at a salary of £3,000 per annum, and he was also to be entitled

}ed

to one fourth of the net profits after payment of debenture interest,

(1) 4lfred ¥olyneur Palmer (1853 - 1935) had joined the firm in
1872. He also seems to have been the manager of the ill-starred
Tyne Glass Works.
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though this commission was to cease on lst July 1896 cor when the
aggregate of the sum should have reached £100,000. Palmer had made
a very good bargain for himself, and his success was crowned later
in the year when he was raised to the Baronetcy for a lifetime of
service to British irdustry.

The new Company started very well, with of course Palmer,
Gregory (1) and Cuthbert Berkley (2) still in control, but with a
much closer check on management than hed ever existed before, In
both 1886 and 1687 the Company was almost certainly the largest
producer of coal in the North-East (3)» In addition, they gained a
greater share of the market, their percentage of the total ocutput
from the coal-field rising from L.43% in 1985 (4) to their highest-
ever figure of 5.49% in 1887, Coke production also rose. In 1885
the Partners had made 174,235 tons, 271 of their 924 ovens being out
of use; in 1888 the outpui rose to the highest-ever figure of 261,854
tons, only 32 ovens being out of use, and in the following year only
14 ovens were out, though slightly less coke was produced. Again
this was a real increase resulting from a greater share of the market,

for of the firms with a higher production in 1885, only Pease & Partners

(1) MNow the Company's Secrstary.
(2) Now the Company's Chief Viewer.

(3) A& final decision cammot he given in the absence of exact figures
for the NMerthumberland Collieries.

(4) This figure wss, however, lower than normal because of the
Usworth explosion.
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shdwed 2. comparable increase: Strakers & Love and the Weardale Iron
Company showed a very slight increase, and Bell Brothers, Bolckow
Vaughan and Consett Iron Company all showed a decline. This devel-
opment d4id not resuli from higher prices; indeed, in June 1888 the
average selling price of all Durham coal fell to 4/3%.914 per ton,
its lowest level since October 1879, though it did rise thereafter to
7/5.624 per ton in Septenmber 1890 (1).

But 21l was not as plain sailing as might have besn wished.
With Western meking no move to pay the lsgacies under Bowes' will,
notably the £135,000 due tc the Rowes Museum, the people in Barnard
Castle became increasingly exasperated, the more so when Colonel
William 'Wilson, a local solicitor; saw Western, only to be told that
he (Western) "fourd it sc difficult to give any accurste information
on the subject that he had mede up his mind to decline giving any at
all.® (2), It was well known that the payment of the legacies depended
on John Bowes & Partners Lid., making a profit, though it was by no
means so well known that the firm had large debts to meet first. The
first attack was launched at a meeting of the Barnard Casile Board of
Health on 21st February 18290. At this R. J. Dent, Bowes' former land
agent at Streatlam and Gibside, claimed that the Company must be

making a handsome profit, as gas coal, which two years earlier had been

(1) Accountants' Certificates of the Durham Coal Ovmers Association,
Vol. I, Durham Record Office.

(2) Account in issue of Teesdale Mercury, 26th February 1890.
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selling at 6/- per ton was now selling at 15/- per ton (1), giving

an income which Dent estimated at £1,200,000 per annum. But instead,
it was claimed, of these profits being used to pay creditors and
legatees, the Company, or rather Western, was using them to build

50 additional coke ovens at Burnopfield Colliery and more workmen's
cottages, or to put it another way, to increase the value of the
residuary estate, under which the Museum had no claim.

There seems little doubt as to Western's tactics during this
period, though in fairness to him we have only one side of the story
in addition to what he chose to publish. Circumstances had suddenly
placed considerable wealth in his power and he had the opportunity
to benefit greatly if the Company could be held togather.and made a
profit. As the new company had been doing quite well since 1886,
despite low prices, it can reasonably be expected that Western, as a
substantial share;holder, was obtaining considerable benefit. EHe
therefore wished to play for time with regard to paying the legacies,
for at the outset the only way in which this could be done was to sell
some of the collieries, and this in the midst of a depression; the
only other possibiliiy was for the Bowes estate to sell some of its
shares in the Company, which he also wished to avoid, as only a low
price would be obtained, it would introduce other people into the

Company, and possibly into the Directorship, and would also reduce the

(1) "In view of the prices given in the Accountants' Certificates of
the Durham Coal Owners Association, these figures would seem to
be exaggerated,
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number of shares under his control,

With prices now rising, it was argued that colliery property
could be sold at a profit, and in an attempt to compel Western to
do this, a public meeting was called at Barnard Castle on 2nd May
1890. Watson, who was Chairman of the meeting, had mearwhile been
converted to Western's point of view, and s2id that if the property
were forced into the market it would only fetch low prices, and the
legatees would have no hope of being paid in full. He then quoted
a letter to one of his clients from the firm to show that a profit
was being made and that the firm was eager to pay off its debts,
implying that the time was not far off when the legatees could hope
to receive something.

Unfortunately, the next speaker was a young man celled J. Ingram
Dawson, amother solicitor, who had been conducting some research into
the Bowes estate and the position of the Company. He announced
that the cash profit balances of the Company then lodged with the Bank
of BEngland were rather more than half a million pounds, and that there
was no justification for not paying either debis or legacies. Dawson
recalled the event nearly fifty years later:

" ..., My revelation created an extraordinary effect - 1
had nearly written consternation - in some guarters. So
much so, I was approached under cover of urgent confidential
conversations to withdrew what I had disclosed as not being
the fact, and say I had been misled. The reason for this

approach was not then given, nor is it nescessary now to give
it. But the reward to myself for so doing was to be a
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position and with prospects which had never entered

my mind, from a monetary and social point of view.

I refused." (1)
Dawson's word is uncorroborated; but if Western - for it can only
have been he - did try to bribe him, it shows the extremes to which
he was prepared to go in an attempt to maintain the status quo.

The next move came neither from Dawson or Western, but from
Dent, who in the early months of 1891 tried to obtain support for
an application to Chancery asking for the realisation of the shares

held by the Bowes estate in the Company. This came to nothing,
however, and for a time the attack on Western was confined to period-
ical protests from the Barnard Castle Board of Health (subsequently
the Barnard Castle Urban District Council) and a prolonged war by
correspordence between Western and Dent in the columns of the "Teesdale
Mercury®.

Meanwhile the Company continued to prosper. In 1890 Dunston
Colliery was re-opened after fourteen years of idleness, amd it is
probable, allowing for the uncertainty of the Northumberland figures,
that in 1891 the Company raised over 2,000,000 tons of coal for the
first time. Of this, nearly half was gas coal, produced mainly from
Springwell, Wardley, Usworth and Pelling Collieries, showing very well
how this trade had superceded the coking coal trade, which had once

formed the basis of the firm's greatness.

(1) DAWSON, J. L. Reminiscences of a Rascally lawyer. Kendal: Wilson,
1949, p. 21, (The "rascally lawyer" was Dawson himself, not
Western).
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But industrial trouble was looming ahead. At the beginning of
1891 the Coal Owners Association had agreed to an increase in wages of
555, expecting that prices would rise during the year. In fact,
after the average price had risen steadily since June 1888 to 7/5.624
in September 1890 it began to fall once more. During 1891 the fall
was about 5%, and in November the owners gave notice that they would
seek a reduction in wages of 10%. In Durham wages had risen by
32%% between November 1888 and December 1890 (1), ard in view of
the fall in prices the owners felt that 10% was the bare minimum for
which they could ask. While this was still being considered by the
workmen's Federation Board (2), the owners put forward three sugges-
tions - (a) a reduction of 10%, or (b) that the matter should be
referred to independent arbitration, or (c) that the Federation
Board should negotiate with the owners' wages committee and come to
an agreement binding on both sides. The Board would have preferred
the last, but they had no vower to act thus, and a vote among the
workmen refused to give it to them. The owners then made a new
offer of an immediate 74% reduction or 5% in Jamuary 1892 and 5% in
May. While this was still under consideration the men took matters

into their own hands, and on 27th February 1892 most of them gave notice.

(1) WIISON, J. A History of the Durham Miners' Association. Durham:
Veitch, 1907, p. 356,

(2) The Federation Board was a negotiating body set up by the Durhem
Miners Association to combine the efforts of miners, engineers,
mechanics and cokemen. '
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They voted heavily in favour of a strike rather than accept the
owners' terms, and so when the notices expired on 12th March a
general strike began.

It was a bitter strike, with many reports of workmen who wished
to work being intimidated and damage being done to both their property
and at the collieries themselves, so that the police had té be called
in to give protection. The Company seems to have suffered rather
less than most, for although nearly 5,500 of their men struck, there
was hardly any trouble. Furthermore, with the exception of Marley
Hill =nd Andrews House Collieries, where there was a danger that parts
of the workings would be flooded, the collieries themselves suffered
little by receiving no attention, though there was an increasing
fear that roof falls would occur unless something was done.

When the strike had been in progress for two months the Board
tried to open negotiations with the Coal Owners Association, only to
be told that the latter now demanded a reduction of 133%, the addition
being to cover the expenses and loss of the strike. This was, of
course, turred down by the Board, and after the latter had received
power to act for fhe men, it offered to accept 2 reduction of 73%,
which was in turn refused, Ten days later, on 23rd May, the Board
offered to accept the 10% originally asked for, but this too was
refused. At this point the Bishop stepped in as mediator, and on
3rd June the owners gave way and accepted the Board's offer. The
strike had lasted nearly three months.

The strike completely disrupted production and trade, and it was



some time before matters returned to norm=l. The Company estimated
that it cost them £12,566 merely to pay officials' wages during the
strike amd to re-open the pits; the additional loss in terms of
production and unfulfilled contracts must have been very high. But
despite the length of the strike the Company's production figure for
1892 was only Jjust over 300,000 tons lower than that for 1831,

The various returns of the Durham Coal Owners ALssociation
dealing with the strike reveal some interesting information about
the firm. The most noteworthy fact is that the firm had to some
extent lagzed behind in the general modernisation of collieries in
the county. Iwo collieries, Springwell and Wardley, were st1ll being I
ventilated by means of a furnace at the botitom of the upcast shaft,
while at Kibblesworih it would seem that a horse gin was still being
used for winding. Another interesting point is that the output per
man per day was 2.1l tons in the western collieries but only 1.8 tons
in the east, both of these figures showing 2 decline between 1899 and
1892,

Despite the fall in prices, output continued at a high level. In
1894 the Company again passed 2,000,000 tons, and although Dipton
Colliery and its coke ovens were clossd at the end of that year, in
1896 the Company achieved its highest-ever output, raising 2,114,283
tons, a total only exceeded by the Earl of Durham's collieries.

On 31st December 1395 Palmer, now 73, retired as the Company's
Chairman and Managing Director, on completing fifty years service with

the firm. His loyalty to it is well shown by the fact that he had
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retired two years before from Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Co. Ltd.,
in connection with which he is infinitely better known. He had
taken full advantage of the opportunities which the Partnership had

offered him in 1845, and his energy, skill and ability made the

Partners one of the great names in the Durham coal industry. Obversely,

the success ,' power and money of the Partnership raised Palmer from
obgcurity into one of the great Victorian industrialists, and provided
the basis on which he built up his empire. He was to live on until
1907, when on L4th June, at the age of 84, he died,. He was succeeded
as Menaging Director by his second son, Alffred Palmer, now aged 42.

The last ten years of Sir Charles' rule, from 1886 to 1895, were
urdoubtedly the peak of the firm's greastness, and certainly the most
stable. Moreover, prices began to rise again at the end of 1896, and
coupled with a slow but steady rise in the demand both for coal and
coke, Falmer could have been forgiven for thinking thzt in the years
following his retirement he could expect to ses the Company go on from
strength vo strength. Instead, he was to see 2 fairly substantial
decline.

For the problem of paying the legacies under Bowes' will still
remained., At the beginning of 1895 Western tried to bring about
a different solution from those already discussed, that of introducing
one or more new "Paz"tners"-, or Directors, who would e prepared to
invest money in the Company, so that he could use the money received
from them for their shares to pay the legacies, but this came to

nothing, The Court of Chancery had allowed him to carry on the works
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of the Company insofar as they concerned the estate until lst
August 1896, and although he seems to have obtained an extension
of time, a final settlement could not be delayved indefinitely.

Exactly what was sald and argued among the Directors in the
months following Palmer's retirement is not known; but the results
of their deliberations may be seen, and conclusions drawn, It would
seem that rather than let the Bowes estate sell some of the shares
held in the Company, which would have meant bringing in ﬁen with no
previous connection with it, they decided that some of the collieries
would have to be sold, allowing the estate to use the money which it
would receive from this to pay its debts, while the Company could use
its share to mpdernise and develop the property which it still possessed.

The next problem was which collieries to sell. The bulk of the
Company's property was in County Durham, and thus the two remaining
Northumberland collieries were an obvious choice to put on to the
market, Moreover, the Durham collieries were centred round the
Pontop & Jarrow Railway with the exception of Pontop, Usworth, Felling
and Dunston, and so it might be that among these further sales could
be mede, In these considerations it would appear that greater
importance was placed on leaving the Company with a more compact and
more easily-administered final unit than to maintaining the Company's
position in any one field of the coal trade. It will be remembered
that in 1891 the Company's greatest interest lay in the gas coal trade,
this accounting for nearly half of its output - yet it was a gas coal

cplliery which they decided to sell first, and one whose purchase only
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fourteen years previously had been considered of the utmost
importance to the firm's position in North-East Durham - Usworth
Colliery,

In some respects Usworth had not proved as bensficial as had
been hoped. The output of 320,000 tons achieved in 1881, the year
before it passed to the Partners, had not been achieved since, though
290,000 tons had been raised in 18%6. 'he explosion there in 1885
hed cost a great deal of money, and although the colliery did enable
the Company to work the coal from the Hylton Royalty without the
expense of a new wimming, Usworth lay some way from the royalty, so
that the working expenses inwvolved in working Hylton coal were probably
guite high., Thus it was decided to sell both the colliery and the
roeyalty.

At this point elvents are not too clear. ‘Lo purchase the
colliery a new company with the title “Jonassohn, Gordon & Co. Ltd."
was formed. As far as is known, neither the Company nor any of its
Directors had any share in this company, which would appear to have
contained in Jonassohn one of the men from whom the Partners had
originally purchased the colliery. In 1897 the new company took over
the colliery, but the exact date has not come to light. The Hylton
Royalty was sold to the Wearmouth Coal Co. Ltd., who owned the adjacent
rovalty to the east on which Wearmouth Colliery was sunk. They at
once took the step from which the Partners had so long refrained and
made a sinking on it. Hylton Colliery came into production in 1900
and by 1903 was raising nearly 350,000 tons per annum ~ an exanple of

what might have been.
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With Usworth gone, the Company turned its attention to the
Northumberland collieries of Seaton Burn and Dinnington. Both were
steam coal collieries, and were administered from an office at
Killingworth. They lay about six miles north of Wewcastle, and were
served by one of the largest imdustrial railway systems in Northumberland.
After the Brunton & Shields Railway'had been purchased in 1872 it was
linked tc the Killingworth Rallway, and this gave the Partners two
staithes on the Tyne - at Wallsend for Killingworth and at Percy Main
for Sesaton Burn and Dinnington. In 1892 the Company had greatly
extended this system when they constructed a connecting line between
Dimnington Colliery amd Gosforth, part of it over a section of the
Brunton & Shields Railway which had been derelict for many years. Ab
Gosforth it was connected to the Coxlodge waggorway, first opened in
1808, and this continued to staithes on the Tyne at Walker. Why the
Company should have felt the need for three staithes for their two
collieries and Burradon Colliery (1) is mot clear. There were two
links between the Brunton & Shields line and the Killingworth line,
one near Burradon and one zt longbenton, the latter remaining open afier
Killingworth Colliery had closed in 1882, and this can only mean that
Seaton Burn and Dinnington coal was shipped at Killingworth Staithes
as well as at Percy Main; after 1892 cezl from Dimington presumably
went down to Walker, though neither of the other staithes were abandoned;
possibly coal from other companies was handled there, as it was at

JATTOW,

(1) Owned by the Burradon & Coxlodge Coal Company and served by the
Brunton & Shields Raillway.
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When it was known that the Company were intending to sell Seaton
Burn and Dinnington a group of men met to try to raise sufficient
capital to buy them.> The result was the "Seaton Burn Coal Syndicate",
formed on 10th November 1898 with a capital of £100,000 in £10 shares,
all of which were taken up, some by women, The Direction of the
Syndicate was vested in fthree men - Walier Scott, a coal-owner with
three collieries in Rast Durham; Henry Armstrong, a mining engineer
whose principal appointment at this time was as Chief Viewer to Lord
Dunsany & Partners, the owners of Pelton Fell Colliery, near Chester-
le-8treet; and George BRoyd, a Newcastle solicivor. Here too
the Compény had no connection with the intending purchasers,

With the Syndicate now formed, negotiations began for the sale
of the two collieries, which in 1898 had raised 374,772 tons, and on
6th January 1899 an agreement was signed under which the Company was
to receive £82,000 excluding the value of the stock. This latter was
put at £36,500, though this figure did not apparently include stores
worth £5,440. Thus the final figure was in the region of £120,600.

The Syndicate took possession on 8th Jamuary 1899. Four months
later the "Seaton Burn Coal Co. Ltd." was incorporated, containing
some, if not all, of the members of the Syndicate, To this new
company the Syndicate s0ld the collieries for £102,000 on 24th June.,
By this date £72,000 had already been paid to John Bowes & Partners,
and the remainder was paid by the end of the year. The final agree-
ments between thz Company, the Syndicate and the Seaton Burn Coal

Company were signed on 30th December 1899.
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Almost simultaneously with the negotiations with the Seaton
Burn Coal Syndicate the Company was also negotiating for the sale
of Dunston Colliery and the derelict Norwood Colliery (1). Since
Dunston had been re-opened in 1890 its output had risen steadily, and
in both 1897 and 1838 over 150,000 tons was raised. Here the pros-
pective purchsser was the Swalwell Garesfield Coal Company, a very
small company owning only ons colliery, Swalwell Garesfield, at
Swalwell, just over a mile upstream from Dunston on the Tyne, and so
the tw6 collieries could be worked together, The company's managing
director appears to have been a P. H. Brution, about whom litile is
knovm. The olliery's new owﬁers took possession on 9th July 13899,
but the price which they paid- has not come {o light. This company too
did well out of the transaction, for in 1900 it re-opened Norwood
Colliery, which was soon raising a considerable tonnage.

These sales produced the money which the Bowes estate and the
Company needed. 'The Trustees of the Bowes Museum received £50,000
from Western in April 1900 and a further £34,500 in 1901, and although
Western subsequently filed an affidavit claiming that the Museum was
only entitled to another £40,700, the Master of the Court of Chancery
decided that the amount still due was £105,319, The final balance
was paid in July 1305, and the Museum then passed out of the history
of the Company.

As a result of these sales the Company gave up its interest in the

steam coal trade, and also became an entirely Durham~based concern.

(1) It had been closed since 1875.
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The firm never seems to have pald as much attention to its
Northumberland property as it did to its Durham collieries and ovens ~
very few steam coal coantracts are mentioned in the letters from Palmer
and Gregory to Bowes. Cn the other hand, the sale of Usworth and

1

Dunston considerably reduced the Company's capacity to meet the
growing demand for gas coal, now being stimulated by the wider use
of gas for cooking an& heating,

But of the collieries remaining, only ¥elling and Ponicp were

-

1ot cormected {0 the Pontop and Jarrcw Railway; Felling had its own

o

staithes, and ooal from Pontop waz carried by the MHorth Bastern Railway
eithsr to Jarrow or itoc Tyne Dock for shipment, so this disadvantage
(if it was such) was small, It meanit, however, that the majority
of the collieries still owned by the Compény formed a compact unit,
even if that unit wes fifteen miles long from one end to the other.

1

The Compainy now possessed six coking collieries in Marley Hill,
ccal collieries in Kibblesworth, Springwell, Wardley and Felling,
With the re-organisaticn comrleted, the Company's task wzs {o modernise
and develop its resources to meet the demend for coking anl gas coal.

Thig devslopment began at once. In 1900 Dipton Colliery, which
had been closed since 169, was re-opened and its 62 coke ovens 1lit
up once more. Then in 1901 the Company opened up lount Moor Colliery,
or the "Vale Pit", as it was now known, which hed lain idle for many

.

years. This ley at the top of the Black Fell Incline on the Pontop

O

& Jarrow Railway, so that its re-cpening added to the difficuliies
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of operating the six consecutive inclines on the Railway, but its
output steadily increased, and in 1907 this had reached 125,000 tons,
With these two collieries back in production, the Company's output
rose from 1,455,000 tons in 1899 to 1,642,000 tons in 1906, though
this increase was not so striking as that achieved by Bolckow Vaughan,
the Consett Iron Company or Pease & Partners.

The coking side of the Company's business presents a rather
different picture. In general during the 1890's the output of coke
from the coal-field rose. The complete fipgures are not known, but
the output from members of the Durham Coal Owners Association rose
from 2,938,000 tons in 1892 to 5,293,000 tons in 1900, and though it
declined after this it remasined above 4% million tons per year, and
some companies, notably Bolckow Vaughan, the Consett Iron Company
and Priestman Collieries, recorded quite striking increases (1). After
falling to 123,680 tons in 1895 the Company's production rose to
228,387 tons in 1899, when 681 ovens were at work and only 152 out of
work (2), But thereafter there was a steady decline, and for no
apparent reason. The Dipton ovens, which had been re-lit in the
summer of 1900 were put out again in the spring of 1902, and the 107.
ovens at Burnopfield ceased production in October 1304; neither sets

were ever to be 1lit again., By 1904 well over half of the Company's

(1) See Appendix F.

(2) Of the 152 out of work, 62 were at Dipton, and some of the others
would have been under repair.



ovens were out of use, and by 1907 only 300 were at work, with over
500 idle. DNor did the Company malke any move towards building any
bye-product ovens, of which the first examples in Durham had been
erected by Pease & Partners at Crook in 1882, Most of the large
coke-producing fims, and some of the smaller firms too, had built
some by 1905, even if they still had bee-hive ovens in operation.
Yet curiously, while not building any bye-product ovens and suffering
a rapid decline, the Company was still building new ovens - not of the
standard bee-hive type, but an unusual 10ft square oven, of which
no examples are known elsewhere in the county. This seems to have
been a development of the Company's 10ft x 8ft ovens at Crookbank,
and apparently they were filled ard emptied by means of belts. The
first of these 10ft square ovens was built at Fontop in 1896, and the
last three, giving a total of sixty, in 1903-13504. It would seem
that during this period the Company adopted a deliberate policy of
rumning down the coking side of its affairs, a far cry from the days'
when the Partners began in business.

The years following the tum of the century saw the retirement
(or death?) of two long-serving members of the firm. The first was
Cuthbert Berkley, who since 1863 had been the Partners' Chief Viewer.
With his departure in 1901 this post was abolished. His son, R. W.
Berkley, took over the general superintendence of the coking collieries,
but Robert Mitchison had special responsibility for Dipton and Pontop;

while in the east R. B. Clark took over Springwell, the Vale Pit and
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Wardley, W. S. Harris controlled Kibblesworth and Claude Bowes
Palmer (1) Felling (he had previously also had Dunston) .

Three years later saw the departure of John V. Gregory, whose
length of service with the firm probably stretched over sixty years.
He had seen the firm in good days and bad, and probably knew more
about the firm's affairs than even the Partners themselves did. His
letters give the impression of a quiet yet efficient man, an ideal
company secretary. Latterly he had also been a Director, and from
at least 1899 there had been two Secretaries, a man named Thomas
Robinson being the second. He took over as Secretary on Gregory's
departure, but his mein concern seems to have been the fitting side
of the Company's affairs; Henry Armstrong, who first entered the
Company's history in the sale of the Northumberland collieries, and
who had now become a Director, looked after more general business.

With the death of Palmer in 1907 the first generation of the
Company passed aways. Palmer's baronetcy passed to his eldest son
George, a2nd on his death in 1910, it passed to Alfred Falmer, who was
still the Company's Managing Director.

The period between 1900 and 1913 was one of rising production
generally in the Durham cosl-field. It saw the final exploitation of
the concealed eastern part of the coal-field, and new sinkings were

made in nearly all the places not already being worked. In this the

(1) ©. B. Palmer (1868 - 1949) was Palmer's third son and Bowes' god-
child, He left the Company to join the Army in 1914.



_185-

Company was mot left behind, Ve have already seen that Dipton
Colliery was re-opened in 1900, followed by the Vale Pit a year
laters The Company now began to take a close look at the property
which it owned in County Durham, and made plans to expand its
workings wherever it could.

The Company's first move did not, however, increase its
productive capacity. It will be remembered that under the terms of
their lease from the Ecclesiastical Commissioners the Company were
required to instal a large pumping engine to drain both Felling and
other collieries nearby. The Company do not appear to have been in
a hurry to fulfil this obligation, and nothing was done until 1902.
In this year the Company acquired the disused Tyne Main Colliery (other—
wise known as the 01d Fold Pit), which lay on the bank of the Tyne
west of PFelling, and this was then equipped as the pumping station
required.

In addition to re-opening the Vale Pit the Company also began
sinking Springwell Colliery deeper, and in 1902 the Beaumont seam was
proved there at 150 fathoms. This was 5ft 1lin thick, and with the
Vale Pit meant that the Company's prospects on the east side of the
Team Valley were very good; for some time here the output exceeded
350,000 tons per year.

The Company next turmed its attention to the western end of the
Pontop & Jarrow Railway. As we have seen, Dipton Colliery worked
only intermittently during the nineteenth century. The Partners were

not the sole lessees of the royalties in the Dipton and Pontop area;
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indeed, until 1890 there was a second colliery at Dipton itself,
known as the Lily Pit and owned by Robert Dickinson & Company, which
worked the upper seams, the Partners working the lower seams; while
in other parts of the area, which was entirely owned by the Ecclesi-
astical Commissioners, certain sections, and even individual seams,
were shared by mo fewer than five gseparate companies (1),

In 1904 the Company took a careful assessment of its holdings
in the area, and came to the conclusion that the coal then being
worked to Dipton Colliery would not last more than five years, and
irdeed, the output from Dipton was steadily declining. If the
colliery was to continue a new shaft would have to be sunk to the
Busty seam at an estimated cost of £35,000, but as additional work-
men's cottages would be needed the total cost was put at £65,000.

As the Company's main lease expired in 1926 it was not prepared to

lay out such a lsrge sum unless a new lease was granted. This was
done, and in 1909 the sinking began of what became known as Dipton

New Colliery. This lay about 300 yards north of the Delight Colliery,
and came into production during 1913.

At the same time that & new colliery was under consideration at
Dipton the Company was also surveying the eastern end of the Railway.

The source of attention here was the North Follonsby Royalty, and in

(1} The South Derwent Coal Co. Itd., the South Fontop Coal Co (or
U. A. Ritson & Sons Ltd.), the East Fontop Coal Co. Ltd., the
Consett Iron Co. Itd., and John Bowes & Partners Ltd., the last
two being the largest lessees.
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1906 it was decided to sink a new colliery here, about a mile south-
eest of Wardley Colliery. The sinking of the new shaft necessitated
the construction of a branch about 2 mile long fnom.the Raiiway. The
Company seem to have been in no hurrykto proceed with matters: the
.branch was not completed until 1908, and the number of people working
on the new winning actually declined after 1909, The new colliery
was virtually ready to begin production when the Company decided to
close Wardley Colliery, and this was done on 3lst December 1911. It
is not known whether the Company intended from the first that Follonsby
Colliery should supercede Wardley; but its closure caused ill-feeling
among the men. Fof Follonsby remained closed until June 1912; and
under the terms of the wages agreement, if the 800 men previously
employed at Wardley were re-engaged within six months the Company was
obliged to pay the former scale of wages, but if not the scale did not
apply, and when Follonsby did eventually open the men wers compelled fo
accept lower wages or continue unemployed - not an affair from which
the Company emerges with credit., As with all new collieries, it took
several years for Follonsby to come into full production, and even in
191, the ooal raised there was only 146,808 tons, about 35,000 tons
per year less than ¥ardley had averaged before its closure.

Having carried out considerable development at both ends of the
Railway and also on the eastern gide of the Team Valley, the Company
now turned its attention to the western side of the Team Valley. There
were known to be large reserves of coal at Kibblesworth, but the Robert

Pit shaft was only 12ft in diameter, and this hampered attempts to increase
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output. The ultimate solutioﬁ, as at Dipton, was to sink a new
shaft of much larger diameter to the lower seams, but as it was
committed to considerable expense elsewhere the Company obviously
felt unable to do this immediately. Instead it was decided éo éonr
struct a "drift mine", or a horizontal shaft into a seam. This was
a much cheaper mode of working than a vertical shaft colliery as
maintenance and underground costs were less, though of course output
was fairly low as only one seam was being worked. A site was chosen
about 150 yards down the Kibbiesworth Incline, ard Kibblesworth
Grenge Drift, the first drift to be worked as a separate concern from
a colliery, commenced production on lst Jamuary 1915.

The coking side of the Company's affairs declined steadily until
1906, when only 116,279 tons were produced, a very small share of the
5,305,000 tons made by the coking members of the Durham Coal Owners
Association, the highest total yet recorded in their records. Then
at long last the Company decided to construct some bye-product ovens,
and a contract was placed for a battery of sixty Huessner ovens to be
built at Marley Hill, The choice of the Huessner oven is interesting,
as it was one of the older iypes of bye-product oven, and none had
previously been built in the county, firms much preferring the Otto
Hilgenstock and (latterly) the Koppers oven. The Huessner ovens
came into production in July 1208, and were capable of producing about
7,000 tons of coke per month. At the beginning of 1908 only 92 beehive
ovens were still in use at Marley Hill, and the last of these were put

out at the begimming of October 1908. The remaining beehives - at
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Pontop and Byermoor - were not sloﬁ to follow., Latterly about
50 ovens were in use at Pontop, and the last of these was put out
in July 1909. The number in production at Byermoor actually rose
from 52 in 1909 to 103 in 1910, but during 1911 these were gradually
closed down, and the last ceased production in September 1911, thus
ending the Company's stake in beehive oven coke, which seventy years
before had formed the basis of the Partners' greatness. #any of the
beehive ovens were just left as they were, and when the First World
War broke out the Company perhasps haed cause to regret its withdrawal
from this trade. An urgent circular from the Government in December
1916 asking what idle coking capacity could be enlisted to aid the
war effort reveals that at that date the Company still possessed 379
beehive ovens, though only 156 of them, all at Byermoor, were con-
sidered worth repairing, and the Company's reply indicates quite clearly
that it felt coke from these ovens could only be mede at a loss and it
had no wish to re-commence production.

Despite the new ovens the Company's output continued to decline.
In 1908 it fell below 100,000 tons, and in 1912 it was only 75,577 tons,
though it rose slightly thereafter, The Company's position seems
ambiguous; they were reising a large quantity of coking coal, yet they
appear tc have been unable to decide whether to withdraw from the coking
trade altogether and sell the coal to others or to invest more money
in coking and try to re-establish their position in the trade, which
st111 continued at a high level.

With so much capital investment involved it was essential to the
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Company's prosperity that the Pontop & Jarrow Railway should run
efficiently; the North BEastern Railway's Tanfield branch could not
handle all the traffic from the western collieries if the Railway
were to suffer a serious breakdown, while Kibblesworth, the Vale Pit
and Springwell had no other outlet but the Railway for their coal.

The first improvement came in 1900, when the incline between
Burnopfield Colliery and Crookgate was discontinued and locomotives
allowed to work over it, subject to certain restrictions. This cut .
out a notorious mottle-neck between two locomotive~worked sections,
thus greatly facilitating the flow of traffic on the western section.
Then between 1901 and 191, three new locomotives and one second-hand
locomotive were added fo stock, while a further new engine was ordered
at the end of 1914, giving the Railway fourteen locomotives with one
on oxrder at thig date. In addition, at least nine of those locomotives
received new boilers during this period, so that in 1914 the locomotive
stock was in good comdition. As the locomotives grew heavier
more attention had to be given to the track; an experiment using
rail weighing 901bs per yard was laid near Wardley in 1906, and as a
result all the locomptive-worked sections were re-laid with 951bs rail,
though the old 751bs rail continued in use on the inclines for many
years, Nor were the six remaining inclines forgotten in these improve-
ments. Between 1913 and 1915 two of the three stationary engines -
those at Black Fell and Blackham's Hill - were completely rebuilt, thus
eliminating the breakdowns to which the old engines had become rather

prone.




But perhaps the greatest of all the improvements on the
Railway was the final elimination of the chaldron waggon. It
will be remembered that Palmer had increased the capacity of the
original waggon from 53cwts to 70cwts from 1861 onwards, and sub-
sequently waggons up to four tons were built, but the design was
still very crude, and a vast fleet of waggons was needed to cope
with the increasing output. The first 10-ton waggons had come
from Usworth Colliery in the early 1880's, but these and later
additions were not allowed to work further west than Springwell
because of a "barrel" bridge on the Black Fell Incline. When this
bridge had been rebuilt the provision of more 10-ton weggons went
ahead. Some came from orivate builders, but the great majority
were built at the Company's Shops at Springwell Colliery. Finally
on one Sunday in the summer of 1911 all the remaining chaldron
waggons were worked through from the western collieries, to which_
their work had latterly been confined, to Wardley, later to be burnt
or sold. In completely eliminating the chaldron waggon the Company
was among the leaders in the county's industrial railways; they
survived at South Hetton until after the Second World War, and some
are still in use at Seaham Harbour.

During this period the average price of Durham coal fluctuated.
Having reached 11/4.123 in September 1900 it fell to 6/4.324 in
March 1905, rose to 9/4.423 in December 1907, fell again to 7/5.91d

in September 1911, only to rise to 10/3.753@ in September 1913; there-
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after it once again declined (1). But throughout this period

there was 2 steady increase in the demand for coal, and in 1913 the
British coal industry recorded its best-ever output figure of
287,000,000 tons. This trend was exemplified in the Durham coal-
field. In 1901 the amount of coal raised by members of the Durh_am
Coal Owners Association was 30,457,222 tons, whiel had risen in 1913
to 41,748,678 tons (2). In this increase the Partners shared,
though the re-organisation at Dipton and Wardley did have a dampening
effect. In 1901 the Partners' output was 1,502,998 tons, and this -
rogse steadily until 1909, when 1,703,583 tons were raised; there-
after the total declined. Indeed, in common with several other lerge
firms in the county, 1913 was not an exeeptional year, despite the
county's high overall figure. In 1914 the total was 1,592,760 tons,
only 90,000 tons more than in 1901. The Company's share of the
total output of the coal-field also fell. After rising to 3.40%

in 1903 it fell to only 2.67% in 1912, though this figure is abnormal
because of the time lag between the closure of Wardley and the open-
ing of Follonsby., After 1912, altlwugh the Company's output showed
an overall decline, their share of the total output increased, and
this stood at 3.19% in 1914,

When one comes to look at the figures for the number of men -and

(1) As quoted in Accountants' Certificates of the Durham Coal Owners
Association, Vol. IT.

(2) These totals will be slightly lower than those for County Durham

as a whole as a few smll firms were not members of the
Association, '

f_
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boys employed both above and below ground at the collieries, and
relate these to the output figures for those collieries, some-
interesting facts emerge (1). iIf one reviews the whole of the firm's
existence as a limited company into consideration, the first point
to strike the attention is a considerable increase in the number
employed. In 1884 the total number of persons employed in Durham
was 4,869, which had risen to 6,164 in 191), despite the sale of
Usworth and Dunston, yet there was only 25,000 tons difference in
output between the two years. If an approximation of the number
of people employed in Northumberland be added to the 188) figure,
this would seem likely to rise to about 6,000, with a further rise
to 7,000 in the 1890's.,

In taking a closer look at the figures it is noticeable that
in many cases the manpower employed rose without a corresponding
rise in output, and that in some cases the output actually fell, as
at Merley Hill between 1894 and 1904. In reviewing the figures for
those employed underground, at collieries where production was declining,
as at Wardley and Andrews House, the manpower also declines, and it
would seem fair to suggest that there is some connection. The
reverse is also true; Springwell is an example, Some collieries
seem to Illave been much more inclined to employ boys (2) than others,

Springwell and Usworth being notable examples. The engagement of

(1) Por these figures see Appendix @G.

(2) Those aged 15 or below.
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labour was the responsibility of the colliery Manager, and it

would seem that some took on more young labour than others in an
attempt to keep down working costs. Many collieries, the Company's
among them, employed boys only on Saturdays, allowing them to attend
school during the week (1). It is true that many of these boys
would go down the pit at 6 a.m. and at least in Victorian times
might work a nine or ten hour shift, sometimes for as little as

1/6 per week; but overall the number of boys was slowly declining
during this period, both as public conscience grew and as Acts of
Parliament prevented them from being employed below a certain age
and from going down the pit during the night.

It is not possible to relate the output per colliery to the
nunber of men employed underground in terms of output per man shift,
as 1is the system now, because the number éf shifts worked by each
colliery is not known, One is therefore left to fall back upon the
rather less satisfactory comparison between output and the number of
persons employed underground per year. In 1883, 485 tons was raised
for each person employed below ground; by 189 this had fallen to
363 tons, and though 400 tons was exceeded in 1897-1899 and 392 tons
was achieved in 1905, there was thereafter a steady fall, and in 1912
the figure was only 291 tons. But after this there was a sharp rise,

and in 1914 the figure rose to 345 tons, its highest level since 1909.

(1) ™The Company does not appear to have ever possessed any colliery
schools,
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But these figures must be treated with care, in that although there
is no doubt that the output pex.' man urderground fell between 1883
end 1914, the czuses of this may be variable, and short~term factors
will oftten apply. The colliery may have suffered a strike, or
encountered difficult working conditions or been severely troubled
with water. But throughout the period there was a fall not only
in the hours worked by each employee at a colliery (as, for example,
after the Eight Hours Act of 1907) but also in the number of days
worked by each colliery in a year; and so even to maintain output
at existing levels the Company must have been obliged to engage more
men. Consequently the Company's working charges in 1914 must have
been very much higher than in 1884,

In turning to the section dealing with coke production, it will
be noted at once that the production of beehive coke was very cheap
and required only a small labour force. For example, in 1884 the
16,000 tons of coke made at both Dipton and Burnopf:ield were produced
by only fourteen men in each case, and this kind of figure provides
a good illusgtration of why coke manufacturers were so reluctant to
build bye-product- ovené. For some reason not evident, however, the
cost to the Partners of converting coal into coke hed always been
fairly high, In 1880 it was 2/- per ton, falling to 1/11d per ton
in 1887, but rising to 2/1.25d in 1894, This was higher than most
of the large firms: in 1894 the comparable figures for the

Consett Iron Company and Bolckow Vaughan were 1/5.643 and 2/0.73d
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respectively (1); the average of all coke producers in the county was
about 1/10d. The number of men employed by the Company in coke making
was almost the same (180 compared with 177) in 1894 (when production was
entirely by beehives) as in 1914 (when it was entirely from bye-product
ovens); but the output in 1914 was well below half what it had been
twenty years earlier, though it should be remembered that the Company
profited not only from the coke made but also from the various bye-
products.

Thus in the thirty years since the firm had been converted into a
limited company it first attempted to carry on as before, and to a large
extent succeeded in doing so., But after Alfred Pelmer had taken over asg
Managing Director in 1896 the firm decided that its relationship with
the Bowes estate must be put on a more satisfactory basis, and so the
Company had to accept a reduction in the size of its holdings., After
this had been done the firm was-able to re-organise and develop those
resources which remained, and more of the royalties which it possessed
were opened out, especially in those areas producing gas coal, now the
Company's main source of income. The change-over from beehive to bye-
product ovens was completed, although the Company's coking business was
by no means so important as it once had been., The large programme of
cepital investment carried out between 1900 and 1914 in all spheres of
its activity enabled the Company to face the future with some degree
of confidence. Nobody knew then that the great days of John Bowes &

Partners had already passed.

(1) Taken from Durham Coal Owners Association Return No. 361A.
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CONCLUSION.
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Conclusion.

Between 1840 and 191} the character of the coal industry in
Durham changed considerably. When the Partners entered the industry
the most profitable investment was to be made in raising coking coal
and oconverting it into coke. In this field Durham gained a2 world-
wide reputation, and the Partners became one of the most famous names
in the coke trade. There was at that time a steadily-increasing
demand from railways and from the iron industry. But as the large
iron companies grew up they gradually acquired their own collieries,
and with the demand for coke from the railways now in decline, coal
companies in Durham were compelled to seek new markets. Here the
Partners were fortunate when Palmer built up his huge iron-works and
ship~-yard at Jarrow, and the firm became to a certain extent the
complementary part of Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Co. Ltd., though
its policy always remained independent of that company. In later
years, however, the Company, whether voluntarily or otherwise, gave
up its important position in the coking industry. Tﬁeir change~-over
to bye-product ovens did not occur until a quarter of a century after
their introduction in Durham, end their contribution to the coking
trade during the Edwardian periocd was relatively small.

Fowever, by 191k the character of the Durham coal-field had
changed. From Durham'!'s point of view, the most importent development ‘
in the later years of the nineteenth century was the growth in the
demsnd for gas coal, especially as the use of gas for cooking and

heating became more popular., This stimulated the development of the
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eastern half of the Durham coal-field, where excellent gas coal was
obtainable., Thus it is significant that all the collieries latterly
acquired by the Partners were supplying the gas coal trade, and that
this was the firm's most important business in 1914.

At one level the structure of the Partnership could be said
to epitomise the basis of Victorian greatness in the world, being
a partnership bétween a land-owner, a professional politician, an
engineer and a business man; but it was more than. this. Based on
the land and wealth of an extensive land-owner, the firm was nevertheless
raised to greatness by the ability, energy and determination of a man
outside that class - a man tazken into the partnership as Managing
Partner because of those attributes, and allowed a very free hand by
his fellow partners, although none of them could possibly be termed
sleeping partners., Palmer, thus given the oppoftunity, was able to
build up a huge industrial empire, self-contained to such an extent
that it was almost unique, and so became one of the great Victorian
industrislists. Yet John Bowes & Partners never became a subsidiary
of Palmers Shipbuilding & Iron Co., Ltd,, but remained an independant
and famous name in its own right.

The sheer size of the Partners' holdings was exceptional in an
industry where up to the First World War small units were the rule.
The growth of large units was much more common in Durham than else-
where, with land-owners like the Earl of Durham and the Marquis of
Londonderry, and such firms as Bolckow Vaughan & Co. Lid., Conset?t

Iron Co. Itd., and Pease & Partners Ltd. The Partners, however,
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differed from these in that they built up their position by taking
over collieries from firms either bankrupt or in decline, whereas
the firms listed above expanded by sinking new collieries on hitherto
unworked land. There was little movement towards the formation of
bigger units by the amalgamation of two or more companies until after
191 (1), when the great days of the coal-field were past and the
long process of decline was under way. Most firms did, however,
take advantage of limited lisbility, although the process was slow
to start and took many years before it was complete (2).

The reasons behind the sales of 1897-1899 have been fully
discussed above., The Company had little choice but to act as it did,
and in a sense it was the price to be paid for the Fartrners' indis-
cretions of earlier years. But even after the changes of this period
the Company remained among the biggest firms in the county, and its
large programme of cepital investment in the years before the First
World War played an important part in maintaining its position in the

trade.

(1) The only one of importance to occur before 1914 was the amalgamation
of Lambton Collieries Ltd. and the Hetton Coal Co. Ltd. to form
Lambton & Hetton Collieries Ltd. in August 1911, though earlier
Priestman Collieries Ltd. had been built up by the amalgamation
of four small companies over a number of years.

(2) The last of the large firms, Strakers & Love, did not become a
limited company until May 1925,
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After the First World ¥War the Company suffered a further period
of decline, forced upon it by the economic depression. Andrews
House Colliery closed in 1920, to be followed by Pontop in 1527,

The world-wide depression of 1929-1931 caused the closure of Felling,
Springwell, the Vale Pit and Kibblesworth Grange Drift, while in
1940 Dipton was closed and Follonsby sold. But the link with the
Earls of Strathmore remained (the 1lith Earl served as Chairman of
the Company for some years), and in July 1936 the then Duchess of
York (the l4th Earl's youngest daughter and now Queen Elizabeth the
Queen Mother) opened modern staithes at Jarrow and a new pit at
Kibblesworth. In the following year a large new coke oven and bye-
products plant, with an adjacent coal-cleaning plant, was opened at
WMonkton, near Wardley (replacing the obsolete plant at Marley Hill,
closed in the same year), and a new drift mine was won on Blackburn
Fell, about £ mile east of Marley Hill.

Today Streatlam Castle and Gibside, on which Bowes and Hutt
lavished so much care, lie in ruins, and Palmer's great Works at
Jarrow lives on only in the memories of the older generation. of
their work (apart from the Bowes Museum and a few ships) there remain
only the collieries ~ ¥Marley Hill, Byermoor, Burnopfield, Blackburn
Fell Drift, Kibblesworth, Follonsby and Wardley, which, with the
Monkton Coking Plant and Washery and Jarrow Stalthes, are still served
by the railway - now, very appropriately, named the Bowes Railway -
built for that purpose so many years ago. It is perhaps an ironic

twist of fate that the colliery where it all began - Marley Hill -
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could by 1985 be the only colliery still working in the whole of

West Durham, once the scene of so much frenzied activity.

Thus the great days of John Bowes & Partners were over by 1914;
but for their contribution to the industrial greatness of Victorian
England, John Bowes, William Hutt, Micholas Wood and Charles Mark

Palmer deserve more than to be consgigned to oblivion.
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AFPENDIX A

Coal output figures for John Bowes & Partners, 1871-191L

(As given in the Statistical Returns of the Durham Coal Owners
Association and the Northumberland Coal Owners Association)

(in tons)

Colliery 1871 1872 1873 1874 1875
Marley Hill 171,572 176,256 179,036 175,099 181,838
Andrews House 67,385 52,402 56,719 73,915 78,457
Byermoor 116,906 110,800 48,947 90,734 100,342
Burnopfield 132,618 105,843 105,452 103,725 105,559
Dipton (1) NIL NIL 12,475 46,582 53,154
Pontop 107,876 112,665 99,566 96,905 81,118
Kibblesworth 143,808 129,035 125,042 124,238 133,838
Springwell 131,124 119,031 O, 546 102,914 92,341
Wardley (2) 24,488 37,933 135,140 147,72} 150,000
Norwood (3) NIL NIL 1,024 25,946

Dunston (3) 68,636
Durham

Collieries 9y, 04O 947,631 89,662 1,036,185 1,098,402
Killingworth 67,864

Gosforth 19,425

Seaton Burn 86,207

Dinnington 88,107

Northumberland

Collieries (4)| 250,000 260,000 261,803 300,000 320,000
TOTAL CUTPUT  |1,194,040 1,207,631 |1,156,465 | 1,336,185 | 1,418,402

(1) Dipton Colliery was closed until the summer of 1873.

(2) wardley Colliery began production in the summer of 1871. It was
withdrawn from the Association in 1875, and the figure given here for
that year is an approximation of its output.

(3) Norwood Colliery was closed until the autum of 1873. In 1875 it
was superceded by Dunston Colliery, which began production in that year.

(&) The only output figures from the Partners which survive in the

Northumberland Returns are those for 1873 and 1896-1898. 1In other
years an approximation has had to be made, and this should be borne
in mind when considering the total output figures.
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Coal output figures, 1871-1914

(in tons)
Colliery 1876 1877 1878 1879 1880
Marley Hill 192,295 122,075 165,123
Andrews House 60,689 86,392 83,269
Byermoor 68,957 67,745 86,999
Burnopfield 101,95 107,282 128,978
Dipton (1) 50,000 56,258 114,301
Pontop (6) 116,326 (7) 136,579 141,448
Kibblesworth 123,819 137,093 132,122
Springwell 111,659 136,104 157,841
Wardley (2) 145,000 140,000 155,000
Shipcote (3) 47,000
Dunston (4) NIL NIL NIL
Durham
Collieries ? 1,017,699 ? 990,528 | 1,165,081
Northumberland
Collieries (5) ? 250,000 ? 250,000 270,000
TOTAL OUIPUT ? 1,267,699 ? 1,240,528 1,435,081

(1) Dipton Colliery was withdrawn from the Association in 1877, but had
rejoined by 1879, The figure given here for 1877 is an approximation.

(2) Wardley Colliery was not a nmember of the Association between 1875 amd
1883. The figures given here are approximations.

(3) Shipcote Colliery was withdrawn from the Association by 1877; the
figure given here for 1877 is an approximation. The colliery closed -

(4) Dunston Colliery was closed in Novamber 1876, and did not re-open
until 1890,

(5) In the absence of the returns for Northumberland, the figures given
here are approximations. Gosforth Colliery closed in 1877.

N.B. In view of the four approximations included in the figures for
1877, the total figure for this year should be treated with
caution.

(6) The volume of returns for 1876 is missing.

(7) The Partners' return is missing from the volume of returns for 1878.
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Coal output figures, 1871-1914 (3)

(in tons)
Colliery 1881 1882 1883 1884, 1885
Marley Hill 168,355 207,180 202,989 185,187 165,851
Andrews House 76,403 84,336 77,009 73,522 72,988
Byermoor 96,021 101,040 100,484, 86,530 85,141
Burnopfield 124,506 120,356 110,511 9,928 94,903
Dipton 101,569 114,224 120,409 118,966 106,082
Pontop 138,282 137,150 124,203 124,617 112,850
Kibblesworth 120,95 133,333 134,619 126,907 117,737
Springwell 137,426 140,211 157,998 1,8,787 140,007
Wardley (1) 135,000 158,222 181,958 252,245 196,779
Usworth (2) 219,006 272,901 217,330 179,225
Felling (3) 82,723 101,622 82,433
Dunston NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL
Durham
Collieries 1,098,519 |1,405,088 1,567,807 1,530,641 1,353,996
| Northumberland
Collieries (4)| 280,000 300,000 230,000 220,000 200,000
TOTAL OUTFUT  |1,378,519 1,705,088 1,797,807 1,750,641 1,553,996

(1) Wardley Colliery did mot rejoin the Durham Coal Owners Association

until March 1883;

but that for 1882 is given on the return for that year.

the figure given for 1881 is an approximation,

(2) The output figure for 1882 is from the date of the Partners'
possession, 20th March 1882,
the explosion of 2nd March.

The figure for 1885 is affected by

(3) The output figure for 1883 is from the date of the Partners'
possession, 5th March 1883.

(4) In the absence of the returns for Northumberland, the figures

given are approximations.

April 1882,

Killingworth Colliery was closed in
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Coal output figures, 1871-1914 (4)

(in tons)
Colliery 1886 _ 1887 13888 1889 1890
Marley Hill 184,121 187,578
Andrews House 76,085 85,236
Byermoor 88,507 120,561
Burnopfield 111,975 126,372
Dipton 116,449 122,124
Pontop 127,250 152,945 (1) (1) (1)
Springwell 158,992 195,359
Wardley 189,637 156,392
Usworth 179,070 223,505
Felling 120,180 134,831
Dunston NI, NIL
Durham
Collieries 1,477,813 1,643,443 ? ? ?
Northumberland
Collieries (2)| 220,000 250,000
TOTAL QUI'PUT (1,697,813 1,893,443 ? ? ?

(1) The volume of returns for 1888-1890 is missing.

(2) In the absence of the returns for Northumberland, the figures

given are approximations. The Company now possessed only Seaton

Burn and Dinnington Collieries in Northumberland.




Coal output figures, 1871-191L4 (5)

(vi)

{(in tons)
Colliery 1891 1892 1893 1894 1895
Marley Hill 128,259 183,203 205,245 203,433
Andrews House 49,860 63,189 60,440 70,567
Byermoor 83,961 100,752 106, 405 103,883
Burnopfield 91,598 110,954 118,110 107,778
Dipton 79,838 87,312 81,105 NIL
Pontop (1) 85,202 81,072 9,602 95,606
Kibblesworth 96,728 109,383 117,226 119,540
Springwell 159,307 195,724 223,867 205,734
Wardley 166,372 190,222 134,500 227,361
Usworth 136,113 207,84 254,391 243,496
Felling 152,253 170,943 125,482 126,152
Dunston 96,625 91,937 110,338 84,173
Durham
Collieries 1,658,274 | 1,326,116 1,592,535 |1,692,211 | 1,587,728
Northumberland
Collieries (2)| 300,000 220,000 300,000 350,000 320,000
TOTAL OUTPUT |1,958,274 | 1,546,116 | 1,892,535 |2,042,211 | 1,907,728

(1) The individual figures for each colliery are not given on the

return.

(2) In the absence of the returns for Northumberland, the figures
given are approximations. '
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Coal output figures, 1871-191) (6)

(in tons)
Colliery 1896 1897 1898 1899 1300
Marley Hill 221,064 209,758 206,286 185,923 172,582
Andrews House 75,121 73,844 78,185 75,097 68,756
Byermoor 127,499 144,347 153,247 147,916 131,696
Burnopfield 117,462 110,605 118,232 123,620 127,931
Dipton (1) NIL NIL NIL NIL 40,001
Pontop 119,830 119,597 117,552 121,153 117,584
Kivblesworth 134,019 140,154 144,365 149,430 156,374
Springwell 234,168 245,481 251,851 255,774 268,379
Wardley 227,148 219,059 221,458 211,768 208,278
Usworth (2) 290,720 _
Felling 132,330 146,038 169,642 184, 326 197,934
Dunston (3) 115,481 159, 24,2 155,989 65,647
Durham - . " |
Collieries 1,794,842 |1,568,125 1,616,807 1,520,654 | 1,489,515
Seaton Burn 204,846 232,820 227,682
Dinnington (4)| 114,595 126,826 147,097
Northumberland
Colliifies 319,441 359,646 374,779
TOTAL OUTFUT  |2,114,283 1,927,771 | 1,991,586 1,520,654 1,489,515

(1) Dipten Colliery was closed until the latter half of 1900.

(2) Usworth Colliery was sold in 1897;

credited with any tonnage for that year is not known,

(3) Dunston Colliery was sold in July 1899;

the tonnage raised by the Company to that date.

whether the Company should be

the figure given here is

(4) Seaton Burn and Dinnington Collieries were sold in Jamary 1899;
the tonnage which should be credited to the Company for the period
up to 7th January 1899 is not known.




Coal output figures, 1871-191k (7)

(viii)

{in tons)

Colliery 1501 1902 1903 1904 1905

Marley Hill 170,874 176,793 180, 901 190,12 203,318
Ardrews House 68,228 64,262 70,429 61,616 60,803
Byermoor 118,923 119,946 119,039 126,011 129,787
Burnopfield 125,874 137,713 138,328 130,314 146,913
Dipton 66,259 78,666 92,24, 96,881 86,902
Pontop 111,400 116,630 121,232 131,166 133,364
Kibblesworth 143,910 139,120 137,954 122,667 133,313
Springwell 241,317 252,334 257,312 253,144 250,616
Vale Pit (1) 38,446 52,281 65,858 74,169 81,567
Wardley 216,259 212,222 205,451 185,693 203,287
Felling 201,46 193,514 240,080 219,334 206,477
TOTAL OUTPUT | 1,502,998 1,543,491 1,628,828 1,594,119 | 1,636,347

(1) The Vale Pit came into production during the summer of 1901.

§
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Coal output figures, 1871-191k (8)

(in tons)

Colliery 1906 1507 1908 1909 1910

Marley Hill 202,100 194,047 183,816 198,216 245,039
Andrews House 65,991 79,349 88, 456 92,706 86,426
Byermoor 123,290 109,231 125,166 132,592 135,554
Burnopfield 138,750 132,032 124,531 132,661 130,991
Dipton 63,600 61,813 64,119 51,786 48,026
Pontop 132,500 127,889 135,761 152,635 143,531
Kibblesworth 110,431 139,512 137,257 1i1,251 132,399
Springwell 263,290 | 263,275 262,881 272,09 263,406
Vale Pit 98,133 125, 4, 122,328 125,995 119,884
Wardley 193,51. 200,149 187,100 178,420 183,546
Felling 220,570 223,342 225,140 225,227 212,457
TOTAL OUTPUT | 1,642,169 | 1,656,383 1,656,555 1,703,583 1,701,269
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Coal output figures, 1871~1914 (9)

(in tons)

Colliery 1911 1912 1513 1514
Marley Hill 235,511 ; 194,815 238,646 213,618
Andrews House 91,743 | 77,250 78,241 63,668
Byermoor 139,387 127,200 128,731 121,543
Burnopfield 121,594 101,605 118,230 125,391
Dipton (1) 41,565 50,052 95,590 108,621
Fontop 155,042 135,123 146,623 130,088
Kibblesworth 130,442 117,559 142,168 158,292
Springwell 267,905 248,355 270,101 242,732
Vale Pit 126,968 119,851 132,147 107,014
Wardley (2) 172,117

Felling 204, 346 185,125 216,355 174,985
Follonsby (3) 13,435 85,425 146,808
TOTAL OUTFUT | 1,686,620 1,370,370 | 1,652,257 1,592,760

(1) Dipton Hew Colliery began production in 1913.
(2) Wardley Colliery was closed in December 1911.

(3) Follonsby Colliery began oroduction in June 1912,
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AFFPENDIX B

Comparison between the coal output figures

of the Partners and other firms in the Durham coal-field

with an annual output over 500,000 tons, 1871-151

(Figures from the Statistical Returns of the Durham Coal Owners Association)

Company 1871 1872 . 1873 1874 . 1875
John Bowes & Partners |1,194,040 [1,207,631 |1,156,465 |1,336,185 |1,418,402
Bolckow Vaughan (1) ? 1,499,925 |1,462,631 (1,735,420 |1,989,426
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. 526,786 575,456 680,000 - 669,783 694,252
Berl of Durham 1,422,465 1,434,941 |1,409,623 {1,380,438 |1,426,556
Haswell & Shotton (2) 600,000 516,893 503,198
Hetton Coal Co. 700,000 628,58 561,412 550,787 595,962
James Joicey & Co. 1,100,000 1,155,000 1,129,000 |1,220,000 |1,260,000
Marquis of ILondonderry| 978,384 915,127 829,667 850,935 916,976
Pease & Partners ? 1,372,652 |[1,333,188 |1,266,518 |1,365,765
Ryhope Coal Co. 631,771 519,390

South Hetton Coal Co. 715,612 645,000 589,673 605,946 654, 940
Strakers & lLove (3) 1,137,000 1,119,499 |1,105,010 962,085 |1,001,811

N.B.

tons in that year.

Full titles of companies

(1)
(2)
(3)

Haswell & Shotton

Bolckow, Vaughan & Co. Lid.

Coal Co,

"Straker and Iove" is also found.

Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did not raise 500,000
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Comparison between the coal output figures

of the Partners and other firms in the Durham coal-field

with an amual cutout over 500,000 tons, 1871-191L

(2)

Company 1876 1877 1878 1879 1880

John Bowes & Partners 1,267,699 (1) 1,240,528 11,435,081
Bell Brothers Ltd. 538,176
Bolckow Vaughan 2,092,723 |1,824,981 | 1,705,843 (2,003,617
Consett Iron Co. Lid. 713,732 ‘681,965 751,777 |1,018,975
Earl of Durham . 1,436,936 1,499,292 | 1,428,184 (1,711,743
Harton Coal Co. 500,550 528,671 504,089 | 500,783
Hetton Coal Co. 731,118 718,067 705,389 809,783
James Joicey & Co. (&) 1,233,000 |1,289,000 | 1,154,000 |1,325,800
Marquis of Londonderry 1,146,543 |1,228,163 | 1,078,672 |1,027,315
Pease & Partners 1,344,713 (1,305,660 | 1,153,469 |1,393,770
Pelaw Main (2) 537,070
Pelton (3) 556,333
Ryhope Coal Co. 523,478 586,853
South Hetton Coal Co. 871,328 | - 940,045 787,418 | 989,861
Strakers & Love 586,859 _ 879,524
William Hunter 519,578 518,778 558,753 | 570,075

N.B.

tons in that year.

Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did not raise 500,000

(1) The Partners' return is missing from the volume of returns for

1878,

(2) "Pelaw Main Collieries" was the title given to the colliery side
of the Birtley Iron Co. Ltd.

(3) Pull title:

"The Owners of Pelton Colliery".

(4) The volume of returns for 1876 is missing.




(xiv)

Comparison between the coal output figures

of the Partners and other firms in the Durham coal-field

with an annual outout over 500,000 tons, 1871-191%4

(3) '

Company 1881 1882 1883 1884 1885

John Bowes & Partners |1,378,519 |1,705,088 1,797,807 , 1,750,641 (1,533,996
Bell Brothers Litd. 538,781 534,681 548,756

Bolckow Vaughan 2,074,074 |2,089,438 12,084,790 . 1,533,156 |1,594,190
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. |[1,073,752 |1,032,902 |[1,032,469 848,770 854,529
Earl of Durham 1,746,483 |1,764,634 (1,831,604 | 1,773,062 {1,727,733
Harton Coal Co. Lid. 517,525 527,467 575,115 633,307 712,633
Hetton Coal Co. Ltd. 839,439 806,719 810,025 817,983 882,147
James Joicey & Co. 1,265,900 (1,298,439 |1,398,720 | 1,531,388 |1,464,001
Lord Dunsany & Pts (1) 519,410 524,725 515,988

Marquis of Iondonderry (1,051,445 |1,191,604 [1,340,654 | 1,371,267 |1,414,841
Pease & Partners 1,364,293 |1,342,253 |1,388,247 | 1,336,388 |1,235,679
Pelaw Hain 531,367 782,612 78L,147 785,493 792,532
Ryhope Coal Co. Ltd. 561,947 54,096 537,613 598,441 692,613
South Hetton Coal Co. [1,030,834 954,186 953,324 954, 984 966,376
Strakers & Love 920,192 |1,120,182 (1,083,856 | 1,138,739 (1,029,428
Tyne Coal Co. Ltd. 508,719
Waelter Scott 507,101
Weardale Iron Co. (2) ? 1,230,016 [1,303,059 | 1,185,904 |1,087,432
Wearmouth Coal Co. Ltd. 511,882
William Hunter 675,817 561,316 589,141 557,535 520,310

N'B.

tons in that year.

(1)

Colliery"™.

(2) Full title:

"Weardale Iron & Coal Co. Ltd."

"Tord Dunsany & Partners" was formerly "The Owners of Pelton

Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did not raise 500,000




Comparison between the coal output figures

(xv)

of the Partners and other firms in the Durham coal-field

with an annual outpu

t over 500,000 tons, 1371-191,

(4)
Company 1886 1887 1888 1889 1890
John Bowes & Partners (1,637,813 | 1,893,443
Bolckow Vaughan 1,637,998 | 1,592,123
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. 799,184 879,613
BEarl of Durham 1,699,896 | 1,831,045
Earton Coal Co. Ltd. 768,733 827,776
Hetton Coal Co. Ltd. 794,474 827,735
James Joicey & Co. 1,401,279 | 1,537,777
Lord Dunsany & Pts. 522,622 530,110
Marquis of Londonderry 1,498,588 | 1,574,818 (1) (1) (1)
Pease & Partners 1,157,871 | 1,285,923
Pelaw Main 842,640 820, 344,
Ryhope Coal Co. Ltd. 700,546 698,839
South Hetton Coal Co. 970,865 1,013,542
Strakers & Love 976,222 | 1,011,721
Walter Scott 51,431 521,727
Weardale Iron Co. 994,234 | 1,076,287
Wearmouth Coal Co. Litd. 556,175 569,049
William Hunter 526,410

N.B. The blank indicates that the firm concerned did not raise

500,000 tons in that year.

(1) The volume of returns for 1888-1890 is missing.
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Comparison between the coal output figures

of the Partners and other firms in the Durham coal-field

with an annual output over 500,000 tons, 1871-191L

(5)
Company 1891 1892 1893 1892, 1895
John Bowes & Partners (1,958,274 |1,546,116 |1,892,535 |[2,042,211 1,907,728|
Bell Brothers Ltd. 647,385 586,222 673,556 656,565
Bolckow Vaughan 1,490,559 | 1,180,680 |1,485,007 |1,524,362 1,517,608
Charlaw & Sacriston(1)| 510,998 558,820 532,599 592, 464
Consett Iron Co., Ltd. [1,002,478 790,411 |1,030,301 1,181,474 | 1,128,142
Barl of Durham 2,107,459 (1,651,008 2,172,499 (2,377,044 | 2,319,262
Harton Coal Co. Ltd. [1,046,128 852,841 1,137,759 |1,297,130 | 1,241,433
Hetton Coal Co. ILtd. 792,770 610,09. 794,012 836,416 787,523
James Joicey & Co. 1,784,329 (2) (2) (2) (2)
Lord Dunsany & Pts 547,476 646,245 663,912 651,230
Marquis of londonderry |1,239,637 | 1,084,462 |[1,332,012 (1,348,653 1,368,151
North Brancepeth (3) ' 519,779
Pease & Partners 1,311,125 973,928 1,197,643 |1,359,968 1,200,090
Pelaw Main 782,342 639,452 846,965 880,227 859,103
Ryhope Coal Co. Ltd. 520,535 527,448 531,001 539,536
South Hetton Coal Co. 756,362 742,976 988,226 1,026,113 1,045,909
Stella Coal Co. Ltd. 526,440
Strakers & Love 976,640 746,292 944,931 1,004,997 909,454
Walter Scott Ltd, _ 635,925 640,958
¥eardale Iron Co. 1,219,414 922,042 {1,215,248 1,316,451 1,267,095
Wearmouth Coal Co. Ltd. 540,563 600,526 638,159 648,159

N.B.

The figures for

that year.

(1)

Full title:

Blanks indicate
500,000 tons in that year.

formerly ¥illiam Hunter.

- (2)

Full title:

(3)

"Charlaw & Sacriston Collieries Ltd."

"North Brancepeth Coal Co. Ltd."

that the firms concernsd did not raise

1892 were affected by the General Strike of

The firm vas

James Joicey & Co. Ltd. was not a member of the Association from
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Comparison bztween the coal output figures

of the Partners amd other firms in the Durham coal-fisld

with an annual output over 500,000 tons, 1371-1914

(é)

Company 1896 1897 1898 1899 1900
John Bowes & Partners (2,114,283 1,927,711 {1,901,586 | 1,520,654 {1,489,515
Bell Brothers Ltd. 708,097 718,701 749,318 749,754 810,913
Bolckow Vaughan 1,531,537 |1,422,43k (1,453,639 | 1,346,370 (1,556,932
Charlaw & Sacriston 592,461 622,658 654,439 655,950 624,440
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. |1,279,082 |1,336,815 |1,451,501 | 1,529,200 1,523,487
Harton Coal Co. Ltd. |1,349,578 | 1,515,895 |1,542,192 | 1,500,119 [1,508,646
Hetton Coal Co. Ltd. 828,728 836,575 802,272 813,463 832,509
Lanbton Collieries (1) (2,673,845 | 2,896,765 |2,850,046 | 2,879,869 2,973,181
Lord Dunsany & Pis 668,337 597,716 606,333 583,827 | 597,029
londonderry Collieries '

(2) 1,134,893 |1,183,329 |1,214,391 | 1,182,596 |1,159,363
Pease & Partners Ltd., 1,309,635 (1,328,028 |1,407,234 | 1,434,561 [1,407,553
Pelaw Main 866,801 892,827 916,890 913,740 893,375
Priestman Collieries

(3) 663,000 614,000
Ryhope Cozl Co. Ltd. 560,590 580,315 559,666
South Hetton Coel Co. (1,088,350 |1,182,891 |1,201,824 | 1,196,727 pP,197,659
Stella Coal Co. Lid. 543,850 619,210 698,204 718,991 721,556
Strakers & Love 958,777 1,024,341 1,047,929 | 1,056,122 0,017,834
Walter Scott Ltd. 681,605 683,011 733,275 747,641 723,499 -
Weardale S, C & C (4) 1,360,728 |1,377,427 |1,425,615 | 1,417,769 1,358,212 -
Wearmouth Coal Co. Ltd. 681,605 628,069 631,765 625,056 | 703,988

N.B.

tons in that year.

(1)
(2)
(3)

Full title:

(%)

Co. Ltd." until September 1899,

"The Owners of the Priestman Collieries™;
formed in 1897.

Blanks indicate that the firms concerrned did not raise 500,000

"Lambton Collieries Lid." was the "Barl of Durham" until August 1896.
"ondonderry Collieries Itd." was the "Warquis of Iondonderry" until 1900.

the firm was

"Yeardale Steel, Coal & Coke Co. Ltd." was the "Weardale Iron & Coal




(xviii)

Comparison between the coal output figures

of the Pariners and other firms in the Durham coal-field

with an annual output over 500,000 tons, 1871-191k

(7)

Company 1901 1902 1903 1901 1905
John Bowes & Partners (1,502,998 | 1,543,491 | 1,628,828 | 1,594,119 | 1,636,347
Bell Brothers Ltd. 765,117 787,475 820,209 802,892 827,399
Bolckow Vaughan (1) 1,579,256 | 1,601,006 | 1,754,993 | 2,049,571 | 2,389,987
Charlaw & Sacriston 653,678 692,011 639,000 696,453 754,055
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. (1,413,194 | 1,454,518 | 1,562,387 | 1,643,079 |1,766,905
Harton Coal Co. Ltd. |[1,456,502 | 1,297,070 | 1,366,776 | 1,411,194 |1,419,057
Hetton Coal Co. Ltd. 811,412 813,310 792,757 760,178 762,214,
James Joicey & Co.Ltd. |2,033,737 | 2,131,872 | 2,281,125 | 2,335,701 |2,368,059
Lambton Collieries 2,805,675 | 2,814,115 | 2,852,858 | 2,862,228 {2,772,602
Londonderry Collieries 1,139,901 | 1,185,553 | 1,247,131 | 1,314,953 |1,319,465
Pease & Partn=rs Ltd.

(2) 1,351,827 | 1,368,454 | 1,747,109 | 1,614,638 1,797,103
Pelaw Main 896,948 937,397 |{1,040,826 | 1,090,718 {1,186,825
Pelton (3) 552,230 581,898 580,232 574,536 | 569,067
Priestman Collieries 662,000 679,000 859,000 881,000 938,000
Ryhove Coal Co. Ltd. 526,786 506,102 505,767 515,067
South Hetton Coal Co. 1,183,247 | 1,137,763 |1,149,919 | 1,155,854 {1,161,615
Stella Coal Co. Ltd, 702,290 741,882 786,138 783,248 822,619
H. Stobart & Co. Ltd. 521,209 584,239
Strakers & love 974,677 966,371 | 1,045,194 | 1,004,640 |1,085,425
Walter Scott Ltd. 682,579 734,528 724,456 754, 226 741,583
Weardale S, C & C 1,333,096 |1,397,158 {1,401,205 | 1,271,136 |1,344,509
Wearmmouth Coal Co,., Ltd.

(%) 790,236 950,946 |1,129,429 | 1,306,489 |1,301,318

N.B. Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did noi raise 500,000

tons in that year.

(1)

Colliery during this period.

(2)

Durham Coal Co. Ltd. in 1903.

(3)

Pull title:

Partners until June 13901).

(&)

"The Owners of Pelton Colliery Ltd."

The large increase in output was due to the opening of Dean & Chapter

The large increase in output was due to the absorption of the South

(Lord Dunsany &

The large increase in output was due to the opening of Hylton Colliery.
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Comparison between the coal output figures

of the Partners and other firms in the Durham coal-field

with an annual output over 500,000 tons, 1871-191),

(8)

Company 1906 15907 1908 1909 1910

John Bowes & Partners (1,642,169 |1,656,383 |1,656,555 | 1,703,583 |1,701,269
Bell Brothers Ltd, 827,968 819,039 792,338 897,727 894,387
Bolckow Vaughan 2,739,037 |2,868,071 | 2,633,815 | 2,494,698 | 2,438,338
Charlaw & Sacriston 776,125 782,896 789,13 805,156 734,954
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. [1,972,480 |2,130,961 |2,166,318 | 2,343,677 | 2,288,552
Harton Coal Co. Ltd. (1,398,630 !1,398,382 |1,562,968 | 1,760,464 2,042,306
Hetton Coal Co. Ltd. 776,447 803,102 798,707 786,918 7735243
Horden Collieries Ltd.,| 583,466 829,616 913,872 | 1,038,707 788,280
James Joicey & Co.Ltd. 2,328,737 |2,328,140 |2,230,910 { 2,201,342 (1,978,378
Lambton Collieries 2,911,317 |2,950,995 |2,958,491 | 3,157,226 | 3,118,277
londonderry Collieries|1,407,089 |1,400,604 |1,480,418 | 1,637,192 |1,616,658
Pease & Partners Ltd. (1,968,644 (1,982,357 |2,002,756 | 2,072,819 |2,094,652
Pelaw Main 1,214,442 |1,217,238 |1,259,588 | 1,341,643 |1,293,400
Pelton 569,056 620,259 619,071 651,817 663,372
Priestman Collieries 987,786 1,011,383 |1,000,398 | 1,127,679 |1,142,372
Ryhope Coal Co, Ltd. 516,313 507,859 533,767

South Hetton Coal Co. (1,197,627 (1,227,718 [1,196,900 | 1,171,845 802,050
Stella Coal Co. ILtd. 811,002 860,751 913,422 947,830 983,123
H. Stobart & Co, Ltd. 596,704 644,598 635,198 675,889 606,488
Strakers & Love 1,091,771 (1,082,029 (1,007,532 | 1,080,969 1,002,143
Walter Scott Ltd. 716,055 611,22 696,725 718,217 647,818
Weardale S, C & C 1,320,566 |1,421,627 |1,455,831 | 1,488,088 |1,431,823
Wearmouth Coal Co. Ltd11,245,465 11,264,054 1,226,371 | 1,276,166 |1,230,293

N.B. Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did not raise 500,000
tons in that year.
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Comparison between the coal output figures

of the Partners and other firms in the Durham coal-field

with an ammual output over 500,000 tons, 1871-1914

(9)

Company 1911 1912 1913 191,
John Bowes & Partners | 1,686,620 |1,370,37C | 1,652,257 | 1,592,760
Bell Brothers Ltd. 888,036 825,276 898,122 829,353
Bolckow Vaughan 2,511,236 | 2,259,317 | 2,352,444 | 2,180,566
Charlaw & Sacriston 748,512 €96,033 719,912 660,371
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. |2,399,265 .| 2,157,828 | 2,243,615 | 2,073,731
Harton Coal Co. Ltd. [2,172,292 | 2,069,346 | 2,427,686 | 2,253,665
Horden Collieries Ltd.|1,189,108 |1,160,233 | 1,320,877 |1,286,506
James Joicey & Co.Ltd.|2,072,236 (1,751,902 | 1,785,527 |1,355,6L
Lambton & Hetton (1) 4,118,501 | 3,897,804 | 4,121,694 | 3,369,403
londonderry Collieries|{1,785,742 | 1,561,654 |1,762,04) |1,585,809
North Bitchburn (2) 776,876 906,280 873,542
Pease & Partners Ltd. 2,139,394 (1,969,294 | 2,352,404, |2,140,056
Pelaw lain 1,335,830 1,272,995 |1,299,296 |1,202,158
Pelton 619,130 556,103 561,932

Priestman Collieries (1,169,250 |1,065,973 |1,220,292 |1,066,511
Ryhope Coal Co. Ltd. 511,566 539,026 501,896
South Hetton Coal Co. [1,166,564 (1,082,012 |1,007,793 |1,011,461
South Moor (3) ? ? ? 1,504,276
Stella Coal Co. Ltd. |1,097,663 993,651 |1,056,681 908,089
H. Stobart & Co. Ltd. 598,026 567,863 647,325 664,768
Strakers & Love 1,100,183 943,862 1,021,574 957,096
Walter Scott Ltd. 628,361, 517,492 539,481 526,122
Weardale S, C & C 1,404,132 1,396,440 |1,483,279 |1,251,450
Wearmouth Coal Co.ILtd.]|1l,232,034 943,862 987,480 857,638 |

N.B.

500,000 tons in that year.

(1)

1911;

credited to the Hetton Coal Co. Ltd.
The reduction in 1914 was due to the sale of four collieries to
Sir B. Samuelson & Co. ILtd. in that year.

(2)

(3)

Full title:

"South Moor Colliery Co. Ltd."
in 1889, but does not appear to have been a member of the Durham Coal

Ovners Association until 1914.

Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did not raise

"Lambton & Hetton Collieries Ltd." was formed by the amalgamation of
"Lanbton Collieries Ltd." and the "Hetton Coal Co. Ltd." in August
thus about 600,000 of the figure for that year should be

Pull title: "North Bitchburn Coal Co., Ltd." This company absorbed
the Thrislington Coal Co. Ltd. in 1911,

This company was formed
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APFENDIX C

The coal output of John Bowes & Partners as a percentage

of the total output of the Northumberland & Durham coal-field

1871-191L
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APPENDIX C

The coal output of John Bowes & Partners as a percentage
of the total output of the Northumberland % Durham coal-field

1871-191k

Year Coal-field output (1) Qutput of Partners %

in million tons in tons
1871 29.2 1,194,040 4.09
1872 28.6 1,207,631 457
1873 29.7 1,156,465 3.89
1874 30.6 1,336,180 437
1875 2.3 1,.18,402 4.39
1876 ‘ 32,3 No
1877 31.4 figures
1878 30,2 available (2)
1879 28.8 1,240,528 4.31
1880 34.9 1,435,081 4,11
1881 35.6 1,378,519 3.87
1882 36.3 1,705,088 4.70
1883 37e4 1,797,807 4.81
188. 36.1 1,750,641 54,85
1885 35.1 1,553,996 Lo b3
1886 34.8 1,697,813 L.88
1887 345 1,893,443 549
1888 37.6 No
1389 39.1 figures
18%0 39.7 available
1891 39.1 1,958,274 5.01
1892 32.4 1,546,116 b4e 77
1893 39.9 1,892,535 4. 76
1894 42.1 2,042,211 4,85

1895 39.8 1,907,728 4.79



(xxiii)

The coal output of John Bowes & Partners as a percentage
of the total output of the Northumberland & Durham cosl-field

187151915

Year Coal-field output Output of Partners %
in million tons in tons

1896 1.8 2,114,283 : 5.06
1897 43.6 1,927,771 L2
1898 45.3 1,991,586 4.0
1899 46.1 1,520,654 3.30
1900 46,3 1,489,515 3.22
1901 45.2 1,502,998 3.33
1902 L6k 1,543,491 3.33
1903 47.9 1,628,828 3.40
1902 484 1,594,119 3.29
1905 50.1 1,636,347 3.27
1906 52.1 1,642,169 3.17
1307 54.0 1,656,383 3.07
1908 53.9 1,656,555 3.07
1909 55.3 1,703,583 3.08
1910 52.6 1,701,269 3.25
1911 5644 1,686,620 2.99
1912 51.3 1,370,370 2.67
1913 56.4 1,652,257 2.93
191 50.0 1,592,760 3,19

(1) Figures taken from MITCHELL, B. R. & DEANE, P, Abstract of British
Historical Statisties. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press,

1962, p.

(2) The approximate figure for 1877 was 1,267,699 tons, which would give
a percentage of 4.04.
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APPEMDIX D

Average net selling price of all types of Durham coal,
as given on the Accountants' Certificates of the
Durham Coal Qwners Association and the Durham Miners Association,
compared with the coal output figurss of John Bowes & Partners,
1871-191L
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AFFENDIX D
N . b
Average net selling price of all types of Durham coal,
as given on the Accountants' Certificates of the
Durham Coal Owners Associztion and the Durham Miners Association,
compared with the coal output figures of John Bowes & Partners,

1871-1914
Date (1) Price (2) Partners' output Date Price Partners' output
12/1671 5/2.63 1,194,040 the first four months ending in October
/1872 1,207,631 1879:
1/1873  15/10.46 10/1879 L4/3.33
/1873 1,156,465 /1879 1,240,528
L/187%  12/8.36 2/1880 /.35
8/1874  10/1.87 6/1880 L/5.25
/1874 1,336,180 10/1880 4/8.26
2/1875 7/6.45 : /1680 1,435,081
10/1875 6/6.32 2/1881 L/8.66
11/1875 6/0.81, 6/1881 1/6.33
/1875 1,418,402 10/1881 L/7.16
6/1876 5/8.14 /1881 1,378,519
/1876 ? 2/1882 L/7.93

€
From this point the calculation was nmade

From June 1876 to March 1879 the price every three months, the first three

of coal and coke was combined and the months ending in June 1882:
average price calculated every four
months, the first period ending in 6/15682 4/6.63
March 1877: 9/1882 L/9.72
12/1882 L/11.3L 1,705,088
'3/1877 5/3.97 3/1883 4/10.20
7/1877 5/3.71 6/1883 4/10,71
11/1877 5/2.7% 9/1883 4/11.48
/1877 ? 12/1883 5/0.42 1,797,807
3/1878 L/11.29 3/188L L/7 .54
7/1878 4/8.55 6/188., 4/8.07
11/1878 L/7.65 9/1584 4/8.47
/1878 ? 12/188) L/8.75 1,750,641

3/1879  4/5.16

In March 1879 the system was altered
to include the price of coal alone,
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Average net selling price of all types of Durham coal,
1871-1914 (2)

Date ‘Price Partners' output Date Price Partners' output
3/1885 L/6.01 3/1892 6/5.86
6/1885 4/7.20 6/1892 6/2.20
9/1885  4/6.13 9/1892  6/2.43
12/1885 L/7.62 1,553,99% 12/1892 5/11.06 1,546,116
3/1886  L4/5.49 3/1893  5/1.48
6/1886  4/L.79 6/1893  5/1.38
9/1886  4/L.63 9/1893  5/6.77
12/1886  L/5.56 1,697,813 12/1893  6/1.77 1,892,535
3/1887  4/5.65 3/189%4  5/4.80
6/1887 4/5.21 6/189. 5/4. 38
9/1887  4/L.OL 9/189%  5/7.29
12/1887  4/6.45 1,893,443 12/1894  5/5.04 2,042,211
3/1888  1/.€9 3/1895 5/2.25
6/1888  4/3.91 6/1895  5/1.65
9/1888  4/5.58 9/1895  5/0.21
12/1888  4/7.04 ? 12/1895  5/1.83 1,907,728
3/1889  4/7.77 3/1896  5/0.23
6/1889 4/10.49 6/1896 5/0. 54
9/1839  5/2.93 9/1896  5/0.93
12/1889  5/9.88 ? 12/1896  5/3.12 2,11}4,283
3/1890 6/10.81 3/1897  5/2.08
6/1890  7/4.66 6/1897  5/4.01
9/1890  7/5.62 9/1897  5/3.8, '
12/1890 7/4. 85 ? 12/1897 5/5.27 1,927,771
3/1891  7/3.16 3/1898  5/4.18
6/1891 7/1.64 6/1898 5/10.22
9/1891 6/9.78 . 9/1898 6/0.09

12/1891 6/7.93 1,958,274 12/1898 6/0.35 1,991,586
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Average net selling price of all types of Durham coal,
1871-191L (3)

Date Price Partners' output Date Price Partnerg' output
3/1899  6/3.12 3/1907  7/9.63
6/1899 6/7. 1y 6/1907 8/6.00
9/1899 7/2:02 9/1907 9/2.11

12/1899 7/9.93 1,520,65) 12/1907 9/l 42 1,656,383
3/1900 8/7.71 3/1908 9/1.31
6/1900 9/11.19 6/1908 8/10.43
9/1900  11/4+12 /1908  8/6.54

12/1900 11/3.86 1,489,515 12/1908 8/2.82 1,656,555
3/1901 9/9.90 3/1909 7/6.91
6/1901 8/7.11 6/1909 7/6.68
9/1901  7/10.97 5/190  7/5.96

12/1901 7/10.93 1,502,998 12/1909 7/6.19 1,703,583
3/1902  7/5.68 3/1910  7/11.53
6,/1902 7/1.89 6/1910 7/11.73
9/1902 7/3:32 9/1910 8/1.03

12/1902 7/%. 26 1,543,491 12/1910 7/10.18 1,701,269
3/1903  7/1.85 3/1911  7/6.28
6/1903 7/1.14 6/1911 7/6.75
9/1903  7/6.76 9/1911  7/5.91

12/1903 6/11.53 1,628,828 12/1911  7/7.18 1,686,620
3/190y  6/7.66 3/1912 8/1.47
6/1904  6/5.60 6/1912 8/0.65
9/1904  6/5.29 9/1912 8/7.18

12/1904  6/5.31 1,594,119 12/1912 8/11.80 1,370,370
3/1905  6/4.32 3/1913  9/9.83
6/1905  6/4.38 6/1913 10/2.49
9/1905  6/5.45 9/1313 10/3.75

12/1905 6/7.05 1,636,347 12/1913 10/2.17 1,652,257
3/1906 6/7+32 3/1914 9/11.,79
6/1906  6/10.85 6/191k  9/9.08
9/1906 7/0.88 9/1914 9/4. €2

12/1906  7/3.C0 1,642,169 12/191%  9/0.37 1,592,760

(1) The dates given are inclusive to the end of the month or period stated.
No dates other than those given are available before the four-monthly
period ending in March 1877.

(2) Price per ton in shillings and pence.
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APPENDIX E

Coke output figures of John Bowes & Partners, 1872-191l4

(from Statistical Returns of Durham Coal Cwners Association)

(in tons)



(xxix)
FPEIDIX B

Coke output fipures of John Bowes & Partners, 1872-191L

(from Statistical Returns of Durham Coal Owners Association)

(in tons)

Coke Ovens 1872 1873 1874 1875

Marley Hill ' 88, 466 84,161 83,279 83,089
Byermoor & Crookbank 25,155 16,805 28,472 30,950
Burnopfield 140,086 38,242 35,746 29,887
Dipton (1) NIL 8,082 9,635 9,42l
Pontop 55,398 46,730 45,249 38,958
TOTAL QUTPUTL 209,105 194,020 202,381 191,589

(1) The Dipton ovens were out of use until the summer of 1873.

Coke Ovens 1876 1877 1878 1879 1880
Marley Hill 92,343

Byermoor & Crookbank 30,950

Burnopfield (1) 30,745 (2) (2) (2)
Dipton NIL

Pontop 51,262

TOTAL OUTPUT 205, 400 218,638

(1} The volume of returns for 1876 has not survived.

(2) The Association did not ask for any returns to be made between
1878 and 1883; the figure given here for 1880 is taken from a
return made in 1894 (No, 3614) in which no individual figures are
guoted.




(xxx )

Coke output figures of John Bowes & Partners, 1872-1914

" (in tons)
(23

Coke Ovens 1881 1882 1883 1884 1885
Marley Hill 75,261 67,824
Byermoor & Crookbank 42,85) 40,652
Burnopfield (1) (1) (1) 16,337 14,885
Dipton 16,529 16,071
Pontop 36,030 34,803
South Shore (2) . 2,653 -
TOTAL OUTFUT : 189,664 174,235
Ovens in use (3) 747 643
Ovens out of use (3) 226 271

(1) The Association did not ask for any returns to be made between 1881
and 1883,

(2) The South Shore Ovens are only recorded on this return. They were
presumably the old ovens at Gateshead, re-1lit as a temporary expedient,

(3) These figures were not required on the returns prior to 1884.

Coke Ovens 1886 1887 1888- 1889 1890
Marley Hill 95,295 95,764 | 93,520 85,876
Byermoor & Crookbank (1) 52,072 54, 936 55,924 50,953
Burnopfield (2) 29,783 30,357 31,172 29,669
Dipton 16,580 15,499 14,80 14,506
Pontop 59,750 65,298 61, 354 46,213
TOTAL OUTPUT 253,480 261,85 256,774 227,217
Ovens in use 874 892 910 865
Qvens out of use 50 32 14 75

(1) The ovens at Crookbank ceased production in 1890,

(2) The volume of returns for 1886 is missing.




Coke output figures of John Bowes & Partners, 1872-191),

(aoxi)

(in tons)
(3)
Coke Ovens 1891 1892 1893 1894 1895
Marley IHill 8,32} 32,764 46,1463 50,994
Byermoor 51,562 35,023 34,298 26,382
Burnopfield 30,774 22,009 23,535 (1) 19,296
Dipton 9,831 2,722 13,338 NIL
Pontop 43,976 22,459 27,689 27,008
TOTAL OUTPUT 220,467 114,977 145,323 178,606 123,680
Ovens in use 654 579 557 (1) 512
Ovens out of use 285 360 382 (1) 427
N.B. 1892 was the year of the General Strike.
(1) No individual figures are given on the return for 1894.

Coke Ovens 1896 1897 1898 1899 1900
Marley Hill 69,863 76,460 80,863 90,568 83,999
Byermoor 42,06} 42,117 52,282 54,581 49,133
Burnopfield 29,029 29,194 38,335 39,736 34,284
Dipton NIL HNIL NIL NIL NIL
Pontop 40,318 43,641 42,182 43,502 38,711
TOTAL OUTPUT 180, 274 191,711 213,662 228,387 213,336
Ovens in use 600 563 586 681 \n
Ovens out of use 339 370 245 152 367




(oexii)

Coke output figures of John Bowes & Partners, 1872-191.

(in tons)
(&)

Coke Ovens | 1901 1902 1903 1904 " 1905
Marley Hill 76,426 69,345 75,663 60,472 59,156
Byermoor 42,651 32,685 32,5623 33,775 36,796
Burnopfield 32,207 28,913 29,951 22,318 (1)
Dipton 13,024 4,102 (2) : -
Pontop 28,591 23,121 23,058 21,608 24,953
TOTAL OUTPUT 192,899 158,166 161,195 138,173 120,305
Ovens in use 592 467 438 311 310
QOvens out of use 247 353 366 489 494

(l) The ovens at Burnopfield ceased production in 1904.

(2) The ovens at Dipton ceased production in 1902.

Coke Ovens 1906 1907 1908 1909 1910
Marley Hill (beehive) 57,091 55,817 20, 449 (1)

Marley Hill (bye-product) 20,988 Bl 1l 81,480
Byermoor 34,771 36,421 26,620 25,739 29,230
Pontop 24,117 25,576 21,532 7,415 (2)
TOTAL OQUTPUT 116,279 117,81y 89,589 117;298 110,710 |
Ovens in use (beehive) 312 300 216 124 103
Ovens in use (bye-product) 60 60 €0
Ovens out of use (3) 192

(1) The beehive ovens at Marley Hill ceased production in 1908,
(2) The ovens ai Pontop ceased production in 1909.

(3) The figure for the number of ovens out of use is not recorded on the
returns after 1906.



(xxxiii)

Coke output figures of John Bowes & Partners, 1872-191L

(in tons)

(5)
Coke Ovens 1911 1912 1513 191
Marley Hill (bye-product) |84,332 75,577 80,120 77,690
Byermoor (beehives 12,453 (1)
TOTAL QUTFUT 96,765 75,577 80,120 77,69
Ovens in use (beehive) 52
Ovens in use (bye-product)] 60 60 60 60

(1) The ovens at Byermoor ceased production in 1911,




(xxxiv)

APFENDIX F

Comparison between the coke output fisures of the Partners

ard those of other firms with an anmnual output over 100,000 tons,

1872-1914




Comparison between the coke output figures of the Partners

(xx0cv)

APPENDIX F

and those of other firms with an annual output over 100,000 tons,

1872-151)

Company 1872 1873 1874 1875

John Bowes & Partners 209,105 194,020 202,381 191,589
Bolckow Vaughan (1) 422,280 424,592 414,161 186,213
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. 240,000 250,000 272,636 278,342
North Brancepeth (2) 107,499 108,501
Pease & Partners 573,375 551,546 (3) 618,717
Strakers & Love 432,063 399,973 356,482 386,157

N.B. Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did not produce

100,000 tons in that year.

(1) Full title: Bolckow, Vaughan & Co. Ltd.

(2) Full title: North Brancepeth Coal Co. Ltd.

(3) The return for Pease & Partners is missing from the volume of

returns for 1874.




(xoxvi)

Corparison between the coke output figures of the FPartners
and those of other firms with an annual outout over 100,000 tons,
1872- 150

2
Company 1876 1877 1878 1879 1880
John Bowes & Partners 205,400 ? 218,638
Bearpark Coal & Coke (1) 116,203
Bell Brothers Ltd. 253,974
Bolckow Vaughan 527,468 (2) (2)
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. 331,302 379,923 459,485
Ferens & love (5) 119,158 (5) 116,238
North Brancepeth 134,321 (2) 119,279
Owners of Hamsteels (3) 129,937
Fease & Partners 641,167 (2) 676,063
Strakers & love 203,496 165,710 341,437
Weardale Iron () ? ? 481,392
OUTPUT OF ASSOCIATION
MEVBERS (6) 3,229,975

(1) Pull title: Bearpark Coal & Coke Co. Ltd.
(2) These returns, if made, have not survived.
(3) Full title: The Owners of Hamsteels Colliery.
(4) PFull title: Weardale Iron & Coal Co. Litd.

(5) No returns were made in 1879 and 1880; the figures quoted for
the latter year are taken from a return (Vol. 361A) made in 1894.

(6) The returns before 1850 are incomplete, and in view of this no
total figure has been quoted before this date. The output of
the Association members is a good general guide, as all but a
few small coke manufacturers were members of the Association.




(xxxvii)

Comparison between the coke output figures of the Partners

and those of other firms with an amwual ocutput over 100,000 tons,

187%;19]_-_&

Company 1881 1882 1883 1884 1885
John Bowes & Partrners 189,664 174,285
Bearpark Coal & Coke 122,422 .
Bell Brothers Ltd. 215,004 237,980
Bolckow Vaughan 54,273 513,286
Consett Iron Co. Itd. 426,342 407,315
Ferens & Love 103,034

North Bitchburn (1) (2) (2) (2) 122,155 130,801
North Brancepeth 119,260
Owners of Hamsteels 101, 804 111,339
Pease & Partners Litd. 661,063 612,003
H. Stobart & Co. 1td. 131,611 128,459
Strakers & love 563,097 515,461
Weardale Iron 461,406 407,54
QUTPUT OF ASSOCIATION

MEMBERS 4,369,463 | 4,176,082

N.B. Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did not vroduce

100,000 tons in that year.

(1) Full title:

North Bitchburn Coal & Coke Co. Litd.

(2) The Association did not collect returns in 1881, 1882 and 1883.




Comparison between the coke output figures of the Fartners

(xxocviii)

and those of other firms with an annual output over 100,000 tons,

1872-191),
L

Company 1886 1887 1888 1889 1890
John Bowes & Partners 253,480 261,85 256; 774 227,217
Bearpark Coal & Coke 115,730 166,197 162,245 161,304
Bell Brothers Lid. 194,680 218,016 278,546 286,821
Bolckow Vaughan 506,285 489,581 189,317 530,166
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. 435,747 376,061, 459,457 506,425
Perens & love 102,867 106,261
North Brancepeth (1) 125,006 124,689 124,932 129,776
Owners of Hamsteels 115,877 104,248 105,466 .
Pease & Partners Ltd. 682,563 686,965 713,219 731,280
H. Stobart & Co. 110,953 120,504 141,786 159,700
Strakers & Love 509, 350 520,602 514,955 399,600
Weardale Iron 385,963 422,876 45,882 422,472
OUTPUT OF ASSOCIATION '
MEMBERS 4,250,071 |4,355,581

4,637,124

L, 549,609

N.B. Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did not produce

100,000 tons in that year.

(1) The volume of returns for 1886 is missing.




Comparison between the coke oubtoput figures of the Partners

(xxxix)

and those of other firms with an annual output over 100,000 tons,

1872-191L
(5)

Company 1891 1892 1893 189 1895
John Bowes & Partners 220,467 114,977 145,323 178,606 123,680
Bearpark Coal & Coke 138,709 157,998 168,245 157,929
Bell Brothers Lid, 286,711 198,747 272,854 283,849 291,377
Bolckow Vaughan 466,119 324,386 392,135 415,993 429,130
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. 428,542 308,303 360,064 432,457 429,304
North Brancepeth 135,945 100,939 133,454 123,038 128,524
Pease & Partners Lid. 702,047 508,104 619,493 678,416 611,377
H. Stobart & Co. 133,052 106,08, 102,698
Strakers & Love 416,420 319,662 399,492 118,490 381,660
Weardale Iron 394,776 285,370 389,891 401,957 390,048
OULI'PUT OF ASSOCIATION
MEMBERS Ly244,325 |2,938,676 |3,811,889 |L4,093,743 |[3,974,671

N.B. Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did not produce

100,000 tons in that year.

1892 was the year of the General Strike.




Comparison between the coke output figures of the Partners

(x1)

and those of other firms with an annual output over 100,000 tons,

1872-1914
6

1900

Company 1896 1897 1898 1899

John Bowes & Partners | 180,274 191,711 213,662 228,387 213,336
Bearpark Coal & Coke 161,974 160,267 163,048 165,704 164,967
Bell Brothers Litd, 300,399 306,597 310,861 302,715 299,081
Bolckow Vaughan 187,849 477,625 472,719 450,451 514,645
Cochrane & Co. Ltd. 158,476 150,718 159, 954 150,560
Consett Iron Co. Itd, 488,476 500,129 512,764 589,333 586,339
James Joicey & Co. Ltd. _ 109,776
North Brancepeth 132, 444 133,304 146,502 146,078
Owners of Hamsteels 101,705 103,143
Pease & Partners Ltd. 710,591 739,470 765,819 767,754 757,618
Priestman (1) 146,758 161,99 223,082
Stella Coal Co. Ltd. 120,871 112,105
H. Stobart & Co. Itd. 108,887 102,480 127,853
Strakers & lLove 408,548 143,786 480,021 189,427 478,504
Weardale S, C & C (2) 392,599 382,871 388,912 384,189 344,682
OUTPUT OF ASSOCIATION :

MEMBERS 4,435,345 (4,671,985 4,798,679 |5,072,374 {5,293,015

N.B. Blanks indicate that the firms concerned did not produce
100,000 tons in that year.

(1) Pull title:

The Owners of the Priestman Collieries.

(2) The "Weardale Iron & Coal Co. Litd." became the "Weardale Steel,
Coal & Coke Co. Ltd." in 18993.




Comparison between the coke output figsures of the Partners

(x11)

and those of other fimms with an annual output over 100,000 tons,

1872-191L
7

Company 1501 1902 1903 1504 1905
John Bowes & Partners | 192,899 158,166 161,195 138,173 120, 905
Bearpark Coal & Coke 110,607 140,894 153,109 130,005 155,467
Bell Brothers Ltd. 299,087 298,735 302,401 306, 320 305, 251,
Bolckow Vaughan 457,492 461,564 501,902 507,487 621;279
Cochrane & Co. Ltd. 153,014 155,134 157,947 155,828 183;893
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. | 475,070 163,103 497,365 487;017 518;460
James Joicey & Co. Ltd, 100,873 100,035 107;366
North Brancepeth 134,852 148,406 134,241 127;821 140,429
Pease & Partners Ltd, | 659,103 747,908 739,205 632,238 682;194
Priestman Collieries . .

(1) 211,051 248,530 261,300 279,783 339,000
Stella Coal Co. Ltd. 101,345 101,518 103,885
H. Stobart & Co. Ltd, 117,115 120,316 124,326 121,34 130;611
Strakers & Love 420,029 435,539 142,118 401, 986 463;139
Weardale S, C & C. 267,757 289,849 277,140 191,821 220,512
OUTFUT OF ASSOCIATION
MEMBERS 4,532,646 |4,790,212 |L4,862;528 |4,558,783 | 4,977;128

N.B. Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did not produce
100,000 tons in that year.

(1) "The Owners of the Priestman Collieries" became "Priestman

Collieries Itd." in 1903,




Comparison between the coke oubput figures of the Pariners

(x1ii)

and those of other firms with an anmnual output over 100,000 tons,

asked for on the returns before 1907.

Nor has it been possible to compile figures for the "patent"

1872-191L
(8)
Compeany 1506 1907 1908 19509 1910
"John Bowes & Partners 116,279 117,814 89,589 117,298 110,710
Bearpark Coal & Coke 172,023 | 176,442 154,653 143,013 158, 590
Bell Brothers Ltd. 306,789 305,425 287,835 277,299 277,019
Bolckow Vaughan 718,338 778,242 645,160 628,168 697,867
Cochrane & Co. Ltd. 186,193 185,466 182,285 192,031 185,381
Consett Iron Co. Ltd. 609,117 664,707 576,701 567,731 572,303
James Joicey & Co. LtdJ 109,041 129,559 121,489 117,406 100,513
North Brancepeth 145,203 145,382 139,901 120,097 103,080
Pease & Pzriners Lid, 750,879 735,872 631,315 662,205 701,137
Priestman Collieries 386,508 400,648 357,876 373,141 390,147
H. Stobart & Co. Ltd. 135,145 140,737 133,328 160,690 145,063
Strakers & Love 449,406 421,948 356,625 376,300 373,683
Weardale S, C & C 231,021 232,765 249,182 296,881 237,013
OUTPUT OF ASSOCIATION ' ’
MEMBERS
bee-hive ovens (1) 4,433,888 (3,643,880 |3,334,654 |3,207,3L4
non-recovery ovens (1) 83,278 89,532 85,911 - 86,260
bye-product ovens (1) 930,259 |[1,096,501 |1,491,976 |1,677,016
TOTAL 5,305,385 5,447,425 |4,829,9157 (4,912,541 (4,970,590
(1) The figures for different types of ovens are not specifically

On the earlier reiurns
a distinction may be made between bee-hive and "patent", but no
distinction is made between non-recovery and bye-product ovens.

ovens, as some firms did not distinguish between the output from
different types of oven at the same colliery.




(x1iii)

Comparison between the coke output figures of the FPartners

and those of other firms with an armual output over 100,000 tons,

1872-1914
9J

Company 1911 1912 1913 191,
John Bowes % Partners 96,765 75,577 80,120 77,690
Bearpark Coal & Coke 128,682 145,836 161,141 128,393
Bell Brothers Ltd. 251,627 242,967 279,621 221,318
Bolckow Vaughan 697,720 601,49, 676,002 585,054
Cochrane & Co. Ltd. 190, 4.8 167,167 196,082 190,223
Consett Iron Co. Ltds. | 546,910 483,859 522,403 481,42
James Joicey & Co. Ltd{ 111,643 105,052 117,841
North Bitehburn (1) 149,040 162, 900 158,224
North Brancepeth 105,503
Pease & Partners Ltd. | 64,333 613,29 785,737 690,186
Priestman Collieries 345,862 305,255 368,937 293,268
H. Stobart & Co. Ltd. | 128,741 111,565 130,871 143,710
Strakers & Love 399,619 407,503 438,551 368,300
Walter Scott Ltd. 105,726
Weardele 3, C & C 255,321 257,075 266,411 161,307
OUIPUT OF ASSOCIATION
MEMBERS
bee-hive ovens 2,656,151 2,354,605 2,529,097 1,757,119
Non-recovery ovens (2) 50,303 36,530 41,692 2,968
bye-product ovens 1,966,655 2,03.,82) 2,528,447 2,577,493
TOTAL 4,673,149 4,465,959 5,099,236 4,337,580

N.B. Blanks indicate that the firm concerned did
100,000 tons in that year.

(1) Full title:
(2)

ending March

North Bitchburn Coal Co. Ltd.

1914.

not produce

The last non-recovery ovens ceased operation in the quarter
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APPENDIX G

Men and boys employed in County Durham

by John Bowes & Partners, 1884~191.

(1) underground

(ii) at the surface of collieries, coke
ovens, brickworks and railways

(iii) aggregate figures
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APPEIDIX G

Men and boys (1) employed at the Durham Collieries of

John Bowes & Partners, 188,-191)

(i) underground

Colliery 1881 1885 1836 1887
m]b m|b m| b m|Db
Marley Hill 2271 39 2431 42 24,9 51 235| 59
Andrews House 9| 7 951 8 9y 9 104| 8
Byermoor 106| 25 102} 27 111] 20 1281 21
Burnopfield 151 32 1431 31 149 27 1641 26
Dipton 161) 13 2121 13 171 10 177 9
Pontop 1771 23 1831 27 183| 16 196 | 23
Kibblesworth 192 27 186 26 195 25 2081 24
Springwell 36| 30 338 40 309 27 392| 28
Wardley 4961 33 710 34 395| 74 5371 16
Usworth 677 | 48 706 | 67 657| 43 745 26
Felling 3281 15 240 5 238| 40 331 30
TOTALS 2,955(292 | 3,168(320 | 2,751|342 | 3,217 |270
SUM TOTAL 35247 3,488 3,093 3,487
QUTPFUT OF DURHAM
COLLIZRIES l: 56?, 807 1,5303614-1 ls 353, 996 1,16-77:813
QUTPUT PER TERSON
UNDERGROUMD (tons)| 485 439 438 427

N.B.

(a)

(v)

In the years above the totals given are those

quoted for the beginning of the year.

The Association did not ask for returns between
1888 and 1892,

(1) Aged fifteen or under.




(x1vi)

Men and boys employed at the Durham Collieries of
John Bowes & Partners, 188,-191)

(underground)
(2)

Colliery 1892 1893 1894 1895

T m| b m| b mib
Marley Hill 374 | 29 347 | 42 388| 45
Andrews House 138 | 15 136 15 142 12
Byermoor 185 | 25 181 | 26 184 26
Burnopfield 187 17 190(-17 195 16
Dipton (1) 203 | 18 185 16 NIL
Pontop 188 | 27 1831 24 188, 22
Kibblesworth (2) 226 | 22 232 | 16 239 13
Springwell 532 | 46 597 40 573 31
Wardley L74| 25 619 | 31 607 | 1
Usworth 754 | 48 889 | 48 961 | 44
Felling 563 | 28 407 22 L8| 21
Dunston 393 | 29 3791 4 341 10
TOTALS 4,217 1329 | 4,345 (311 | L,266 |281
SUM TOTAL 4,546 4,656 4,547
OUTPUT OF DURHAM
COLLIERIES (tons) 1,592,535 | 1,692,211 | 1,587,728
OUTPUT PER PERSON
UNDERGROUMD (tons ) 350 363 349

(1) Dipton Colliery was closed (temporarily) in 1894.
(2) The Partners' return for 1892 does not give figures for those

employed underground.

N.B. From 1892 onwards the totals given are the averages
for the year concerned,



(x1vii)

Men and boys employed at the Durham Collieries of

John Bowes & Partners, 1584-191)

(underground)
(3)

Colliery 1896 1897 1898 1899 1900

m| b mi{b m| b m| b m|Db
Marley Hill 392| 34 - 391 36 383| 39 380| 29 367 25
Andrews House 149| 10 5| 13 14, 8 133| 10 134| 8
Byermoor 2001 21 202| 29 207! 28 206| 32 207 | 31
Burnopfield 167 17 200 14 202| 18 208! 17 212| 21
Dipton NIL NIL NIL NIL 204 9
Pontop 227 22 230, 19 232 23 21 25 231| 25
Kibblesworth 229| 19 236| 18 224 | 18 239 20 234 | 23
Springwell 604 | 37 630| 38 66| 38 679 | 42 8,1 54
Wardley 582 28 5841 30 602 33 592 33 576 | 36
Usworth (1) 1,021 | 26
Felling 449 26 L60]| 20 439) 20 641 35 7551 31
Dunston (2) 385| 16 577| 31 551| 35
TOTALS 4,405(256 | 3,647|24,8 | 3,698|260 |3,319|241 | 3,761 (263
SUM TOTAL 4,661 3,895 3,958 3,560 4,02
OUTPUT OF DURHAM
QOLLIERIES (3) 1,794,842 1,568,125 1,616,807 1,455,007 1,489,515
OUTPUT PER FERSON
UNDERGROUMD (tons) 385 403 408 409 370

(1) Sold in 1897.

(2) The totals for Dunston in the period up to its sale in July 1899
are not included here.

(3) The figure for 1899 does not include the amount raised at Dunston
up to July 1899,




(x1viii)

Men and boys employed at the collieries of

John Bowes & Partners, 1884~191L

(underground)
(4)

Colliery 1901 13902 1303 1904 1205

m b m b m b m| b m b
Marley Hill 402! 28 425 29 433 26 4221 27 L34| 33
Andrews House 132 6 12| 8 1391 5 1321 8 156 4
Byermoor 227| 28 2471 22 278 20 266 | 21 276 22
Burnopfield 208| 21 218| 20 230] 15 2201 15 2211 19
Dipton 190| 17 26| 11 2,01 15 218 9 175 7
Pontop 226| 20 2371 27 2371 24 223 | 26 231 21
Kibblesworth 230| 27 230| 27 2461 24 239 ] 15 236 19
Springwell 731 49 773 4 792| i 746 | 36 738 35
Vale Pit 1201 10 156 11 178| 13 183 | 20 190 | 22
Wardley 571] 35 5701 30 €03] 19 506 21 576 | 23
Felling 733| 57 776 39 813| 50 7701 42 6841 47
TOTALS 3,77C |298 4,020 |262 4,189 |252 3,925 1240 3,917 (252
SUM TOTAL 4,068 4,282 Lyb21 L,165 4,169
QUTFUT OF
COLLIERIES (tons) 1,502,998 1,543,491 1,628,828 1,594,119 1,636,347
OUTFUT PER FERSON
UNDERGROUID (tons) 369 360 389 383 392




Men and boys employed at the collieries of

(x1ix)

dohn Bowes & Partners, 1884-191%

(urderground )
(5)

Colliery 1306 1507 1508 1909 1910

m | D nm b m| D m| Db m| b
Marley Hill L63| 25 4€69| 27 491 34 559 53 608] 56
Andrews Fouse 165| 10 177| 14 192] 10 182 30 191| 22
Byermoor 272| 25 288| 24 292! 29 3481 22 318( 28
Burnopfield 221{ 19 229| 16 22y 18 250| 17 248| 10
Dipton 470 9 133| 13 30 7 128 8 176 8
Pontop 2u41 2y 242| 21 253| 23 353 9 396| 30
Kibblesworth 233| 28 21| 21 2L3| 23 24| 29 248| 26
Springwell 763| 36 750 37 759 L 7671 21 798| 25
Vale Pit 258| 21 272| 22 283 | 24 302 17 318| 22
Wardley 581 52 581 16 593| 6 520 - 600| 10
Felling 7431 45 8031 59 831} 73 735 | 50 7511 70
Follonsby (sinking) 24| - 2L - 40| - 36| -
TCTALS 4,117 258 4,209 {270 4,341 (291 4,458 (256 4,641 1307
SUM TOTAL k, 375 4,479 4,632 by 714 4,948
OUTPUT OF
COLLIZERIES (tons) [1,642,169 1,656,383 1,656,555 1,703,583 1,701,269
QUIPUT PER PERSON
UNDERGROUMD (tons) 375 370 357 361 34




(1)

Men and boys employed at the collieries of
John Bowes & Partners, 1884-1914

(unde;ground)
(6)

Colliery 1911 1912 19513 1914

m | b m | b m | Db m|Db
Marley Hill 630 | 54 636 | 61 672 46 530| 59
Andrews House 206 | 22 209 | 16 210 7 18| 8
Byermoor 331 23 3391 29 332 26 307 | 27
Burnopfield 57| 8 2521 12 312 | 18 266 | 18
Dipton 160| 7 251 7 353 | 27 351 35
Pontop 379 26 364 | 20 376 | 21 363 | 21
Kibblesworth 251 23 267 | 23 302 | 28 ALt 36
Springwell 8291 36 823 | 36 900 | 53 7761 25
Vale Pit 34,1 16 3521 12 3741 11 276 | 15
Yardley 605 =
Follonsby 23| - 125! 3 3111 11 361 | 21
Felling 820 | 77 8291 39 8471 53 515! 42
TOTALS 4,812 (292 L, L1, 1258 4,989 (301 4,307 1307
SUM TOTAL 5,104 4,702 5,290 4,614
OUTPUT OF .
COLLIERIES (tons) [1,686,620 - | 1,370,370 1,652,257 1,592,760
OUTPUT PER FERSON .
UNDERGROUND (tons) 330 291 312 345




(11)

(ii) Men and boys emoloyed at ithe surface of the Durham Collieries,
coke ovens, brickworks and railways of John Powes & Partners,

1884-1914
Unit 188, 1885 1886 1887
Collieries m| b m| b m|{ b m| b
Marley Hill 100| 15 911 11 91 13 87| 12
Andrews House 35| 8 35 6 35 5 351 6
Byermoor L6| 2 L7 3 50| 3 60| &
Burnopfield 701 2 6L 2 6L 2 68| 1
Dipton 1| 2 50| 2 470 4 55| 2
Fontop 64| 5 59| 5 56/ 8 65| 3
Kibblesworth 541 &4 56| A4 58 5 55 6
Springwell 88| 14 91 16 95| 17 90t 21
¥ardley 115 25 136| 39 991 30 14,3 31
Usworth 186| 15 159| 21 1,3 14 136| 11
Felling 58| 26 56| 16 5,| 16 67| 20
Coke Ovens
Marley Hill 107 8 107 7 121 8 131 8
Byermoor & Crookbank 46| 1 39! 1 L - 51| &4
Burnopfield 29 2 13 1 14 - 28 2
Dipton 15 - 14| = 15 - 15 -
Fontop 63 3 39)- 1 31 3 76| -
Brickworks
Marley Hill 14 3 14 2 16 2 16 L
Burnopfield 12| 6 13| L 12| 3 13 2
Railways
Pontop & Jarrow 159 6 149! 5 158| &4 1581 5
Usworth 6{ - Not inclwled thereafter -
Felling 51 3 presumably included with coliiery.
TOTALS 1,113 150 1,232)1L5 1,203 137 1,345 1142
SUM TOTAL 1,263 1,381 1,340 1,491

N.B. The Association did not ask for returns between 1288 and
1891. The figures given zre as at lst January of the
year concerned,




(1ii)

Hen and boys employed at the surface of the Durham Collieries,
coke ovens, brickworks and railways of John Bowes & Partners,

1884-191)
<2>
Unit . 1892 1893 189y 1895
Collieries . m b m| b | m' b m{ b
|

Marley Hill 61| 26 98| 19 4 18
Andrews House 25 L 25| 5 22 7
Byermoor 34 4 421 5 36 4
Burnopfield 65| 10 63| 13 51 7
Dipton (1) 35| 3 27| 3 13 -
Pontop 35 3 k71 5 39 5
Kibblesworth 48 2 49 3 2 L
Springwell 76| 27 831 36 72y 42
Wardley 74 29 891 25 82| 33
Usworth (%) 117| 14 122| 18 120| 20
Felling 50| 24 56| 20 L0l 13
Dunston 25| 13 32| 13 40| 8
Coke Ovens

Harley Hill 62| - 66| - €3] =~
Byermoor L7 - | 43 - Ll -
Burnopfield 31| - 28| - 28y -
Dipton (1) 13| - 14| - NIL
Pontop 33 - 29 - Le| -
Brickworks (2)

Railways (3)
_Pontop & Jarrow : 160 160 160
TOTALS 994 (155 1,073 |1€5 646 {160
SUM TOTAL 1,149 1,238 806

N.B. The figures above are averages for the year concerned.

(1) Dipton Colliery and Ovens closed in 1894, and only meintenance staff were
employed until they were re-opened in 1900,

(2) Brickworks are not separated from the collieries again until 1904.

(3) The men working on the Pontop & Jarrow Railway were not subject to Coal
Trade Regulations, and thus are not given on the return. The figures
here are approximations.

(4) Mo individual figures are given on the Partners' return for 1832,



(1iii)

Men and boys employed at the surface of the Durham collieries,

coke ovens, brickworks and railways of John Bowes & Partners,

1884~191.

z) —
Unit 1896 1897 1898 1899 1900
Collieries m|Db m| b m| b m|b m|b
Marley Hill 85| 17 701 12 71 14 8, 11 91| 13
Andrews House 23 5 26| 5 24 6 22 6 25 5
Byermoor L2 4 L2 & 9 5 L7 6 Ly A4
Burnopfield 105 8 56 4 67 5 571 12 481 10
Dipton (1) 12| - 10{ - 10| = 10| - 23| 2
Pontop 431 5 470 &4 58 & e 5 Lo 2
Kibblesworth 8l 2 2y 2 470 & 501 & 521 &
Springwell 691 43 76| 11 77] .40 771 39 109 34
Wardley 931 36 91| 33 81| 39 991 33 96| 36
Usworth 1171 22
Felling 81 20 54| 20 571 19 48| 18 491 17
Dunston (2) 1| 9 45| 17 38| 15
Coke Ovens
Marley Hill 67 74 - 73| - g1 - 68| -
Byermoor | - 3| - 45| - L2 - 33| -
Burnopfield 27 - 25 - 3L - 27 - 32 -
Dipton NIL, NIL NIL NIL 9| -
Pontop 50| - 53, = 45, = 49| - 20| -
Brickworks (3)
Pontop & Jarrow Rly | 165 165 165 165 165
TOTALS 993|171 931|142 936|151 916 {136 904.1127
SUM TOTAL 1,16L 1,073 1,087 1,031

1,052

N.B. The figures for the Pontop & Jarrow Railway are approximate.

(1) Only maintenance staff wp to 1900.
(2) The figures for January to July 1899 are not included.

(3) No separate figure for men employed at brickworks is given on

the returns.




Men and boys employed at the surface of the collieries,

(1iv)

coke ovens, brickworks and railways of John Bowes & Partners,

1884;}91&

(3)

No separate figures are given before 190k,

Unit 1901 1202 1903 1901, 1905
Collieries m{ b m|Db m!|! b m| b mi{ b
Marley Hill 7 9 781 8 106| 10 115 5 12 5
Andrews House 271 5 26| 1 231 2 33 3 3 -
Byermoor L5 & ! 4 37 3 66l 3 60 6
Burnopfield 60| 1.4 68| 7 63| 7 771 3 701 &
Dipton 301 & 32| 4 29] 3 52 3 35 -
" Pontop Wy 2 521 2 47| 6 66| 2 68| 2
Kibblesworth 54 3 54| = 53| &4 65| 2 . 62| &4
Springwell 107} 17 106 | 20 113| 24 136| 28 138| 43
Vale Pit 141 5 26| 6 31 1 30! 3 351 &
Wardley 107 26 98| 28 107| 22 159 27 112 30
Felling 66| 22 68117 87] 31 116] 40 91| 47
Coke QOvens
Marley Hill 721 = 70 64| - 58| - ;58| -
Byermoor 1] - .| - 3| - 3] - 301 -
Burnopfield (1) 33 - 321 = 35, -
Dipton (2) 15 -
Pontop 36| - 23 | = 16| - i8] - 18] -~
Brickworks
Burnopfield (3) 14 - 1| -
Pontop & Jarrow Rly | 170 170 170 _170 170
TOTALS 998 1112 987 |99 1,0151113 1,2061129 1,116 145
St TOTAL 1,110 1,C86 1,128 1,335 1,261
N.B. The figures for the Pontop & Jarrow Railway are approximate.
(1) Closed in 1902.
(2) Closed in 1904.




(1v)

Men and boys employed at the surface of the collieries,

coke ovens, brickworks and railways of John Bowes & Partners,

1884-191)
5

Unit 1906 1907 1908 1909 1910
Collieries m| b m: b m| b m| b m| b
Marley Hill 128{ 6 155 7 134 6 159 12 151} 14
Andrews House 31| 2 36 2 36| 2 38| 2 431 5
Byermoor 66| 2 9yl 4 71 3 73] 5 84 6
Burnopfisld 69 3 571 2 63| 2 57| 5 69| 3
Dipton 31 1 28] 1 25| - 63; 2 L3 3
Pontop 6 3 62 &4 66| & 7 4 87 &
Kivblesworth 62| -~ 69| 2 721 1 721 1 78] 1
Springwell 143| 40 154 33 169| 22 172 31 188] 49
Vale Pit 32| 8 L7 3 46| 9 501 9 66| 27
Wardley 113 =~ 108 32 120| 30 1331 20 131] 28
Felling 96| 40 130| 32 150 32 1411 1L 162| 10
Follonsby (sinking) 32| - 2| - 23| -
Coke Ovens
Marley Hill (1) 57| - 39| - 143 -~ 163| - 154 -
Byermoor 31l - 21| - 29| - 29| - 331 -
Pontop (2) 17| - 17| - 17| -
Brickworks
Burnopfield 8| - 8l - 8t - 71 - 5] =
Pontop & Jarrow Rly 175 175 175 175 175
TOTALS 1,105 L2 1,22, 1122 1,392|111 | 1,467|105 1,539{150
SUM TOTAL 1,247 1,346 1,503 1,572 1,689

N.B. The figures for the Pontop & Jarrow Railway are approximate.

(l) The bee-hive ovens closed in 1908, to be replaced by the new

bye-product ovens.

(2) These ovens closed about July 1909, but no figure is given on
the return for that year.




(1vi)

Men and boys employed at the surface of the collieries,
coke ovens, brickworks and railways of John Bowes & Partners,

1884~191%
265

Unit 1911 : 1912 1513 1514
Collieries m| b mi b m| b m| b
Marley Hill 119 15 149 13 161 8 146 14
Andrews House 38 6 L2l 5 43 & 39 3
Byermoor 93| &4 751 6 86/ 5 81| 3
Burnopfield 65| 5 670 5 81| 6 83| &4
Dipton 58| & 351 7 52| 6 52| 13
Pontop 9 & 80| & 80| 1 78| -
Kibble'sworth 78 3 86 L 89 5 81 10
Springwell 197) 19 2231 20 20| 23 170f 36
Vale Pit 67| 31 71] 28 62| 29 50| 22
Wardley (1) 119 38
Follonsby 24 - 751 7 121 21 113| 36
Felling 128| 22 138| 32 1401 39 140 30
Coke Works
Marley Hill 188| =~ 190| - 195 - 1771 -
Brickworks
Burnopfield 3] = 2y - -1 - 1| -
Pontop & Jarrow Rlyy 175 = 1751 - 1751 = 175 -
TOTALS 1,484 151 1,408 1131 1,489 (147 1,386 171
SUM TOTAL 1,635 1,539 1,636 1,557

N.B. The figures for the Poniop & Jarrow Railway are approximate.

(1) Closed in 1911.



(1vii)

(111) Aggregate figures for all men and boys employed

in Durham by John Bowes & Partners,

1884~191L
1l

Unit 1884 1885 1886 1887

m|Db m| b m| b m|b
Marley Hill 448 65 455| 62 L7 T4 469| 83
Andrews House 1291 15 130| 14 129 1, 1397 14
Byermoor & Crookbank 198| 28 188| 3 202 23 259 29
Burnopfield 262 | 42 238 37 239 33 2721 31
Dipton 217 | 15 276| 15 233 14 2471 11
Pontop 3041 38 286| 33 2731 27 337 26
Kibblesworth 2461 31 2421 30 2531 30 2631 30
Springwell L34 L4 429 56- LOL| 4 4821 49
Wardley 611} 58 8364 73 49,1104 6801 47
Usworth 869\ 63 865] 91 800 | 57 881| 37
Felling 391 44 296 21 292| 56 398] 50
Pontop & Jarrow Rly 159 6 13| 5 158 & 1581 5
TOTALS )., 068 (442 4,400 |469 3,954 (479 4,566 412
SUM TOTAL 4,510 4,869 4,433 4,978 -




(1viii)

Aggregate figures for all men and boys employed
in Durham by John Bowes & Fartners,

188,-191%
(25

Unit 1892 1893 189, 1895

m| b m mi{ b m| b
Marley Hill L67( 58 L97. 55 511| é1 495 63
Andrews House 159| 12 163| 19 161| 20 164 15
Byermoor 269| 30 266| 29 266 31 261] 30
Burnopfield 286| 3 283 27 2811 30 2741 23
Dipton (1) 256 19 251 23 226| 19 13| -
Pontop 2811 27 256 27 2591 29 273F 27
Kibblesworth 283 27 274 24 281| 19 282 17
Springwell 633 66 608| 73 680 76 645 73
Wardley 726 | 63 548| 54 708| 56 689| 77
Usworth 818 | 64 871} 62 1,011| 66 1,081] 64
Felling 662 57 613| 52 4631 L2 4921 34
Dunston L67 | 48 L8| y2 L11| 27 381| 18
Pontop & Jarrow Rly] 160| - 160 - 60| - 160| -
TOTALS 5,467 [502 | 5,211 (484 | 5,418{476 4,912 (1

N.B. 7The figures for the Pontop & Jarrow Railway are approximate.

(1) Closed temporarily in 1894.



(1ix)

Aggregate figures for all men and boys employed

in Durham by Jonn Bowes & Partners,

1884~1914
(3)

Unit 1896 1897 1898 1899 1900

m[ b m| © m| b m!|!b m!| b
Marley Hill 544 51 535| 48 527| 53 545 40 526| 38
Andrews House 1721 15 171} 18 168 1 1551 16 159| 13
Byermoor 287| 25 281 33 301| 33 295) 38 284 35
Burnopfield 299| 18 281} 18 303] 26 3201 29 292| 31
Dipton 12 - 10f - 10| - 10 - 236| 11
Pontop 320| 27 330| 23 335 27 3381 30 291 27
Kibblesworth 2771 21 278 20 271 22 2891 24 286| 27
Springwell 673 80 706{ 79 7411 78 756 | 81 a50| 88
Wardley 675! 6L 675| 63 6831 72 691 | 66 672| 72
Usworth 1,138 48
Felling 530] 46 514 4O 5461 39 689 | 53 803| 48
Dunston L26| 25 622 48 5871 50
Pontop & Jarrow Rly 165| - 165| - 165 = 165 - 1651 -
TOTALS 5,398 (427 4,588 (390 Ly634 1411 | 4,235 377 4,665(390
SUM TOTAL 5,825 4,978 5,045 4,612 5,055

N.B.

The figures for the Pontop & Jarrow Railway are approximate.




(1x)

Aggregate figures for all men and boys employed by

John Bowes & Partners,

188,-191L
A

Unit 1901 1902 1903 1904 1905

mib m | b m b m b mi|bv
Marley Hill 551l 37 5731 37 603! 39 595 32 616| 38
Andrews House 1591 11 168 9 162 7 165 11 190| &4
Byermoor 313| 32 331} 26 3491 23 363 24 366 28
Burnopfield 301 36 318 27 3281 22 311] 18 302( 23
Dipton 236| 22 2781 15 269! 18 270! 1z 210| 7
Pontop 306( 22 312! 27 300| 30 307! 25 317 | 23
Kibblesworth 285} 30 28, | 27 299 | 28 304 17 298| 23
Springwell 838 66 879 | 64 905 | 65 882 74 876 78
Vale Pit 134] 15 182 | 17 209 | 14 213| 23 225 26
Wardley 6781 61 668 | 58 710 41 665 48 688 | 53
Felling 799 79 844, | 56 900 | 81 886| 82 575| 94
Pontop # Jarrow Rly 170| - 170 | - 170| - 170| - 170| -
TOTALS L, 768 (410 5,007 361 5,20L4 |365 5,131[369 5,0331397 {.
SUM TOTAL 5,178 5,368 5,569 5,500 5,430

N.B. The figures for the Pontor & Jarrow Railway are approximate.




(1xi)

Aggregate figures for all men and boys emloyed by

John Powes & Partners,

188%;1914

Unit 1906 |; 1907 1908 1909 1910
m | b m | b m| b mi{ b mijb
Marley Hill 648 32 663| 34 768| 40 881{ 65 913{ 70
Andrews House 196 12 213| 15 2238 12 220! 32 234 27
Byermoor 376| 27 403 28 392| 32 450| 27 435 34
Burnopfield 298| 22 29| 18 295 20 31y 22 322| 13
Dipton 178| 10 161! 14 168 7 191} 1 219| 11
Pontop 3271 27 221§ 25 368( 30 424 13 483| 3.4
Kibblesworth 295 28 310| 23 315] 24 316| 30 326| 27
Springwell 906 76 90| 70 328| 63 9391 52 986| 74
Vale Pit 2301 23 319| 25 329| 33 352| 26 38| 49
Wardley 694 | 52 689 48 718| 36 723| 20 731| 38
Felling 839 85 933| 91 981|105 876| 64 903| 80
Follonsby (sinking) 2L - 3| - 64| - 59| -
Pontop & Jarrow Rly 175 - 175 - 175 - 175 - 175 -
TOTALS 5,222 400 | 5,4331392 | 5,733|402 | 5,925|361 | 6,180|457
SUM TOTAL 5,622 5,825 6,135 6,286 6,637

N.B. The figures for the Pontop & Jarrow Railway are approximate.




(1xii)

Aggregate figures for all men and boys employed by
John Bowes & Partners,

1884-191),
(&)

Unit 1911 1312 1913 1914

m| b m| b m| b m| b
Marley Hill 967| 69 9750 74 | 1,082| 5.4 853 73
Andrews House 24| 28 251 21 253| 11 187| 11
Byermoor Lan| 27 L1L4| 35 418} 31 3881 30
Burnopfield 325| 13 321| 17 393| 24 350| 22
Dipton 218| 11 278| 14 L05| 33 LO3| 48
Pontop 458 30 Ll 2% 456| 22 i) 21
Kibblesworth 329 26 343 27 391 33 L95| L6
Springwell 1,026} 55 1,051} 56 1,104 76 96| 61
Vale Pit 1) 47 L4231 43 L36| 40 326| 37
Wardley 72uf 38
Follonsby 470 - 200/ 10 432 32 474 | 57
Felling 948! 99 %7 71 987| 92 655| 72°
Pontop & Jarrow Rlﬂ 175| -~ 175| - 175 - 175| -
TOTALS 6,296 443 | 5,852|389 | 6,478|448 | 5,693 (478
SUM TOTAL 6,739 6,241 6,926 6,171

N.B. The {igures for the Pontop & Jarrow Railway are approximate.
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Bibliography

(a) MSS sources
(1) County Record Office, County Hall, Durham.

Durham Coal Owners Association, Statistical Returns

These take the form of questionnaires sent to and received from members
of the Association, and subsequently bound in volurmes. Usually a reply is
received from all members; occasionally from only a sample. Mumbers given '

below refer to wolume numbers., Some volumes are missing,

Year Coal output Coke output Men and boys eémploye
1871 18 no return made no return mede
1872 19 19 " '
1873 51 51 "

187L 73 73 - "

1875 89 89 "

1876 missing missing "

1877 115 115 "

1878 127 # 127 # "

1879 156 * "

1880 220 » "

1881 245 = "

1882 246 x "

1883 247 x 251,
1884 258 . 257 260

1885 270 271 272

1886 284 missing missing
1887 288 290 287

1888 missing ) missing
1889 missing ) 290B missing
1890 missing ) missing

# The Partners' return is missing from this volume.

% No returns were asked for between 1879 and 1383, but the output for
1880 is quoted in Vol. 3614,



1891 missing ) missing
1892 ) ) 3584
1893 ) 257 ) 359 )

1892 ) ° ) ) 358
1895 ) ) )
1896 397 407 402
1597 398 408 403
1898 399 409 LO4
1899 400 410 405
1900 401 A1 506
1901 L53 443 41
1902 482 181 482
1903 501 503 501
1504 526 528 526
1505 540 539 540
1906 555 559 555
1507 577 580 577
1908 586 587 586
1909 595 598 595
1910 612 614 612
1911 627 626 627
1912 651 650 651
1913 673 672 €73
1914 685 68) 685
Qther miscellaneous returns consulted
Vol. No. Title Date of return

22 Men and boys' hours 3/1873
55 Cottages connected with collieries 3/1874

66 ) E ¥ages paid to bricklayers and other workmen

) at collieries, guarries, coke ovens and

67 ) ( railways 11/1874

74 Applications for work at collieries 2/1875
82 ) ( Number of men discharged during last three

83 ) ( months, number of men under notice, ete 12/1875
105 Number of men in Miners and Deputies' Union 1/1877
13L4 Pits idle or 1l2id in through depression of

trade since January 1875 ' 5/1873



157

248
257
271

296

297
300

303
321

325

327
332
333

342

361

361A

377
388

39

429

Cokemen's wages and prices, weight of loads,
price per set and other particulars

Number of hewers using safety lamps
Coke = number and size of ovens
Coke - number and size of ovens

Cokemen, number of ovens, coal put in, light
and heavy loads, prices and days worked

Coke ovens drawvn per man per day
Coal drawing hours
Hours before Meynell's Award of 1830

Coal - guantity used for coke, gas, steam
and household

Number of workmen discharged through want of
trade

Mumber of pits still idle
Coal so0ld during July and August 1892 and 1893

Coal sold during August and Seotember 1532
and 1893

Coal sold inland, for bunkers, export
Humbsr of coke ovens in operation

Coke ovens in operation: number of days pit
worked

Cost of converting coal into coke in 1880,
1887 and 1894

Coal shipped in the Tyne, 1897

Number of boys under 14 employed in Durham
and Northumberland

Houses, rent and coal supplied to men at
brickworks

Coal and coke exported foreign during 1900

1/1880
12/1882
1/1885
1/1886

11/1889
12/1889

1/1890
'8/1890

5/1892

2/1893
3/1893
9/1893

10/1893
1/1835
7/1895

9/1895
3/1898

3/1900

8/1900

/1901



603

610

615

616
623

676
680

132

The following returns deal with the General Strike of 1892

316
317
318
319
322

| 329A

Boys ~ number amployed before fam and after
9pm urder 14

Colliery schools - replies regarding transfer
to County Council

Cokemen on gullet ovens

Coal cutting machines - weges, duties and
hours of machinemen

Stoppages czused by system of working adopted
under Eight Hours Act

Bight Hours Act - number of persons employed
in each shift

Details of shifts under Eight Hours Act

Coal-drawing hours and number of men in each
shift

Night shift working in various districts

Coal Mines Bill, 1911 - cost of providing
separate travelling roads

Bye-product ovens - 3unday work

Houses and wages of persons employed at
washeries and crusheries

Possible re-insgstatement of bee-hive ovens

Notices = number given by workmen and owners
Number of men at work

Disturbances and police protection

Humber of men at work, risks to collieries
Dates when work was resumed after strike

Statisties of General Strike, 1892

12/1903

6/1904
L/1906

12/1905
1/1910

3/1910
/1910

2/1911
/1911

4/1911
1/191%

4/1913
12/1916

2/1892
2/1892
3/1892
/1892
6/1892
3/1893



The Durham Coal Owners Association Collection also includes the
volumes of Accountants' Certificates compiled for the Association and
the Durham Miners' Association giving the average selling price of all
types of Durham coal at stated intervals, latierly every three months.
These volumes are : Vol. I, 1871-1900, Vol. II, 1901-1913 and Vol. III,
1914,

Strathmore Collection

This collectlon was acquired by the Record Office in 1965. It
consists of approximately 100 large boxes, none of which have yet been
sorted, listed or catalogued, nor is there any immediate hope of this
being done. It is thus almost impossible to guote references for
material in it.

Amongst the boxes are a number containing the majority of letters
written to John Bowes, with a few of his replies. These boxes are at

present (December 1966) soried as follows:

1833 - 1344 Box 1 (my ovn numbering)
1845 - 1851 Box 2
1852 - 1860 Box 3
1861 - 1372 Box &4
1873 - 1878 Box 5
1882 - 1883 Box 6

No letters for 1879 - 1881 or 1384 - 1885 have yet been found. With
the exception of the first and last boxes, each box is believed to contain
approximately 1,000 letters.

In addition to these boxes, two others have been used, the first
labelled "Cclliery papers", referred to as Box 7, and armother labelled
"Personal correspondence”, or Box 8. This last does not contain any of

John Bowes' letters, but mainly letters between the solicitors of John



Bowes and Iord Strathmore and letters to Lord Strathmore between 1885
and 1887.

The conients of the remaining boxes in the Collection are not
yet known.

(ii) Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle.

The Museum has a fairly large collection of letters written by
John Bowes, mostly to his solicitors at Barnard Castle and his land
agents, though there are a few letiers written by the Dowager Countess
of Strathmore and William Hutt. This Collection has also not been
sorted, catalogued or properly listed, though an incomplete index of
the letters has been made privately by a resident of Barnard Castle.

These letters are also in boxes, as follows

1818 - 1835 Box 1 (my own numbering)
1836 - 1840 Box 2

1841 - 1844 Box 3

1845 - 1849 Box 4

1850 ~ 185) Box 5

1855 - 1860 Box 6

1861 - 1869 Box 7

1871 - 1876 Pox 8

1877 - 1881

1884 - 1885 Box 9

The letters from Lady Strathmore, 1830 - 1850, from William Hutt,
1833 - 1857 and from C. 1lennant, 1836 - 1837, are in Box 10. DNo letters
are extant from Bowes between August 1869 and October 1871, when he was
in England, or for 1882 and 1883,

Copies of the Minuites of the meetings of the Trustees of the Bowes

IMuseum have also been consulted.



(iii) Northumberland Record@ Office, Gosforth.

Horthumberland Coal Owners Association, Statistical Returns

These are similar to the Durham Returns, but the Collection prior

to 1900 is very incomplete, and has not yet been catalogued. The

only known volumes containing coal output figures up to 1900 are:

Year

1873
1896
1897
1898

Vol. Ho,

17
193
195
196

Miscellaneous MSS of the Seaton Burn Coal Co. Ltd.

(v) Printed sources

(i) Publications

ARMSTRONG, W. G., BELL, L.,
TAYIOR, J. & RICHARDSON, D,

ARNOID, R.

ASHWORTH, W.

ATKINSON, F.

BOURN, W.

DAVIDSON, J.F.

DAWSON, J. I.

The Industrial Resources of the District of
the Three Northern Rivers, the Tyne, Wear and
Tees. Newcastle : Reid, 1864.

The Unhappy Countess. london : Constable, 1957,

An Bconomic History of England, 1870-1939,
Iondon : Methuen, 1960,

The Grest Northern Coalfield, 1700-1900,
Barnard Castle: Durham County Local History
Society, 1966,

Whickham Parish : Its History and Antiquities.
Carlisle : publisher not stated, 1893.

From Collier to Battleships : Palmers of
Jarrow, 1852-193%3, Place of publication no%
stated: Durham County Press, 1946.

Reminiscences of a Rascally Lawyer. Kendal:
Wilson, 1949,




DEANE, P. & COLE, ¥. A.

DUNN, M.

DUNN, M.

FAWCETT, J. W.

FORDYCRE, W.

FORDYCE, W.

FORWARD, E. A.

GATIOWAY, R. I.

JONES, G. P, & POOL, A. G.

LATIMER, J.

LEE, C. E.

LEE, C. E.

LEVY, H.

MACDERMOT, E.

MACDERMOT, T. P.

British Economic Growth, 1688-1959,
Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1962,

A Historical, Geological and Descriptive View

of the Coal Trade in the North of England.,
Newcastle: Dunn, 184).

A Treatise on the Winning and Working of
Collieries., Newcastle: Dunn, 1848,

History of Dipton. Newecastle: Reid, 1911,

History of Durhams 2 vols. HNewcastle:
Reid, 1857,

History of Coal & Iron. Iondon: Sampson
Iow & Son, 1860,

"Fhe Stephenson Locomotives at Springwell
Colliery, 1826". Newcomen Society
Transactions, Vol. XXIII, 19.3.

Annals of Coal Mining and the Coal Trade.
London: Colliery Guardian, Vol, I 1898,
Vol, II 1904,

A Hundred Years of Economic Develooment in
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